

STUDIA SPORTIVA VOLUME 17/NUMBER 02/2023

STUDIA SPORTIVA

2023 · Volume · 17 · Number · 2

© Masaryk University, 2024

Editor in Chief: Mgr. Ivan Stuhár, Ph.D.

CONTENTS

$\mathsf{K} \mathrel{\tt I} \mathsf{N} \mathrel{\tt E} \mathrel{\tt S} \mathrel{\tt I} \mathrel{\tt O} \mathrel{\tt L} \mathrel{\tt O} \mathrel{\tt G} \mathrel{\tt Y}$

The Effects of Plyometric Training On the Running Speed in Soccer Marek Kokinda, Tomáš Kozák, Michal Fečík, Ondrej Vilner	7
Nutrition Periodization in Recreational Endurance Athletes During Training Camp – Case Study Michal Kumstát, Tomáš Hlinský	16
The Effect of Suspension Training on Some Factors Related to the Shoulder Injuries in Athletes with Scapular Dyskinesis Mahdi Khakpourfard, Hooman Minoonejad, Amirhosein Barati, Mohammad Kalantariyan	30

SOCIAL SCIENCES

Security Concerns and Conflict Experience of Physically Disabled People In the Czech Republic Jitka Čihounková, Alena Skotáková, Zdenko Reguli	43
The Position of the Warm-Up In School Physical Education Lessons Lucie Grajciarová	53
"Football Did Not Make Me a World Champion, But It Did Help My Wellbeing": A Qualitative Study of Study-Sport Balance Based On Fung Ka Ki <i>Bill Cheuk Long Chan, Billy Lee</i>	67
Sport as Part of a Good Life: Investigating the Debate <i>Lukáš Mareš</i>	83
Home Advantage In the Top Czech Hockey League Natalie Pelloneová	95
Developmental Trend Of Talented Pupils' Performance in Orienteering – Longitudinal Research 1997–2020 in the East Bohemia Region of the Czech Republic Ivan Růžička, Adam Křehký, Petr Scholz, Kamila Růžičková, Jan Suk, Adrián Agricola	109

STUDENT SECTION

The Influence of the HIIT and Aerobic Training Programs on Body Composition	129
Petra Janíčková, Michaela Zhánělová, Eduard Hrazdíra	
Predictive Model of the Risk of Fall Based on Physical Fitness Assessment in Older Adults Andrea Martincová, Lenka Svobodová, Martin Sebera, Marta Gimunová	141
Variables Influencing the Emotional Attachment of Adolescents in Prague Schools to Physical Education Tomáš Polívka, Martin Nosek	151
Examination of Resilience and Self-esteem Levels of Parents of Children with Disability	160
Yasın Unvanlı, Ekrem Levent İlhan, Hana Valkova	

K I N E S I O L O G Y

EDITORS:

Martin Zvonař Tomáš Vespalec Marta Gimunová

The Effects of Plyometric Training On the Running Speed in Soccer

Marek Kokinda¹, Tomáš Kozák¹, Michal Fečík², Ondrej Vilner¹

¹Faculty of Sports, University of Prešov, Prešov, Slovakia ²Musculoskeletal and Sports Medicine Clinic, Pavol Jozef Šafárik University, Košice, Slovakia

ABSTRACT

The plyometric method can be referred to as specific neuromuscular training, which may be used to optimize soccer players' functional status and physical fitness levels. The development of functional strength, which can be repeatedly used under game conditions, is decisive for success in the games themselves. The paper aims to extend knowledge about the effects of plyometric training on running speed among soccer players. Twelve U19 soccer players from the MFK Ružomberok soccer club participated in the experiment. The soccer players performed 10-m, 30-m, and 50-m running tests and an agility T-test. From the viewpoint of determining the efficiency of the plyometric method, the testing also included tests aimed to assess ankle mobility and jump tests with and without countermovement performed with the use of Optogait. The soccer players participated in a 9-week intervention program that included two 30-minute training sessions per week. As regards the effects of plyometric training on running speed, soccer players improved their running speed levels in both acceleration speed and running speed with changes of direction. The results show that these changes are determined by ankle mobility and lower-body explosive power levels..

Keywords: soccer; physical conditioning; running; speed; sports games

INTRODUCTION

Soccer performance requires a diversity of physical attributes and biomotor abilities. In-season training focus is often based on metabolic conditioning activities such as small-sided games, tactical and technical football drills and traditional running drills in order to further develop and maintain aerobic and anaerobic capacity. However, this often comes at the expense of strength training, which may be compromised for additional time on the pitch. Collectively, the literature suggests

that strength and power maintenance can be achieved with one strength session per week for soccer players. However, it is important for strength and conditioning coaches to continue the development of strength and power characteristics during in season (Yu, Altieri, Bird, Corcoran & Jiuxiang, 2021). The incorporation of plyometrics into training is essential, and this principle is often referred to as jump training. Takeoff and especially landing (muscle lengthening), amortization transitional phase and subsequent transition into takeoff play a crucial role in learning and perfecting selected exercises (Baechle & Earle, 2000; Bompa & Buzzichelli, 2021). The primary purpose of this method is to create specific conditions for the fastest possible muscle contraction. These conditions include the toning (pretension) of the muscle, which precedes its own active movement. The pretension can be achieved by jumping from a certain height. In the landing phase, an eccentric contraction is activated, due to which muscle tension accumulates, and at the same time, the stretching reflex of the muscle is activated. From this state, the subsequent isokinetic contraction can occur much faster than without previous toning (Havel & Hnízdil, 2009). From the viewpoint of incorporating it into soccer training, the mechanical principle of the plyometric method appears to determine the transfer to specific game skills. Incorporating this method into the training process also depends on joint health and adequate muscle flexibility levels. From the viewpoint of practical application, the most frequent exercises include drop jumps and landings, horizontal and vertical jumps, thrusting and throwing with emphasis on countermovement (Boyle, 2016; Brewer, 2017). By performing these exercises, players may improve their ability to use the elastic energy of the stretch reflex and more effectively stimulate the nervous factors determining the speed of force production. Player performances can be distinguished according to the playing and the movements that can be considered performance-determining in terms of acceleration and deceleration. Acceleration from standing or running, usually associated with a sudden change of direction, is an extreme load on the player's musculoskeletal system, and without targeted intervention and adaptation to such an overload, players are more susceptible to injuries. Terje Ingebrigtsen, Ettema, Hjelde, & Wisloff (2016) found that accelerations contributed to 7-10% of the total player load for all player positions, whereas decelerations contributed to 5–7%. The mean total distance covered over the period of the whole match by all players independent of positional groups is approximately 11 km (Di Salvo et al., 2007; Bradley, Di Mascio, Peart, Olsen, & Sheldon, 2010). When making this statement, it is necessary to consider a significant variance, which depends on the playing style, the quality of the opponent, the current match score and other determining factors. It is also necessary to consider alternating low-intensity activities, such as walking, with high-intensity running and repeated sprints. Together with these activities, it is needed to focus on the game specifics, while placing emphasis on game skills. Hipp (2014) has found that as the quality level of the competition increases, players cover a greater total distance during the match at high to maximum speeds and perform a higher number of sprints. At the same time, players cover a smaller distance by walking and slow jogging. Eliáš and Ligday (2022) found that the higher the performance level of the players, the higher the demands on their preparation before the match during the warmup. The purpose of a specific warmup should be aimed at increasing neuromuscular activity along with the simulation of game skills and physical conditioning requirements during a soccer game (Eliáš, 2021). Boyle (2016) emphasizes the need to learn the proper landing and takeoff technique while considering the athlete's somatic parameters and stage of physical development. Plyometrics may be defined as jumping exercises that involve a rapid deceleration of body mass followed immediately by the rapid acceleration of that body mass in an opposing direction. As the transition phase should be as fast as possible, athletes should devote more training to landing and jumping acquisition exercises. The application of the stretch-shortening cycle requires a transition (amortization) phase from 150 to 200 milliseconds. A longer transition phase leads to elastic energy loss (Bílý, Cacek, Kalina, & Sunday, 2017).

METHOD

The purpose of the study was to determine the effects of a 9-week plyometric training on running speed and lower-body explosive power among soccer players. The sample consisted of U19 soccer players included 4 defenders, 4 midfielders, 4 attackers and 1 goalkeeper from the MFK Ružomberok soccer club, which is in the 1st league for the U19 age category. Sample characteristics are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Sample characteristics

MEIZ	n	Age (year		BH (cm)		$\mathbf{BW}(kg)$		Muscle mass (kg)		Fat mass (kg)	
MFK Rižomberok –		M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
	12	17.3	0.6	179	6.2	71.1	6.1	36.3	3.2	7.9	1.9

Note. n – sample size; BH – body height; BW – body weight; M – arithmetic mean; SD – standard deviation

Players participated in the experimental study during the fall part of the season between September 2022 and December 2022. The assessment included body composition analysis with the use of InBody 230. We analyzed body composition using the direct segmental multi-frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis. The parameters measured and assessed included body weight (BW), 2. body fat mass (BFM), 3. skeletal muscle mass (SMM). Players performed physical fitness tests that assessed: 1. ankle mobility (dorsiflexion against a wall), 2. lower-body explosive power using the Optogait device. The Optogait tests included the countermovement jump (CMJ), squat jump (SJ), and 10-second vertical jump test requiring plantar flexion. The parameters recorded during the jump tests included the ground contact time (GCT), flight time (FT), jump height (JH) and jump power (P), 3. running speed tested by 10-m, 30-m, and 50-m dash and agility T-test, which included running forward, rearward, and sideward. The players covered a running distance of 9.14 m (distance between the start line and first cone when sprinting forwards) and 4.57 m (distance between the middle cone and lateral cones when shuffling to the left or right). The Witty Kit 4 photocells were used to measure time.

The intervention program consisted of three parts: 1. 3-week mesocycle consisting of preparatory and landing exercises, 2. 3-week mesocycle consisting of follow-up jump exercises, 3. 3-week mesocycle consisting of combined landing and jump exercises with accessory unilateral and rotational movements. The intervention program scheme is displayed in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Intervention program

RESULTS

Correlation analysis was applied for the used test items to identify factors that probably have an influence on running speed. Table 2 shows the degrees of relationships between the variables that comprised the content of the test battery. Only statistically significant correlations at p < 0.05 are presented. Test battery variables can be divided into three groups with emphasis to ankle mobility, lower-body explosive power, and running speed.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	9	10	11
1. Left ankle mobility (cm)	1.00									
2. Right ankle mobility (cm)	.88	1.00								
3. Squat jump (cm)			1.00							
4. CMJ (<i>cm</i>)			.81	1.00						
5. 10-m dash (s)				66	1.00					
6. 30-m dash (s)					.71	1.00				
7. 50-m dash (s)				63		.88	1.00			
9. VJ 10 second (Contact time)		.63					.65	1.00		
10. VJ 10 second (Flight time)									1.00	
11. VJ 10 second (Jump height)									.99	1.00
12. VJ 10 second Power (<i>W</i>)							73	80	.65	.70

Table 2. Correlation coefficients

Note. CMJ - countermovement jump; VJ - vertical jump; s - seconds; W - watts

A very strong relationship between the left and right ankle mobility, or repeated jumps, squat jump and countermovement jump, or 30 and 50 meters running speed is logically expected. On the other hand, ankle mobility seems to contribute to take off and running speed optimization. There was a relationship between the time interval for fast takeoffs during the repeated vertical jumps relying on plantar flexion and right ankle mobility and 50-meter running speed. Fast repeated takeoffs also determine the 50-meter dash performance. As for the acceleration during the 10-meter dash, its relationship with the countermovement jump may be considered a factor underlying the gradual acceleration up to 50 meters. The 50-meter distance may be viewed as borderline, which the players are able to cover during the game. On the other hand, correlational analysis has not shown any relationships between the agility T-test and other presented variables. The test scores achieved by the players at the pretest and posttest have shown statistically significant improvements (p < .05) in running speed tests (figure 2). Players most significantly improved in the agility T-test with changes of direction, as confirmed by the median decrease by 0.45 s. The speed of repeated takeoffs with the shortest ground contact time (GCT) possible should be one of the basic factors underlying the acquisition of plyometric movements. The results showed that the intervention program had an effect on this factor because there were significant changes in the GCT. Even though the ground contact time decreased only by 0.01 s, and the GCT median at the pretest was 0.18 s, it is highly demanding to optimize such a time interval. On the other hand, the graph in Figure 2 shows the jump height. When comparing pretest and posttest measurements after the end of the intervention, we see a decrease in the squat jump by 1.9 cm and in the countermovement test by 1.45 cm.



Note. SJ – squat jump; CMJ – countermovement jump; VJ – vertical jump; CT- contact time; FT – flight time; JH – jump height; P – power; W – watts; cm – centimeters; s – seconds; m – meters.

Figure 2. Comparison of pretest and posttest in experimental group

The results showed that the acceleration of the ground contact time reduced the jump height. In more extensive research, it will be necessary to find out whether it is possible to eliminate the decreasing level of jump height by strength training. The present study points to that the intervention program is designed to drill and improve plyometric movements divided into 3 phases (build-up, development and transfer) which are a determining factor in relation to periodization of training process. In the preparation of soccer players, it is important to apply resistance training, which in combination with plyometric exercises can be classified as contrasting methods of developing strength ability.

DISCUSSION

In soccer players, a positive correlation is reported between strength, power and acceleration. Multijoint dynamic tests of strength (squat 1RM and power clean 1RM), expressed relative to body mass, are most closely correlated with countermovement jump performance. These results suggest that increasing maximal strength relative to body mass can improve performance in explosive lower body movements. The squat and power clean, used in a concurrent strength and power training program, are recommended for optimizing lower body power (Nuzzo, McBride, Cormie, & McCaulley, 2008). A performance attribute for players is to perform sprints repeatedly, therefore it is important to optimize the content of strength training during the season. Through plyometric training, it is possible to develop high forces and maintain high levels of stiffness in muscles. Higher stiffness levels of lower limb muscles during plyometric exercises increase the amount of stored and reused elastic energy. According to Turner and Jeffreys (2010), the primary

and key places of storage and subsequent release of elastic energy are tendons. While the stiffness of a tendon is constant, the stiffness of a muscle is variable and depends on the forces exerted. The relevance of plyometric training is determined by two basic requirements, i.e. eccentric strength development necessary to tolerate high demands during fast movement deceleration and accumulation of potential elastic energy with the intention of reactive strength improvement as a faster response to the stretch during the muscle shortening phase (Vanderka, 2006). It can be concluded that during the season, it is necessary to include strength resistance exercises in addition to plyometric training, with which we can eliminate the decrease in the performance of the explosive power of the lower limbs, with emphasis on squat jump and countermovement jump. According to Caprić et al. (2022), the intervention duration, which plays a key role, should last 2 to 4 weeks. The optimal intervention duration is 6 weeks two to three times per week. An intervention longer than 10 weeks is suitable for improving agility and specific fitness among soccer players. The best results are achieved when plyometric exercises with weights equaling 20% to 30% of the one-repetition maximum are used (Grasgruber & Cacek, 2008). The amount of weight depends on athletes' physical fitness levels. The increasing weight causes longer contact time while exerting a significant load on joints and tendons. Also, plyometric training is to be combined with strength exercises with weights equaling 90% of the one-repetition maximum. Studies have shown that this type of strength exercise is enough to include in a training microcycle once a week during the season. Boyle (2016) has found that the optimum number of jumps during a training session varies from 25 to 100 performed two to four times a week. When performed four times a week, it is necessary to distinguish between linear and multidirectional jumping exercises. The usability of plyometric exercises in soccer training is important from the viewpoint of movement stereotypes optimization in relation to the functional status of the musculoskeletal system. According to Shamshuddin, Hasan, Azli, Mohamed, and Razak (2020), an intervention consisting of plyometric training significantly prevents injury among soccer players. This may be optimized through blood flow restriction training, which improves the rate of strength gains with positive effects on explosive power development (Cook, Kilduff, & Beaven, 2014). Also previous research of authors Abe et al. (2005) point to improvements in acceleration and sprinting characteristics due to blood flow restriction training in team sport athletes. Another option is the application of contrast strength training to the process of football players. According to Hammami, Gaamouri, Shephard, and Chelly (2019), in summary, most athletic performance measures in male soccer players were enhanced after contrast strength training and plyometric training. However, the improvement of physical performance was better with 8 weeks of contrast strength training than with plyometric training. Storen, Helgerud, Stoa, and Hoff (2008) established that maximal strength training has a positive effect on running economy as well as maintaining maximal oxygen uptake (VO2max). The results demonstrated that well-trained athletes significantly improved their one repetition maximum by 33.2%, rate of force development by 26.0%, running economy by 5.0%, and time to exhaustion at maximal aerobic speed 21.3%, following eight weeks of strength training.

CONCLUSION

Incorporating intervention program into training has to meet the criteria based on the schedule and specific requirements of the in-season. As the plyometric method aims to improve the relationship between maximum and explosive power, it is necessary to incorporate these interventions during the winter pre-season period after the strength training period, followed by transfer to fast and explosive movements. The transitional - amortization phase of the movement seems to have a decisive effect on the running speed determined by ankle mobility. Following the intervention, players showed significantly improved levels of running speed in all tests. The results highlight the importance of the transition phase during fast takeoff movements, which was a determining factor during the intervention program. At this age, the development of lower-body explosive power relies heavily on the maximum strength potential, which may be enhanced by targeted intervention during the pre-season. In practice, this development need not be based on demanding exercises with emphasis on resistance training approaching 90% of the repetition maximum. Blood flow restriction training is one of the alternatives that significantly save a player's musculoskeletal system during resistance training with 20 to 40% of the repetition maximum. Strength training is part of in-season soccer training. Its methodological sophistication determines the importance of transfer to specific running activities and is an important factor in injury prevention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was funded by the Scientific Grant Agency of the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic (VEGA, No. 1/0544/23).

REFERENCES

Abe, K., Kawamoto, K., Yasuda, C., Kearns, C., Midorikawa, T., & Sato, Y. (2005). Eight days KAATSU-resistance training improved sprint but not jump performance in collegiate male track and field athletes. *International Journal of Kaatsu Training Research* 1(1), 19–23. doi: 10.3806/ijktr.1.19

Baechle, T. R., & Earle, W. R. (2000). *Essentials of Strength Training and Conditioning*. National Strength & Conditioning Association.

Bílý, J., Cacek, J., Kalina, T., & Sunday, A. A. (2017). Vliv plyometrického tréninku (depth jump) na běžeckou a cyklistickou ekonomiku pohybu. *Studia sportiva*. *11*(1), 8–15.

Bompa, T. O., & Buzzichelli, C. A. (2021). Periodization of Strength Training for Sports. Human Kinetics.

Boyle, M. (2016). New Functional Training for Sports (2nd ed.). Human Kinetics.

Bradley, P. S., Di Mascio, M., Peart, D., Olsen, P., Sheldon, B. (2010). High-intensity activity profiles of elite soccer players at different performance levels. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, *24*(9), 2343–2351. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181aeb1b3

Brewer, C. (2017). Athletic Movement Skills: Training for Sports Performance. Human Kinetics.

Čaprić, I., Stanković, M., Manić, M., Preljević, A., Špirtović, O., Đorđević, D., . . . Trajković, N. (2022). Effects of plyometric training on agility in male soccer players a systematic review. *Journal of Men's. Health*, *18*(7), 147. doi: https://doi.org/10.31083/j.jomh1807147

Cook C. J., Kilduff, L. P., & Beaven, C. M. (2014). Improving strength and power in trained athletes with 3 weeks of occlusion training. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 9(1), 166–172. doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1123/IJSPP.2013-0018

Di Salvo, V., Baron, R., Tschan, H., Calderon Montero, F. J., Bachl, N., & Pigozzi, F. (2007). Performance characteristics according to playing position in elite soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 28(3), 222–227. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-924294

Eliáš, T. (2021). Príklady herného rozcvičenia vo futbale. Športový edukátor. 14(2), 8-13.

Eliáš, T., Ligday, M. (2022). Rozvoj aeróbnej vytrvalosti v tréningu futbalistov. Športový edukátor. 15(2), 6–10. Grasgruber, P., & Cacek, J. (2008). Sportovní gény. Computer press.

Hammami, M., Gaamouri, N., Shephard, J. R., Chelly, S. M. (2019). Effects of contrast strength vs. plyometric training on lower-limb explosive performance, ability to change direction and neuromuscular adaptation in soccer players. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, *33*(8), 2094–2103. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000002425

Havel, Z., & Hnízdil, J. (2009). Rozvoj a diagnostika silových schopností. Univerzita J.E. Purkyně v Ústí nad Labem. Hipp, M. (2014). Futbal. Rozvoj vybraných pohybových schopností, diagnostika a strečing v družstve vrcholového futbalu. Mladé letá.

Kokinda, M., & Turek, M. (2013). Hodnotenie intenzity a objemu herného zaťaženia vo futbale. In *Acta Facultatis exercitationis corporis universitatis Presoviensis*. No. 1 (70–75). Prešov: Prešovská univerzita v Prešove.

Lee, Ch., Lee, S., & Yoo, J. (2014). The Effect of a Complex Training Program on Skating Abilities in Ice Hockey Players. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, *26*(4), 533–537. doi: 10.1589/jpts.26.533

Nuzzo, J. L., McBride, J. M., Cormie, P., & McCaulley, G. O. (2008). Relationship between countermovement jump performance and multijoint isometric and dynamic tests of strength. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 22(3), 699-707. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e31816d5eda

Shamshuddin, H. M., Hasan, H., Azli, S. M., Mohamed, N. M., & Razak, A. A. F. (2020). Effects of Plyometric Training on Speed and Agility among Recreational Football Players. *International Journal of Human Movement and Sports Sciences*, 8(5), 174–180. doi: 10.13189/saj.2020.080503

Storen, O., Helgerud, J., Stoa, E. M., & Hoff, J. (2008). Maximal strength training improves running economy in distance runners. *Medicine & Science in Sports and Exercise* 40 (6): 1087-1092. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318168da2f

Terje, D., Ingebrigtsen, J., Ettema, G., Hjelde, H. G., & Wisløff, U. (2016). Player Load, Acceleration, and Deceleration During Forty-Five Competitive Matches of Elite Soccer. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, *30*(2), 351–359. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000001063

Turner, N. A., & Jeffreyes, I. (2010). The Stretch-Shortening Cycle: Proposed Mechanisms and Methods for Enhancement. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 32(4), 87–99. doi: 10.1519/SSC.0b013e3181e928f9

Vanderka, M. (2006). Teoretické východiská a možnosti využitia plyometrie v kondičnej príprave športovcov. In *Atletika* (196–206). Bratislava: ICM Agency,

Yu, L., Altieri, C., Bird, P. S., Corcoran, G., & Jiuxiang, G. (2021). The Importance of In-Season Strength and Power Training in Football Athletes: A Brief Reviewand Recommendations. *International Journal of Strength and Conditioning*, 1(1), 1-8. doi: https://doi.org/10.47206/ijsc.vi0.23

Contact Information:

Mgr. Marek Kokinda, PhD. marek.kokinda@unipo.sk

Nutrition Periodization in Recreational Endurance Athletes During Training Camp – Case Study

Michal Kumstát, Tomáš Hlinský

Masaryk University Brno, Faculty of Sport Studies, Brno, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Both training and dietary practices used by athletes greatly vary. Current sports nutrition guidelines promote dietary manipulation of energy-yielding nutrients specific to the period of training. The study explores the ad libitum nutrition practices of four healthy adult recreational athletes during a 2-week cycling training camp (~100 km·d⁻¹, ~240 min·d⁻¹) with particular attention to the current sports nutrition recommendations. Based on evidence-based guidelines, peri-exercise carbohydrate (CHO) and protein (PRO) intake periodization cutoff levels were set for athletes. Training days were categorized as hard (HARD, two training units/day), middle (MID, one training unit/day), and easy (LOW, no training). Fourteen-day diet records were used and analyzed by nutritional software for energy intake (EI), carbohydrate (CHO), and protein (PRO) intake. The 2-week mean daily energy intake (EI) was 1.3× higher than the predicted total daily energy expenditure, irrespective of the training day category, resulting in ~500 kcal·d⁻¹ energy surplus. Daily EI intakes exceeds total daily energy expenditure in male participants during all training days, but not in female (modest negative energy balance in HARD and MID days), in contrast to female athlete Sufficient daily CHO (> 6 g·kg) were met by all participants independent of the training day. In the 2h post-exercise period, PRO intake exceeded the current recommendations 4.6-fold, and CHO intake was significantly lower after a second training session on HARD days (0.7 g·kg·h⁻¹) than a recommendation (1.2 g·kg·h⁻¹). Mean in-exercise CHO intake (~11.5 g·h⁻¹) was significantly under the moderate 30 g·h⁻¹ recommendation. In conclusion, recreational athletes' dietary behaviours are inconsistent with current sports nutrition periodization guidelines. Gender differences were observed in maintaining high exercise-based energy demands by proper nutrition, especially during training days. Daily or during and post-exercise CHO and PRO intakes were not adjusted to the training sessions' volume, intensity, or duration. **Keywords:** nutrient timing; nutritional strategy; energy intake; carbohydrates

INTRODUCTION

Athletes preparing for the main part of the training season frequently undertake training camps with high volumes of endurance training to improve performance. Consequently, energy intake monitoring should be prioritized to avoid low energy availability (LEA). Each acute training session should be periodized to reach the desired adaptation or performance during the training camp within the training program. Periodized nutrition manipulation with macronutrient availability allows the coordinated inclusion of sports nutrition for a given training phase into an athlete's program (Mujika, Halson, Burke, Balagué & Farrow, 2018).

New findings of recent years show the benefits of commencing of a training session with intentionally reduced endogenous and exogenous CHO availability to promote muscle adaptation (Burke, 2010). In line with matching the fuel availability with actual muscle needs, the area of sports nutrition periodization can be extended and scientifically defined (Burke et al., 2018).

The attempts of intentional manipulation with CHO availability in elite athletes with regular, systematic endurance training to promote adaptation in coordinance with the novel findings were described elsewhere (Heikura, Burke, Mero, Uusitalo & Stellingwerff, 2017; Marquet et al., 2016; Heikura, Stellingwerff, Mero, Uusitalo & Burke, 2017; Gejl et al., 2017). Practical models of CHO periodization are likely to be highly individualized according to the training structure as well as the athlete's specific training goals (Impey et al., 2018). The variable volume and intensity of cycling training create nutritional challenges regarding athletes' energy availability status and macronutrient intake (Burke, 2001; Drenowatz, Eisenmann, Carlson, Pfeiffer & Pivarnik, 2012).

Current dietary guidelines acknowledge differences in the nutrient requirements and goals for different sessions or phases of training. Recommendations targeted especially on total energy and fuel availability as well as on sufficient energy availability in accordance with carbohydrate (CHO) and protein (PRO) intake in the proximity to exercise (Thomas, Erdman, & Burke, 2016). Current understanding, however, perceives manipulation of carbohydrate availability as the primary means of periodizing sports nutrition (Stellingwerff, Morton & Burke, 2019in support of training periodization there has been an emergence around the concept of nutritional periodization. Within athletics (track and field; Impey et al., 2018; Burke et al., 2018).

Therefore, the periodization of sports nutrition is a strictly planned process in which the primary task of sports nutrition is to support the athlete's training outcomes (Jeukendrup, 2017). Each athlete must adapt to an individual nutrition plan that suits their performance or recovery needs. It was shown that the sub-elite athletes tend to reduced CHO intakes even as training loads increase, contrary to evidence-based guidelines (Kopetschny, Rowlands, Popovich & Thomson, 2018). To what extent sub-elite, recreational athletes are familiar with and follow the current sport nutrition guidelines focusing on meso- (e.g. within training camp), and micro- (within training day) macronutrient and energy periodization is less known, in contrast to the practices of elite-level athletes (Heikura, Stellingwerff & Burke, 2018).

Therefore, the study aims to explore the nutrition practices of recreational athletes during 14days cycling training camp with attention to the periodization of Sports nutrition evidence-based guidelines.

METHODS

Subject characteristics

The characteristics of the participants are outlined in Table 1. All athletes perform regular cycling training (5-8000 km per year) with the purpose to compete and all may be classified as trained/ developmental category according to McKay et al. (2022). Each athlete undertook a 14-days training camp in Tuscany, Italy in 2019. Each athlete approved and provided written permission for this publication.

Athlete (gender)	Age (y)	Body weight (kg)	BMI (kg⋅m ⁻²)	VO _{2max} (ml·kg·min)	Body fat (%)	Heart rate _{rest} (bpm)
1 (M)	29	76.1	23.5	61.4	11.7	50
2 (M)	53	76.3	22.8	68.2	14.0	40
3 (M)	21	65.3	20.2	69.0	8.8	49
4 (F)	27	69.9	22.6	60.0	13.3	42

Table 1. Subject characteristics

Note. Body composition measured via bioelectric impedance analysis

Training assessment

All participants kept detailed training logs, including information on duration and volume (min and km) and intensity (HR). The intensity for each session was monitored via Garmin sports watch with a chest belt. The number of training units per day was chosen as a criterion for differentiating the variability in training load as this corresponds with a significant difference in the duration of the training sessions (p=0.009). As such we categorize the training days as hard (HARD, two training units/day), middle (MID, one training unit/day) and easy (LOW, no training) training days.

Heart rate reserve (HRR) calculated for each particular training session revealed that all training sessions were of the same relative intensity, as confirmed by the non-significant difference when adjusted for HARD (26 training units, ~ 52-65 % HRR) and MID (18 training units, ~55–66 % HRR) training days. (Table 2).

A total of 26 and 18 training days with HARD and MID training volume were analyzed for nutritional habits (Table 5). There were three days without training (LOW) for each athlete. The training consisted only of road or bike cycling sessions.

	Training day	Training						
Athlete	category (n)	Intensity (% HRR)	Distance (km)	Duration (min)	EE _{exercise} (kcal·kg·min ⁻¹)			
1	HARD (7)	65.0±6.3	110.6±14.7	270.4±38.5	0.12±0.01			
1 –	MID (4)	66.1±11.2	98.7±13.2	214.0±31.5	0.12±0.024			
2	HARD (8)	56.1±7.0	115.8±13.1	292.6±24.8	0.08±0.01			
2 =	MID (3)	55.9±4.9	101.0±15.1	227.0±44.5	0.06±0.007			
2	HARD (4)	52.4±6.8	82.5±8.7	265.3±36.4	0.09±0.004			
3 –	MID (7)	56.7±5.1	79.4±30.2	211.7±43.0	0.10±0.009			
4 —	HARD (7)	61.1±3.5	92.4±19.4	242.0±32.7	0.14±0.008			
	MID (4)	58.5±2.3	107.6±7.5	234.3±23.6	0.13±0.012			

Table 2. Training characteristics during the cycling camp (data expressed as Mean±SD)

Nutritional analyses

Fourteen-day diet records were used to assess food intake. The food of the cyclists was either chosen by the riders themselves or was prepared by a dietitian. Professional dietitians prepared the main meals served before and after the training sessions (correspond to breakfast, lunch, dinner, and second dinner). Meals were served collectively in a dining room, but individuals followed intake ad libitum without control. The known weight (from labels) of food used to prepare meals by dietitian was either recorded or was directly weight using digital kitchen scales (Sencor SKS 5020WH; Accuracy 1 g). The researchers educated each participant on how to record the food intake and participants were given a printed record sheet with a predefined set of grammage of food weight possibilities (e.g. spoon, plate, package, portion). A total of 56 whole-day food records were analyzed for energy intake (EI) and macronutrient composition using online dietary software *kaloricketabulky.cz*. Nutrition information not listed in the software database gathered from the packaging and dietary supplement labels were entered manually into the software program.

INDIVIDUALIZED ENERGY, CHO AND PRO INTAKE DURING TRAINING CAMP

Energy balance

Basal metabolic rate (BMR) was predicted using a Cunningham formula (Cunningham, 1980) Data from heart rate monitors (GARMIN Edge 830) were used to determine the exercise energy expenditure ($\text{EE}_{\text{exercise}}$). The total daily energy expenditure (TDEE) (kcal·kg-1), was then predicted from the BMR and physical activity level (PAL) multiples. The formula TDEE = BMR × PAL was used for LOW days, and PAL was set as 1,4. For MID and HARD training days TDEE = (BMR × PAL) + EE_{exercise} was used with PAL set as 1,5 (Rodriguez, Di Marco & Langley, 2009; Thomas et al., 2016). Energy availability (EA) was calculated individually for each training day (MID and HARD) from heart-rate based EE_{exercise}, EI (14-day diet records) and bioelectric-impedance analysis based fat-free mass (IN Body 230) (Loucks, Kiens & Wright, 2011).

Nutrient intake periodization

To assess adherence to the sports nutrition guidelines, we set numeric cut off levels of CHO and PRO intake in the proximity of exercise to objectively determine the relevance of the nutrient intake

within the given training load. The rationale for setting the nutrients and energy is introduced in Table 3. The particular cut-off levels match current evidence-based pre-exercise, during and post-exercise nutrient intake guidelines that optimise performance and recovery (Kerksick et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2016).

HARD (2 tra	aining sessions/o	MID (1 training session/day)				
Periodization	СНО	PRO	Periodization	СНО	PRO	
2 h Pre-Ex I	2 g·kg ⁻¹		2 h Pre-Ex	2 g·kg ⁻¹	-	
Dur-Ex I	30 g·h ⁻¹	-	Dur-Ex	30 g⋅h ⁻¹	-	
Between-Ex I-II	1.5 g·kg·h ⁻¹	0.3 g·kg ⁻¹	3 h Post-Ex	1.2 g·kg ⁻¹	0.3 g·kg ⁻¹	
Dur-Ex II	30 g·h ⁻¹	-				
3 h Post-Ex II	1.2 g·kg·h ⁻¹	0.3 g·kg ⁻¹		-		

Table 3. Nutrient intake periodization cut-off levels during HARD and MID training days

Note. ¹in HARD days (two training sessions, morning session = Ex I and afternoon session = Ex II) the period between Ex I and Ex II training session represents $\pm 2 h$ period.

Statistical analysis

All data were managed in the Excell software. Statistical analyses were conducted using software Statistica (StatSoft CR s.r.o., Czech Republic). To show absolute athlete-specific nutritional data and along with the heterogeneity of the sample, descriptive statistics were used with data presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD). To compare the group data, Pre- and Post-Ex CHO and PRO intakes for all athletes, daily energy balance data (e.g. energy intake, energy expenditure, energy availability, CHO, and PRO intakes) were presented relative to the body weight (e.g. g·kg⁻¹, g·kg·h⁻¹, kcal·kg·min⁻¹). A coefficient of variance (CV) was used to assess inter-variable changes.

RESULTS

The relative daily CHO and PRO intakes interindividualy differ. However, mean relative daily energy, CHO, and PRO intakes were not different between the HARD, MID and LOW training days (Tab. 4). Mean CV_{energy} in HARD and MID days was 12,2 % and 17,8 %, respectively.

	Training day				
Athlete	category (n) ¹	CHO (g·kg·d ⁻¹)	PRO (g·kg·d ⁻¹)	EI (kcal·kg·d ⁻¹)	CV _{energy} (%)
	HARD (7)	9.8±2.5	3.7±0.9	88.5±15.4	17.4
1	MID (4)	10.2±2.5	3.7±0.2	90.4±16.8	18.6
	LOW (3)	9.8±3.3	3.7±1	87.1±22.7	26.1
	HARD (8)	9.4±1.2	3.2±0.4	84.4±8.1	10.8
2	MID (3)	7.1±1.8	3.0±0.3	69.8±13.1	23.1
	LOW (3)	7.7±2.4	3.0±0.4	71.5.3±13.2	14.6

Table 4. Energy, CHO and PRO intakes during the cycling camp (data expressed as Mean±SD)

	HARD (4)	9.5±1.4	2.8±0.2	75.2±7.9	10.5
3	MID (7)	8.2±2.1	3.4±0.5	74.5±8.9	11.9
-	LOW (3)	10±1.1	3.2±0.5	85.8±3.7	4.3
	HARD (7)	7.5±0.7	3.1±0.4	73.4±7.5	10.2
4	MID (4)	6.6±0.9	3.2±0.3	65.8±11.8	17.9
	LOW (3)	6.1±1.4	2.8±0.4	64.3±9.4	14.6

Note. ¹ n = total number of training days in the given category included in the analysis

Absolute TDEE (kcal) was higher in HARD and MID days compared to the LOW days in all athletes. Contrary to male athletes, no difference was observed between HARD and MID days in female athlete, despite twice the training units per day (Tab. 5). Significant positive energy balance (EI:TDEE ~1.73) was reported in LOW days, however, positive energy balance was found in MID and HARD days as well (~1.13 and ~1.12 ratio, respectively).

Training day category	Athlete	EI (kcal)	EE _{exercise} (kcal)	TDEE (kcal)	Energy balance (kcal)	EI:TDEE ratio
	1	6188.1±1079.4	2442.4±152.4	5410.0±152.4	+778.1±1052.6	1.14
	2	5899.6±565.6	1796.4±308.2	4711.2±308.2	+1188.5±475.9	1.25
ПАКД	3	4912.3±517.5	1648.5±285.5	4563.3±285.5	+ 349.0±418.6	1.07
-	4	5133.1±521	2454.9±353.9	5204.7±353.9	- 71.5±525.7	0.98
	1	6318.0±1177.5	2011.5±575.6	4979.1±575.6	+ 1338.9±1447.5	1.26
MID	2	4998.0±819.6	1133.3±341.1	4048.1±341.1	+ 949.9±1098.6	1.23
MID	3	4862.9±580.8	1305.7±366.4	4220.5±366.4	+ 642.3±556.4	1.15
	4	4600.3±826.9	2352.3±381.3	5102.1±381.3	- 501.8±898.2	0.90
	1	6089.7±1584.6		3137.4±520.0	+ 2952.2±1803.7	1.97
LOW	2	4994.3±922.9	_	3463.3±270.5	+ 1713.9±653.1	1.44
1011	3	5600.3±238.4		3086.8±22.9	+ 2513.5±216.2	1.81
	4	4491.0±657.1		2658.8±130.6	+ 1832.2±653.2	1.68

 Table 5. Individual energy balance data during the training camp (data expressed as Mean±SD)

Overall, due to the surplus in energy intake, EA sufficiently meets the optimum levels of 45 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹. Interestingly the EA was not different during the HARD (~59kcal·kg FFM⁻¹) in comparison to the MID (~56kcal·kg FFM⁻¹) training days in men being over the 45 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹ in men (athletes 1-3), but not women (37,1 and 44,2 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹ in MID and HARD days, respectively) (athlete 4). Importantly, EA in HARD days was \geq 44 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹ in all athletes (Fig.1).



Figure 1. Mean energy availability in MID and HARD days for individual athletes (1-4)

Note. Dashed line and dotted line depict the optimal EA for women (45 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹) and men (40 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹); full line depicts the level considered to be low energy availability in both males and females



Figure 2. Pre- and Post-exercise nutrient periodization in HARD days

Note. Illustrates the difference between "consumed" (mean peri-exercise nutrient amounts for all training units meals) and "recommended" (described in Table 3; Post-Ex CHO is expressed in g-kg- h^{-1}

The mean CHO intake in HARD days after the second training session (~ $0.7 \text{ g} \cdot \text{kg} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$) was nearly two times lower than recommended (1.2 g \cdot kg \cdot h⁻¹). In contrast, protein intake was higher than recommendations (0.3 g \cdot kg⁻¹) in both post-Ex time periods in HARD (Between - Ex PRO, 0.8 g \cdot kg⁻¹ and Post-ExPRO, 1 g \cdot kg⁻¹) and MID days (1.3 g \cdot kg⁻¹ (Fig. 2,3).



Figure 3. Pre- and Post-exercise nutrient periodization in MID days

Note. Illustrates the difference between "consumed" (mean peri-exercise nutrient amounts for all training units meals) and "recommended" (described in Table 3; Post-Ex CHO is expressed in g·kg·h⁻¹

In overall, CHO intake during exercise was significantly lower than elementary recommendations (30 g·h⁻¹). The CHO intake level was independent of the training day category and did not significantly differ (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Carbohydrate intake during exercise in HARD and MID days

Note. Illustrates the difference between "consumed" (mean CHO intake during all training units) and "recommended" (described in Table 3)

DISCUSSION

The case study aimed to explore the area of sports nutrition periodization according to the current evidence-based guidelines. The current study describes the nutritional habits of 4 recreational athletes during the high-volume cycling training camp with particular attention to the achievement of current sports nutrition periodization guidelines (Burke et al., 2018; Jeukendrup, 2017). More specifically, the study aimed to associate athlete's CHO, PRO and energy intake within training camp with the variability in daily training load.

We found that the athletes' total energy and CHO intakes during the training camp meet and exceed the current guidelines for optimizing performance and recovery. However, we found that energy and CHO intake were independent of the training load, suggesting an inability to periodize the nutrition effectively.

The predicted training intensity based on HRR was below 60 % VO_{2max} for most training units, irrespective of the training phase and overall daily training volume (one or two training units/day). Therefore, to differentiate the variability in daily training load, we categorize the days as HARD (two training units/day), MID (one training unit/day) and LOW (no training). The participants' training program was not periodized as the calculated mean exercise intensity (% HRR) for HARD and MID days was the same (58.7±4.8 % and 59.3±4 % of HRR, respectively) (Tab 2).

It has been demonstrated that implementing a nutrition-training intervention involving individual periodized CHO availability requires careful planning and the expertise of a sports dietitian

25

(Stellingwerf, 2012). However, athletes seemed to be well aware of guidelines that emphasize optimal CHO availability around high-intensity training sessions (Vogt et al., 2005; Heikura et al., 2018). Even though strategically manipulating CHO availability before, during or after exercise has been found to provoke a beneficial adaptive response (Impey et al., 2018), we found no signs of deliberate lowering CHO availability within the microcycle or particular training session.

Energy intake

The most interesting observation was that the daily energy intake was higher than expenditure irrespective of the total daily training volume leading to a significant mean positive energy balance during the camp (~ 1060 kcal·d⁻¹), with a substantial daily surplus of ~ 2200 kcal and ~ 500 kcal in non-training and training days, respectively (Tab. 5). Elite athletes and recreational athletes are vulnerable to LEA (Vanata & Steed, 2013), and sports nutrition knowledge is also reduced (Trakman, Forsyth, Devlin, & Belski, 2016). The EA for training days exceeds the 45 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹ limits (Loucks, Kiens, & Wright, 2011), reaching 53.0±9.5and 53.7±15.1 for HARD and MID days, respectively. This can be explained by the rigid relative daily energy intake of $\sim 73-78$ kcal·kg⁻¹ irrespective to the training day category, however, with gender differences (3 males and 1 female athlete ~EI 80,8 and 67 kcal·kg⁻¹, respectively). This translates in lower EA in MID days in female athlete (~37 kcal·kg⁻¹), but still within an acceptable range (Areta et al., 2021). Furthrmore, significant daily energy intake inconsistency was observed in HARD days (-71 kcal), MID days (-500 kcal) and LOW days (+1800 kcal) in the female athlete but not in males. This suggests gender differences in the ability to adjust energy intake with total energy expenditureSignificant interindividual differences were observed for EA during HARD (44-62 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹) and MID (37-64 kcal·kg FFM⁻¹) days. Analysis of reported daily EI revealed no 'under-reporting' in all athletes as an EI:BMR ratio was < 1.5. However 'over-reporting' behavior where EI:BMR ratio exceeds >2.5 may be expected for LOW days or MID and HARD days, respectively. In particular, over-reporting was identified in 69.6 % of all training days in which reported PRO intake was high (~3 g·kg⁻¹). This corresponds with PRO being the most often misreported nutrient (Magkos & Yannakoulia, 2003) including retrospective (diet recall, food-frequency questionnaire, and diet history. The energy intake coefficient of variation in LOW days interindividually ranges from 4,2-26,1 %, reflecting poor ability to periodize energy intake. Unfortunately, we did not record body weight to show if this extreme energy dysbalance led to body weight gain.

It must be noted that - firstly, athletes in our sample were not familiar with nutrition periodization and secondly, an experienced sports dietitian, who also prepared meals, was present during the camp. On the one side, we believe dietitian presence allows controlling for proper food choices and nutrient composition of food consumed, therefore eliminating interindividual differences in options for food delivery. On the other side, it may indirectly promote the ad libitum athlete's food consumption during the camp, especially with the impact on non-training days. Therefore, it may be questioned to what extent the presence of the chef may have affected the ad libitum intake and adherence to guidelines (author's own recognition). It may be speculated that if there would be a strategically planned nutritional program, a professional dietitian may assist in controlling specific nutrient intake, which is in line with current guidelines (Thomas et al., 2016).

Carbohydrate intake

The CHO intake during the training camp interindividually ranges from 6-10 g·kg·d⁻¹which is in line with practices of endurance-based disciplines. However, when considering the variability in daily training volume, there was no significant difference between the mean CHO intake for HARD and MID and even LOW days, 8.9 ± 0.8 , 7.8 ± 1.0 , 8.2 ± 1.5 g·kg·d⁻¹, respectively. Only one participant (female) reduced CHO intake markedly in non-training days. However, her intake reached sufficient levels of 6.1 g·kg·d⁻¹ (Burke, 2001).

Periodization of nutrients

Current guidelines around PRO intake for all types of athletes promote the regular intake of modest amounts (~ 25 g) (Schoenfeld & Aragon, 2018) of high-quality PRO over the day, including soon after the completion of key training sessions (i.e., sessions of high intensity and/or high duration (>90 min) (Jäger et al., 2017). The post-exercise per-meal PRO intake recommendation adjusted for body weight (~ 0.3 g·kg⁻¹) was 4,6 times higher for MID (1,4 g·kg⁻¹) and similarly high for a first and second exercise session in HARD days (1.0 g·kg⁻¹ and 1.2 g·kg⁻¹). All athletes exceeded the recommendation in all training sessions. We hypothesized that this resulted from high postexercise energy intake rather than PRO target intention as the daily PRO intake exceeded 3 g·kg⁻¹ independently of the training day category.

Three hours post-exercise, the PRO intake in MID days accounted for 39.3 % of daily PRO intake. Similarly, on HARD days, the post-exercise PRO intake accounted for nearly 60 % (32.2 % for Ex 1 and 25.8 % for Ex 2) of total daily PRO.

Post-exercise CHO intake in HARD accounted for 15.5 and 8.4 % of daily CHO intake after Ex 1 and Ex 2, respectively. In MID, CHO intake accounted for 17.5 % of daily CHO intake. Athletes generally aimed to achieve high CHO availability with no signs of intentional manipulation. The CHO intake before exercise reached 90 % of the recommendation for 2h time frame period before exercise in MID and 85 % in HARD days (in both cases 1.8 g·kg⁻¹ vs. 2.0 g·kg⁻¹). However, CHO intake during exercise was significantly lower (more then two-fold) than moderate 30 g·h⁻¹ recommendations. We found the in-exercise CHO intake fulfilment to be 55 % of the recommendation in MID, 33.7, and 67 % in HARD for Ex 1 and 2, respectively. This may not limit the endogenous CHO availability and performance as athletes generally follow high CHO intake. All training sessions reported by athletes and included in the analysis lasted more than 120 min. This justifies the promotion of high CHO availability, as glycogen levels limit exercise capacity (Impey et al., 2018)compete high' paradigm. Despite this fact, CHO were not ingested in 36 % of all training sessions. Furthermore, even high-intensity training sessions expressed as % HRR not correlated with higher CHO intake (r = 0.19) (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. Carbohydrate intake during all training sessions in relation to the intensity (% HRR)

We believe that any form of sports nutrition periodization in recreational athletes should be coordinated with a trainer or educated dietitian and may hardly result from experience and ad libitum food intake. We show a positive energy balance, high CHO and PRO intake irrespective of training volume. This supports that athletes follow sports nutrition guidelines without considering new findings. Moreover, we found that gender differences in applying recommendations to practice should be considered and carefully interpreted as there is still limited understanding on this topic (Areta et al., 2022).

CONCLUSIONS

The case study revealed that the recreational athletes, rather than strategically manipulating nutrient delivery outside the training, focus on the total daily energy intake to compensate for the energy expenditure, which led to a significant positive energy balance (~ 500 kcal). No signs of deliberate CHO and PRO intake distribution to meet current sport nutrition guidelines were identified. Although daily CHO intakes meet current CHO guidelines promoting high endogenous CHO availability, daily or post-exercise CHO intakes were independent of the number of training sessions, intensity or duration and gender-different.

What the study brings new

Recreational athletes are not able to follow scheduled eating patterns. Moreover, recreational athletes do not adjust energy and nutrient delivery to the training program. Sports dietitian plays an essential role in assisting athletes to fulfil current sports nutrition periodization guidelines.

REFERENCES

Areta, J. L., Taylor, H. L., & Koehler, K. (2021). Low energy availability: history, definition and evidence of its endocrine, metabolic and physiological effects in prospective studies in females and males. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *121*(1), 1-21.

Areta, J. L., & Elliott-Sale, K. J. (2022). Nutrition for female athletes: What we know, what we don't know, and why. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 22(5), 669-671.

Burke, L. M. (2001). Nutritional Practices of Male and Female Endurance Cyclists. Sports Medicine, 31(7), 521-532.

Burke, L. M. (2010). Fueling strategies to optimize performance: training high or training low? *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports, 20 Suppl 2,* 48–58.

Burke, L. M., Hawley, J. A., Jeukendrup, A., Morton, J. P., Stellingwerff, T., & Maughan, R. J. (2018). Toward a Common Understanding of Diet-Exercise Strategies to Manipulate Fuel Availability for Training and Competition Preparation in Endurance Sport. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 28(5), 451–463.

Cunningham, J. J. (1980). A reanalysis of the factors influencing basal metabolic rate in normal adults. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 33(11), 2372–2374.

Drenowatz, C., Eisenmann, J. C., Carlson, J. J., Pfeiffer, K. A., & Pivarnik, J. M. (2012). Energy expenditure and dietary intake during high-volume and low-volume training periods among male endurance athletes. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 37(2), 199–205.

Gejl, K. D., Thams, L. B., Hansen, M., Rokkedal-Lausch, T., Plomgaard, P., Nybo, L., ... Ørtenblad, N. (2017). No Superior Adaptations to Carbohydrate Periodization in Elite Endurance Athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *49*(12), 2486–2497.

Heikura, Ida A., Burke, L. M., Mero, A. A., Uusitalo, A. L. T., & Stellingwerff, T. (2017). Dietary Microperiodization in Elite Female and Male Runners and Race Walkers During a Block of High Intensity Precompetition Training. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, *27*(4), 297–304.

Heikura, Ida A., Stellingwerff, T., Mero, A. A., Uusitalo, A. L. T., & Burke, L. M. (2017). A Mismatch Between Athlete Practice and Current Sports Nutrition Guidelines Among Elite Female and Male Middle- and Long-Distance Athletes. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 27(4), 351–360.

Heikura, Ida Aliisa, Stellingwerff, T., & Burke, L. M. (2018). Self-Reported Periodization of Nutrition in Elite Female and Male Runners and Race Walkers. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *9*, 1732.

Impey, S. G., Hearris, M. A., Hammond, K. M., Bartlett, J. D., Louis, J., Close, G. L., & Morton, J. P. (2018). Fuel for the Work Required: A Theoretical Framework for Carbohydrate Periodization and the Glycogen Threshold Hypothesis. *Sports Medicine*, *48*(5), 1031–1048.

Jäger, R., Kerksick, C. M., Campbell, B. I., Cribb, P. J., Wells, S. D., Skwiat, T. M., ... Antonio, J. (2017). International Society of Sports Nutrition Position Stand: protein and exercise. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 14, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12970-017-0177-8

Jeukendrup, A. E. (2017). Periodized Nutrition for Athletes. Sports Medicine, 47(Suppl 1), 51-63.

Kerksick, C. M., Arent, S., Schoenfeld, B. J., Stout, J. R., Campbell, B., Wilborn, C. D., ... Antonio, J. (2017). International society of sports nutrition position stand: nutrient timing. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, *14*, 33.

Kopetschny, H., Rowlands, D., Popovich, D., & Thomson, J. (2018). Long-Distance Triathletes' Intentions to Manipulate Energy and Macronutrient Intake Over a Training Macrocycle. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 28(5), 515–521.

Loucks, A. B., Kiens, B., & Wright, H. H. (2011). Energy availability in athletes. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 29(sup1), S7–S15.

Magkos, F., & Yannakoulia, M. (2003). Methodology of dietary assessment in athletes: concepts and pitfalls. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, *6*(5), 539–549.

Marquet, L.-A., Brisswalter, J., Louis, J., Tiollier, E., Burke, L. M., Hawley, J. A., & Hausswirth, C. (2016). Enhanced Endurance Performance by Periodization of Carbohydrate Intake: "Sleep Low" Strategy. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 48(4), 663–672.

McKay, A. K., Stellingwerff, T., Smith, E. S., Martin, D. T., Mujika, I., Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., ... & Burke, L. M. (2022). Defining training and performance caliber: a participant classification framework. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, *17*(2), 317–331.

Mujika, I., Halson, S., Burke, L. M., Balagué, G., & Farrow, D. (2018). An Integrated, Multifactorial Approach to Periodization for Optimal Performance in Individual and Team Sports. *International Journal of Sports Physiology* and Performance, 13(5), 538–561.

Rodriguez, N. R., Di Marco, N. M., & Langley, S. (2009). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Nutrition and athletic performance. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *41*(3), 709–731.

Schoenfeld, B. J., & Aragon, A. A. (2018). How much protein can the body use in a single meal for muscle-building? Implications for daily protein distribution. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, *15*(1), 10.

Stellingwerf, T. (2012). Case study: Nutrition and training periodization in three elite marathon runners. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 22(5), 392–400.

Stellingwerff, T., Morton, J. P., & Burke, L. M. (2019). A Framework for Periodized Nutrition for Athletics. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 29(2),141-151.

Thomas, D. T., Erdman, K. A., & Burke, L. M. (2016). American College of Sports Medicine Joint Position Statement. Nutrition and Athletic Performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 48(3), 543–568.

Trakman, G. L., Forsyth, A., Devlin, B. L., & Belski, R. (2016). A Systematic Review of Athletes' and Coaches' Nutrition Knowledge and Reflections on the Quality of Current Nutrition Knowledge Measures. *Nutrients*, 8(9).

Vanata, D. F., & Steed, C. L. (2013). Risk Factors Associated with the Female Athlete Triad in Recreational Exercisers. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *113*(9), A96.

Vogt, S., Heinrich, L., Schumacher, Y. O., Großhauser, M., Blum, A., König, D., ... Schmid, A. (2005). Energy Intake and Energy Expenditure of Elite Cyclists During Preseason Training. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 26(8), 701–706.

Contact Information:

doc. Mgr. Michal Kumstát, Ph.D., Masaryk University Brno, Faculty of sport studies, Kamenice 5, Brno, 62500 Czech Republic, Tel. 549 49 6217, email: kumstat@fsps.muni.cz

Mgr. Tomáš Hlinský, Ph.D., Masaryk University Brno, Faculty of sport studies, Kamenice 5, Brno, 62500 Czech Republic, Tel. 549 49 2085, email: tomas.hlinsky@fsps.muni.cz

The Effect of Suspension Training on Some Factors Related to the Shoulder Injuries in Athletes with Scapular Dyskinesis

Mahdi Khakpourfard¹, Hooman Minoonejad², Amirhosein Barati³, Mohammad Kalantariyan⁴

¹Kish International Campus, University of Tehran, Kish, Iran ²Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran ³Faculty of Health and Sport Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran ⁴Faculty of Sport Sciences, Shahid Rajaee Teacher Training University, Tehran, Iran

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to examine the effect of suspension training on some factors related to the shoulder injuries in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. The present study employed a semi-experimental pre-test and post-test design. Thirty male athletes with scapular dyskinesis were randomly allocated into either the training or control group, with 15 individuals in each. Identification of scapular dyskinesis was conducted through the utilization of a lateral scapular slide test. During the pre-test stage, the shoulder joint muscles strength, proprioception and functional stability, were assessed via manual dynamometer, upper body functional balance test, and imaging methods, respectively. Subsequently, the training group participated in an 8-week suspension training, with three sessions per week. Following the 8-week intervention period, all participants underwent the same measurements administered during the pre-test stage. Statistical analysis was conducted using a two-way analysis of variance at a significance level of P≤0.05 to analyze the research findings. The findings from the twoway analysis of variance indicated that, during the post-test stage, the experimental group showed significant enhancements in muscle strength, functional stability, and accuracy of shoulder joint proprioception in comparison to the control group. The study's results suggest that suspension training used in this study can be employed to enhance shoulder muscle strength, functional stability, and accuracy of shoulder joint proprioception, which may assist in ameliorating disorders resulting from scapular dyskinesis. Furthermore, the findings imply that incorporating these exercises into training regimens could help prevent shoulder joint injuries.

Keywords: Scapular dyskinesis; suspension training; Shoulder; Injury; Prevention

INTRODUCTION

Scapular dyskinesis is a condition that involves dysfunction in the positioning of the scapula bone (Saini, Shah, & Curtis, 2020). This condition can affect the alignment and movement of the shoulder joint, potentially leading to reduced performance, particularly in overhead sports (Asker et al., 2018). Early identification and management of scapular dyskinesis can help prevent further damage to the shoulder girdle and reduce the risk of injury (Saini, et al., 2020).

Previous studies have demonstrated that scapular dyskinesis can lead to impairments in strength (Bullock et al., 2021; Moghadam, Rahnama, Dehkordi, & Abdollahi, 2020), range of motion (Moghadam, et al., 2020; Naderifar & Ghanbari, 2022), activation and timing of the shoulder muscles (Gonçalves et al., 2022; Petviset, Sakulsriprasert, Vongsirinavarat, & Wattananon, 2021), shoulder girdle function (Huang, Weng, Chang, Tsai, & Lin, 2023) and proprioception (Sayaca et al., 2021; Zarei, Eshghi, & Hosseinzadeh, 2021). These variables are critical for optimal shoulder function and performance. Impairments in muscle strength and joint stability are two critical risk factors that can significantly increase the likelihood of injury in athletes who participate in overhead sports (Bullock, et al., 2021). Athletes with scapular dyskinesis exhibit a decrease in the strength of the infraspinatus and supraspinatus muscles (Merolla, De Santis, Campi, Paladini, & Porcellini, 2010). This is while the results have shown the rotator cuff muscles generate compressive force that helps to stabilize the humerus against the glenoid cavity, resulting in improved stability of the shoulder joint (Seitz, McClelland, Jones, Jean, & Kardouni, 2015). Seitz et al. found that athletes with scapular dyskinesis exhibit weakness in the lower and middle trapezius muscles, as compared to those without any signs of dyskinesis (Seitz, et al., 2015). There is a direct relationship between strength and stability in the shoulder joint. Therefore, impairment in strength can lead to a reduction in functional stability of the shoulder and finally an increase in likelihood of shoulder injuries (Bullock, et al., 2021).

On the other hand, changes in scapular position have been found to have a significant impact on the proprioceptive function of the shoulder joint, potentially leading to disruptions in the neuromuscular reflexes responsible for joint protection (Seitz, et al., 2015). This can lead to increased pressure on the joint, instability, and a heightened risk of injury (Sayaca, et al., 2021). This highlights the importance of maintaining proper scapular position to ensure optimal shoulder joint function. These findings align with previous research on the role of proprioception in joint stability and injury prevention (Zarei, et al., 2021). As such, paying close attention to proprioceptive accuracy in athletes with scapular dyskinesis is of utmost importance.

Academic literatures highlights the importance of selecting appropriate strategies for athletes with scapular dyskinesis to address the various variables affected by this condition (Giuseppe et al., 2020; Moghadam, et al., 2020). It is crucial to use non-invasive and cost-effective interventions that not only target these variables but also enhance performance and prevent injury. Suspension training has gained popularity in the sports community in recent years. The prominent feature of this training method is the use of body muscles in a suspended environment, which not only targets the intended muscles but also promotes muscular strength development and coordination between the kinetic chains by creating cohesive contractions along the closed kinetic chain (Khorjahani, Mirmoezzi, Bagheri, & Kalantariyan, 2021). In addition, the functional nature of this training method and its emphasis on utilizing the core stabilizer muscles of the body in most of the movements have been noted (Karabay, Emük, & Kaya, 2019; Khorjahani, et al., 2021). It has been demonstrated that there is a direct correlation between core stability and upper limb injury occurrence (Zarei, et al., 2021).

Hence, it is hypothesized that suspension training, with the aforementioned characteristics, could be a viable option for improving factors related to the shoulder injuries in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. Therefore, the objective of this study is to examine the effectiveness of suspension training on functional stability, muscle strength, and proprioceptive accuracy of the shoulder joint in athletes with scapular dyskinesis.

METHODS

Study design

The current study employs a quasi-experimental research methodology utilizing a pretest-posttest design with two distinct groups.

Study population and selection of samples

The study population of the present research includes all male university athletes in overhead sports such as volleyball, handball, and basketball in the city of Rasht. The sample of this study consists of 30 individuals from the study population aged between 20 and 30 years who met the criteria for participation in the study. Before the study began, all subjects were notified of the potential risks and benefits of participating in the research. All subjects signed a consent letter to participate in the project. The sample size for the study was determined using an appropriate statistical formula based on previous studies with similar characteristics (Khorjahani, et al., 2021). A confidence interval of 0.95 and a test power of 80% were established, with an effect size of 0.7. Consequently, the sample size for each group was calculated as 13 individuals. However, to account for potential sample dropout during the study, the sample size was increased to 15 individuals for each group. To ensure homogeneity between the groups, each group was comprised of 5 volleyball players, 5 basketball players, and 5 handball players. The inclusion criteria for the study were being male, participating in university-level volleyball, basketball, or handball, and having scapular dyskinesis. The exclusion criteria were a history of injuries such as dislocation or fracture in any of the shoulder girdle bones, complete tear of the shoulder girdle muscles, adhesive capsulitis in the shoulder joint (diagnosed by a physician), any atrophy in the shoulder girdle muscles, skeletal muscle disorders in the upper limb, including forward head posture, protracted scapula, kyphosis, scoliosis (any physical abnormality affecting the study process, diagnosed by a physician), dissatisfaction to continue participation in the study, absence from two consecutive sessions or more than 3 sessions of training. The study followed the Helsinki Declaration recommendations of Human Ethics in Research.



Figure 1. CONSORT flow chart of samples enrollment, allocation, post-test and analysis.

Preparation

The process of conducting the research was as follows: after issuing a call for participation in the research project on virtual platforms, individuals who expressed their interest in participating in the study were invited to attend a predetermined location in the laboratory for initial examinations and to assess their eligibility for inclusion or exclusion from the study based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Upon arrival at the laboratory, a detailed explanation of the study objectives and participation requirements was provided to the individual. Then, the informed consent form and personal information form were completed by the individual. Afterward, initial measurements were taken, including anthropometric measurements and assessment of shoulder movement disorders to determine the presence or absence of scapular dyskinesis.

Evaluation of scapular dyskinesis

To assess scapular dyskinesis, the lateral scapular slide test (LSST) developed by Kibler was used. The validity of this test is high in the neutral position and low in two other positions (45 and 90 degrees), and its intergroup reliability is high (0.87-0.94) as well as its intragroup reliability (0.63–0.79) (Kibler, Sciascia, & Wilkes, 2012). In this test, the inferior angle of the scapula was marked on the skin with a marker, and the distance between it and the adjacent vertebra was measured in three standing positions: 1- hands by the sides of the body, 2- hands on the lower back with the palm facing backward and the four fingers facing forward, and 3- arms in 90 degrees of abduction

with the palm facing downward. The measurement was repeated three times on each side, and if there was a difference of 1.5 cm or more between the two sides, the test was considered positive, and the individual was identified as having scapular dyskinesis (r = 0.90) (Kibler, et al., 2012).



Figure 2. Evaluation of scapular dyskinesis

Evaluation of muscle strength

To measure the maximum isometric strength of internal and external rotator muscles of the shoulder joint, a handheld dynamometer model CASE-01163 manufactured by Lafayette Instrument Company, USA was utilized. To do this, the individual was placed in a supine position on a flat surface, and the shoulder was abducted to 90 degrees, with the elbow flexed to 90 degrees and hanging from the surface (angles were measured with a standard goniometer). The handheld dynamometer was placed on the anterior surface of the forearm just above the wrist for internal rotation and on the posterior surface for external rotation. A folded towel was placed under the arm to maintain humeral adduction. Then, the individual was instructed to exert maximum force for 2 seconds, without moving the arm, in the direction of internal and external rotation, respectively, against the handheld dynamometer. The maximum isometric force exerted by the individual was recorded on the digital display of the device (ICC = 0.88-0.96) (Hannah, Scibek, & Carcia, 2017).

Evaluation of functional stability

To assess the functional stability of the shoulder joint, the Y balance test was used. To perform this test, the individual stood on their hands and toes, keeping their spine and lower limbs in a straight line. The dominant hand was chosen as the support. The position of the hand was marked by a designated line, and the feet were separated by the width of the shoulders. In this position, the individual was asked to reach as far as possible in the medial, inferior-lateral, and superior-lateral directions with their free hand while maintaining the position of the supporting hand, torso, and lower limbs. To enable comparisons between individuals, the reach distances along the upper limb (the distance from the seventh cervical vertebra to the end of the longest finger in 90 degrees of shoulder abduction and elbow extension, wrist and finger extension) were normalized. The reaching task was performed continuously in all three directions without rest, and the individual was allowed to rest their free hand on the ground after each trial. This process was repeated three times, and the average of the three correct trials in all three directions was recorded as the composite score of the individual in the functional stability test. The intra-tester reliability of this test was reported as good to excellent (0.80-0.90) (Gorman, Butler, Plisky, & Kiesel, 2012; Zarei, et al., 2021).



Figure 3. Evaluation of functional stability

Evaluation of proprioception

To evaluate the accuracy of the proprioceptive sense of the shoulder joint during 90 degrees of abduction, digital camera imaging was used. First, the individual's shoulder girdle was marked, and a single shoulder abduction movement was reconstructed at a 90-degree angle. To perform the test, the individual was seated on a chair and asked to raise their shoulder to 90 degrees of abduction in a trial manner, during which the tester commanded them to remember this angle. Then, the main test was performed, and the tester was asked to reconstruct the 90-degree abduction movement. When they reached the target angle, they said "reached," and the tester immediately took a picture from the back view. Then, the photos were analyzed using Kinovea software to determine the accuracy of shoulder joint proprioception during abduction movement. It should be noted that to emphasize the accurate evaluation of proprioceptive sense, the movement was performed with eyes closed. The average of three correct trials was considered as the reconstruction angle of the proprioceptive sense of the shoulder joint. The reliability of this method was reported as 0.87–0.96 (Elrahim, Embaby, Ali, & Kamel, 2016; Herrington, Horsley, Whitaker, & Rolf, 2008).



Figure 4. Evaluation of proprioception

Training protocol

After conducting the pre-test assessments, the participants in the training group performed 8 weeks of suspension training. During this period, all participants were asked to perform their normal daily activities and refrain from exercises that emphasized the upper limb muscles and could affect the study results. The control group was asked not to perform any sports activity during the study period. The first researcher fully monitored and supervised all the training sessions. The suspension trainings were performed using for 8 weeks in 24 training sessions that lasted 25-30 minutes for each session by the subjects of suspension training group. The suspension progressive
exercises were designed to increase the intensity of the exercises each week relative to the previous week by adjusting the exercise duration, level and/or type so that they most closely resemble the common functional movements in volleyball, basketball and handball in the final week. All exercises performed were based on the books and papers published in the field of suspension trainings (Dawes, 2017; Melrose & Dawes, 2015; Mohamed, 2016). The first Researcher possessed the suspension coaching degree (grade I) with a 3 years experience. Following the training period, all factors were reassessed using the same procedure as the pretest.

Table 1. suspension training protocol

Week	Exercises	Set- Reps- Rest
	Standing push-up plus, Chest press, standing overhead triceps extension, Scapular	
1-2	retraction, Inverted row, Supine iron cross, Elbow plank, Supine plank, Dual-arm	3-10-20
	external rotation	
	Standing push-up plus, Inverted row,	
3-4	Rear deltoid row, Biceps curl, Dual-arm external rotation, Dual-arm internal	2 12 15
	rotation, Standing overhead triceps extension, Reverse biceps curl, side plank,	3-12-15
	rotation plank	
	Scapular retraction, Field goal, Sprinter chest press, Push-up plus,	
5-6	Rear deltoid row to Y, Dual-arm external rotation, Dual-arm internal rotation,	3-10-10
	Reverse Crunch, rotation plank	
7-8	Low row, I-Y-T exercise, T fly, Single-arm inverted row, Off-center chest press,	2 12 10
	kneeling overhead triceps extension, Dual-arm external rotation Inverted	5-12-10

Statistical analysis

To assess normality, the Shapiro-Wilk statistical test was conducted on the data. A Two-Way analysis of variance with repeated measures was then used to examine intergroup differences in the post-test stage of the study. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (23.0; IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), and the significance level was set at 0.05.

RESULTS

Table 2 presents demographic information for the subjects, categorized by group. Based on the results of the independent t-test, no significant differences were found in the demographic variables of the research subjects between the two groups.

Group Variable	Control	Intervention	Р
Age (Year)	27.19±4.7	26.48±6.2	0.319
Heigh t(Cm)	185.01±5.1	184.85±8.3	0.227
Weight (Kg)	88.14±6.1	86.43±5.6	0.412
BMI (kg.m ²)	23.72±4.7	23.48±3.6	0.288

Table 2. Demographic characteristics of research subjects in two groups (mean ± standard deviation)

A Two-Way analysis of variance with repeated measures was conducted to investigate the effect of 8 weeks of suspension training on internal and external rotator muscle strength, functional stability, and shoulder joint proprioception accuracy. The results of the analysis revealed a significant interaction effect between time (pre-test to post-test) and group (control vs. experimental) on internal rotator muscle strength (η =0.263, P=0.001, F=12.04), external rotator muscle strength (η =0.167, P=0.001, F=9.22), functional stability (η =0.319, P=0.001, F=14.01), and shoulder joint proprioception accuracy (η =0.211, P=0.001, F=8.68).

Additionally, the results revealed significant main effects of time and training intervention on internal rotator muscle strength, with significant effects of time (η =0.281, P=0.005, F=8.23) and training intervention (η =0.194, P=0.021, F=6.79). Similarly, there were significant main effects of time and training intervention on external rotator muscle strength, with significant effects of time (η =0.207, P=0.003, F=10.61) and training intervention (η =0.155, P=0.009, F=8.38). Further, there were significant main effects of time and training intervention on functional stability, with significant effects of time (η =0.313, P=0.001, F=12.52) and training intervention (η =0.199, P=0.001, F=9.85). Finally, significant main effects of time and training intervention were observed on shoulder joint proprioception accuracy, with significant effects of time (η =0.242, P=0.001, F=11.36) and training intervention (η =0.213, P=0.001, F=9.79).

According to the results of the Two-Way analysis of variance, the suspension training had a significant positive impact on internal and external rotator muscle strength, functional stability, and shoulder joint proprioception accuracy in the experimental group when compared to the control group (P \leq 0.05).

Variable	Group	Pre-test mean ± std	Post-test mean ± std	Confidence Interval
Internal Dataton Muscale Strongeth (N m2)	Intervention	13.3±3.6	17.3±4.1	-1.372.62
internal Kotator Muscle Strength (N.m ²)	Control	13.7±2.9	13.4±2.7	-2.71_1.84
Factoria I Data ta a Mara I. Chara ett. (N. 122)	Intervention	11.6±4.5	16.9±3.4	-2.052.38
External Rotator Muscle Strength (N.m ²)	Control	12.2±3.1	12.8±2.6	-4.11_2.64
From other all Stark ility (Corp.)	Intervention	63.2±7.8	77.3±9.4	-3.531.28
Functional Stability (Cm)	Control	64.8±8.8	66.4±10.7	-1.69_3.83
	Intervention	-5.8±0.9	-2.1±0.4	-5.841.26
Proprioception (Degree)	Control	-6.1±1.1	-7.3±1.8	-3.19_3.54

Table 3. Comparison of muscle strength, functional stability, and proprioceptive accuracy between pre-testand post-test stages in the two groups

DISCUSSION

The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of an 8-week suspension training on some factors related to the shoulder joint injuries such as functional stability, muscle strength,

and proprioceptive accuracy in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. Two-Way analysis of variance demonstrated a significant improvement in functional stability, as well as an increase in internal and external rotator muscle strength and proprioceptive accuracy of the shoulder joint following the intervention. These findings suggest that the suspension training may serve as an effective intervention for enhancing functional stability, muscle strength, and proprioceptive accuracy among this population.

The findings of this study are consistent with previous research conducted by Mohamed (Mohamed, 2016), Linek et al. (Linek, Saulicz, Myśliwiec, Wójtowicz, & Wolny, 2016), and Goullet et al. (Goulet & Rogowski, 2018), which respectively reported improvements in the strength of the shoulder joint muscles of swimmers, volleyball players, and professional tennis players following suspension training. However, our results differ from those of Hibberd et al. (Hibberd, Oyama, Spang, Prentice, & Myers, 2012) and Swanik et al. (Swanik, Swanik, Lephart, & Huxel, 2002), who did not observe significant changes in shoulder muscle strength following 6 weeks of strengthening exercises. The disparity in results between our study and those of Hibberd et al. (2012) may be attributed to the shorter duration of the training protocol in their study compared to ours. Additionally, the inconsistency may be attributed to differences in the protocol for measuring muscle strength. Hibberd et al. evaluated the strength of flexor and abductor muscles of the shoulder joint, whereas in our study, we assessed the strength of the rotator muscles of the shoulder joint.

The findings of this study suggest that suspension training may enhance the function of muscle spindle receptors and improve the accuracy of afferent messages from the shoulder joint to the nervous system, potentially leading to more precise feedback mechanisms (Khorjahani, et al., 2021). This improvement in feedback may contribute to enhanced motor control and stability in the shoulder joint (Moghadam, et al., 2020). As a result of improving the accuracy of nerve messages, more coherent and efficient movement commands can be sent to the muscles, which can lead to better performance of the shoulder joint muscles and ultimately improve functional stability (Zarei, et al., 2021). This improvement in functional stability may reduce the likelihood of shoulder injuries, particularly in athletes with scapular dyskinesis.

Merolla et al. (2010) found a reduction in supraspinatus and infraspinatus muscle strength in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. In their study, participants underwent a 6-month rehabilitation program. The results showed a significant improvement in the strength of both supraspinatus and infraspinatus muscles (Merolla, et al., 2010). Based on these findings, researchers concluded that an imbalance in the strength of the shoulder muscle structure leads to acquired scapular dyskinesis. This imbalance disrupts the length-tension relationship of the rotator cuff muscles, resulting in secondary weakness of the supraspinatus and infraspinatus muscles (Merolla, et al., 2010). Previous studies have shown that rehabilitation programs focused on restoring the balance of shoulder stabilizing muscles can improve rotator cuff strength in overhead athletes (Goulet & Rogowski, 2018). The results of the current study are consistent with these findings, indicating that 8 weeks of suspension training have improved the strength of the shoulder rotator muscles and functional stability in athletes with scapular dyskinesis.

Enhanced functional stability observed among the training group in this study, as a protective mechanism, can prevent unintended movements and injuries in the shoulder joint, which is

widely recognized as the most mobile and unstable joint in the body (Zarei, et al., 2021). This is particularly important as previous research has demonstrated a direct relationship between functional stability and proprioceptive accuracy of the shoulder joint (Sayaca, et al., 2021; Zarei, et al., 2021). Previous studies have reported that athletes with higher proprioceptive accuracy in their shoulder joint perform better in upper body functional stability tests, which may significantly reduce the risk of shoulder joint injuries (Jin-Ho, Ki-Jae, Mu-Yeop, Bang-Sub, & Jae-Keun, 2020; Zarei, et al., 2021). Based on the findings of this study and the opinion of Jin-Ho et al. (2020) it can be argued that improved awareness of shoulder position leads to improved performance of afferent and efferent neurons and motor control (Jin-Ho, et al., 2020). Complex movement pattern exercises such as suspension exercises, which are performed in multiple planes and levels of movement and involve multiple joints, may have a double effect on afferent inputs and improve proprioception (Khorjahani, et al., 2021).

The results of the current study demonstrate the positive impact of suspension training on the strength, functional stability, and proprioception of the shoulder joint in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. Given these findings, suspension training can be suggested as a preventative approach to shoulder joint injuries in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. Future research should explore other variables such as kinematics and activation of shoulder girdle muscles after implementing the training protocols used in this study. It is worth noting that the present study had a potential limitation in that it only involved male athletes. Additionally, conducting this research during the COVID-19 pandemic presented challenges in terms of subject recruitment and access to facilities.

CONCLUSION

The findings of this study indicate that suspension training have a favorable impact on variables associated with injury occurrence in athletes with scapular dyskinesis. Consequently, coaches and overhead athletes are advised to incorporate these exercises into their training regimen as a preventative measure against shoulder girdle injuries.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the athletes who participated and the research assistants who were instrumental in the collection of the data.

REFERENCES

Asker, M., Brooke, H. L., Waldén, M., Tranaeus, U., Johansson, F., Skillgate, E., & Holm, L. W. (2018). Risk factors for, and prevention of, shoulder injuries in overhead sports: a systematic review with best-evidence synthesis. *British journal of sports medicine*, *52*(20), 1312-1319.

Bullock, G. S., Strahm, J., Hulburt, T. C., Beck, E. C., Waterman, B. R., & Nicholson, K. F. (2021). Relationship between clinical scapular assessment and scapula resting position, shoulder strength, and baseball pitching kinematics and kinetics. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*, *9*(3), 2325967121991146.

Dawes, J. (2017). Complete guide to TRX suspension training: Human Kinetics.

Elrahim, R. M. A., Embaby, E. A., Ali, M. F., & Kamel, R. M. (2016). Inter-rater and intra-rater reliability of Kinovea software for measurement of shoulder range of motion. *Bulletin of Faculty of Physical Therapy, 21*(2), 80-87.

Giuseppe, L. U., Laura, R. A., Berton, A., Candela, V., Massaroni, C., Carnevale, A., . . . DeAngelis, J. (2020). Scapular dyskinesis: from basic science to ultimate treatment. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(8), 2974.

Gonçalves, D., Politti, F., Junior, S. G., Freire, L., Silva, A., Magalhaes, F., & Lucareli, P. (2022). Comparison of the scapulothoracic muscles activity in individuals with and without shoulder pain and scapular dyskinesis: A preliminary time-series study. *Gait & Posture*, *97*, S393-S394.

Gorman, P. P., Butler, R. J., Plisky, P. J., & Kiesel, K. B. (2012). Upper Quarter Y Balance Test: reliability and performance comparison between genders in active adults. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 26*(11), 3043-3048.

Goulet, C., & Rogowski, I. (2018). Sling-based exercise for external rotator muscles: effects on shoulder profile in young recreational tennis players. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 27(1), 30-36.

Hannah, D. C., Scibek, J. S., & Carcia, C. R. (2017). Strength profiles in healthy individuals with and without scapular dyskinesis. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, *12*(3), 305.

Herrington, L., Horsley, I., Whitaker, L., & Rolf, C. (2008). Does a tackling task effect shoulder joint position sense in rugby players? *Physical Therapy in Sport*, *9*(2), 67-71.

Hibberd, E. E., Oyama, S., Spang, J. T., Prentice, W., & Myers, J. B. (2012). Effect of a 6-week strengthening program on shoulder and scapular-stabilizer strength and scapular kinematics in division I collegiate swimmers. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 21(3), 253-265.

Huang, T.-S., Weng, Y.-H., Chang, C.-C., Tsai, Y.-S., & Lin, J.-j. (2023). Pitching Biomechanics and Shoulder Function in Baseball Pitchers with Scapular Dyskinesis. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 44(05), 369-375.

Jin-Ho, Y., Ki-Jae, S., Mu-Yeop, J., Bang-Sub, L., & Jae-Keun, O. (2020). Effect of a 12-week rehabilitation exercise program on shoulder proprioception, instability and pain in baseball players with shoulder instability. *Iranian journal of public health, 49*(8), 1467.

Karabay, D., Emük, Y., & Kaya, D. Ö. (2019). Muscle activity ratios of scapular stabilizers during closed kinetic chain exercises in healthy shoulders: a systematic review. *Journal of sport rehabilitation, 29*(7), 1001-1018.

Khorjahani, A., Mirmoezzi, M., Bagheri, M., & Kalantariyan, M. (2021). Effects of trx suspension training on proprioception and muscle strength in female athletes with functional ankle instability. *Asian Journal of Sports Medicine*, *12*(2).

Kibler, B. W., Sciascia, A., & Wilkes, T. (2012). Scapular dyskinesis and its relation to shoulder injury. *JAAOS-journal* of the American academy of orthopaedic surgeons, 20(6), 364-372.

Linek, P., Saulicz, E., Myśliwiec, A., Wójtowicz, M., & Wolny, T. (2016). The effect of specific sling exercises on the functional movement screen score in adolescent volleyball players: A preliminary study. *Journal of human kinetics*, *54*(1), 83-90.

Melrose, D., & Dawes, J. (2015). Resistance characteristics of the TRX TM suspension training system at different angles and distances from the hanging point. *Journal of athletic enhancement, 4*(1), 2-5.

Merolla, G., De Santis, E., Campi, F., Paladini, P., & Porcellini, G. (2010). Supraspinatus and infraspinatus weakness in overhead athletes with scapular dyskinesis: strength assessment before and after restoration of scapular musculature balance. *Musculoskeletal surgery*, *94*, 119-125.

Moghadam, A. N., Rahnama, L., Dehkordi, S. N., & Abdollahi, S. (2020). Exercise therapy may affect scapular position and motion in individuals with scapular dyskinesis: a systematic review of clinical trials. *Journal of shoulder and elbow surgery*, *29*(1), e29-e36.

Mohamed, T. S. (2016). Effect Of Trx Suspension Training As A Prevention Program To Avoid The Shoulder Pain For Swimmers. Ovidius University Annals, Series Physical Education & Sport/Science, Movement & Health, 16(2).

Naderifar, H., & Ghanbari, L. (2022). Effect of selected corrective exercises on glenohumeral rotation range of motion in overhead athletes with scapular dyskinesis. *Studia sportiva*, *16*(1), 54-62.

Petviset, H., Sakulsriprasert, P., Vongsirinavarat, M., & Wattananon, P. (2021). Comparison of scapulothoracic muscles onset and deactivation time between individuals with and without inferior angle type of scapular dyskinesis: A cross-sectional study. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science & Technology, 43*(2).

Saini, S. S., Shah, S. S., & Curtis, A. S. (2020). Scapular dyskinesis and the kinetic chain: recognizing dysfunction and treating injury in the tennis athlete. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine*, *13*, 748-756.

Sayaca, C., Unal, M., Calik, M., Eyuboglu, F. E., Kaya, D., & Ozenci, A. M. (2021). Scapular Dyskinesis, Shoulder Joint Position Sense, and Functional Level After Arthroscopic Bankart Repair. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*, *9*(8), 2325967120985207.

Seitz, A. L., McClelland, R. I., Jones, W. J., Jean, R. A., & Kardouni, J. R. (2015). A comparison of change in 3D scapular kinematics with maximal contractions and force production with scapular muscle tests between asymptomatic overhead athletes with and without scapular dyskinesis. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, *10*(3), 309.

Swanik, K. A., Swanik, C. B., Lephart, S. M., & Huxel, K. (2002). The effect of functional training on the incidence of shoulder pain and strength in intercollegiate swimmers. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, *11*(2), 140-154.

Zarei, M., Eshghi, S., & Hosseinzadeh, M. (2021). The effect of a shoulder injury prevention programme on proprioception and dynamic stability of young volleyball players; a randomized controlled trial. *BMC sports science, medicine and rehabilitation, 13*(1), 71.

Contact Information:

Amirhosein Barati *: Ph.D, MD

Email: ahbarati20@gmail.com

Phone number: +989121930811

Address: Faculty of Health and Sport Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran

SOCIAL SCIENCES

EDITORS:

Emanuel Hurych Petr Scholz

Security Concerns and Conflict Experience of Physically Disabled People In the Czech Republic

Jitka Čihounková, Alena Skotáková, Zdenko Reguli

Department of Physical Education and Social Sciences, Masaryk University Faculty of Sports Studies, Brno, The Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

People with disabilities are more vulnerable to violence than their non-disabled counterparts. The fear of crime increases with the experience of victimization. There are many attempts to enhance the confidence of being outside alone or decrease the fear of crime through self-defense courses. The aim of the present study is to determine the level of security concerns in people with physical disabilities and to identify the most frequent crime they are facing. 77 physically disabled people (aged 15 and more; 45 women, 32 men; 5 elementary, 44 secondary, 28 higher educated) participated in the research. 49 participants use mechanic or electric wheelchair, 19 participants use other compensatory aids, 9 participants do not use any compensatory aids. 35 participants use the assistant service, 42 do not. Data was collected via a questionnaire of four parts, in which participants expressed their security concerns, confidence, or vulnerability in given situations through a 6point scale. Each part of the questionnaire is supplemented by an open question encouraging participants to express their experience. People with disabilities have a slight fear of possible conflict situations. This fear increases in conditions with a greater chance of a potential conflict situation or areas that cannot be left immediately. The results suggest a slight sense of helplessness in verbal conflict situations or a developing conflict that can still be de-escalated. We can assume that people with disabilities feel very vulnerable when it comes to direct physical assault.

Keywords: fear of crime; violence; disability; hate crime; abuse

INTRODUCTION

Violence and disability make up an extensive area with a high level of latency, especially in the field of domestic violence (Andrews & Veronen, 1993; European Commission & Directorate-General for Justice, 2008; Hughes et al., 2012). Crime experience increases fear of crime and a risk

of developing psychological problems, which is more likely to happen to disabled people (Dembo et al., 2018). There are many attempts to enhance the confidence of being outside alone or decrease the fear of crime through self-defense courses, which have developed from a theory to evidence-based approaches (Čihounková et al., 2015; Reguli, 2018). However, these courses must be based on the specific needs of clients. Therefore, even before planning self-defense courses, it is necessary to know their security concerns and the situations they more or less often face (Kohoutková et al., 2015). Many studies highlight hate crime that people with disabilities have to face (Healy & Dray, 2022; McClimens & Brewster, 2019; McGowan & Elliott, 2019; Ralph et al., 2016).

The research follows a series of projects focused on the self-defense of specific groups, which were solved at the Faculty of Sports Studies of Masaryk University in Brno. The aim of the present study is to determine the level of security concerns in people with physical disabilities and to identify the most frequent crime they are facing. The research also carefully touches on domestic violence to contribute to the gradual de-tabooing of this topic.

METHOD

Participants

77 physically disabled people volunteered for the research. There were two including criteria. The age of more than 15, which is the limit of criminal liability in The Czech Republic, and physical disability as defined by applicable legislation.

- 45 women, 32 men;
- 5 elementary, 44 secondary, 28 higher educated
- 11 participants use crutches or other compensatory aids, 10 participants do not use any compensatory aid. 60 participants use mechanic or electric wheelchair or combination of wheelchair and other compensatory aids
- 35 participants use the assistant service, 42 do not.

Procedures

Data was collected via a questionnaire "Security concerns "of four parts, in which participants expressed their security concerns, confidence, or vulnerability.

A six-point Likert scale was used in the first part of the questionnaire to express how respondents would feel in situations where there is a greater possibility of encountering a conflict situation. Still, they are not directly threatened by conflict. This part consists of ten statements, and respondents express their expected confidence level in given situations. The number one represents "I would keep surely absolutely calm" and number six "I would be very nervous". This part was ended by an open question encouraging respondents to describe a similar situation they were personally encountered.

The second part of the research tool used the six-point Likert scale, and it investigates how vulnerable respondents would feel in situations where they are a part of a conflict situation. Number one expresses "I would feel confident and know how to respond", and number six "I would feel helpless and do not know what to do". Eleven questions were assigned to this thematic area. This set of questions was supplemented by an open question where respondents were encouraged to describe similar situations they have personally encountered as well as in the first part.

The questions and the statements for the first and the second part of the questionnaire were built on the basis of the previous research in the area of self-defense for people with special needs (Cihounkova et al., 2016a; Cihounkova et al., 2016b; Šenkýř et al., 2015)whether in the form of providing services, improving mobility in public areas and the creation of jobs. A person with disabilities using a wheelchair has the opportunity to attend many public places, events and institutions for improving personal social life. In contrast, however, victimization and vulnerability is higher for people with disabilities. This fact inevitably results in a specificity and difficulties in a sel–defence situation. The aim of this paper is to inform about the project of the Faculty of Sport Studies "Evaluation of methodology of self – defence for people with physical disability using wheelchair", number ROZV/20/FSpS/05/2015. The methodology is based on theory of conflict, and it is focused on the initial stages of conflict resolution (i.e. pre conflict phase and verbal communication.

The third part of the questionnaire investigated what conflict situations people with physical disabilities can get into because of their disability. Respondents were asked if they had ever been in a conflicting or unpleasant situation because of their disability. If so, they were asked to describe the problem.

In the fourth part of the questionnaire, respondents answered whether they had ever encountered a person with a physical disability becoming a victim from an assistant or family member. They were asked to describe the situation in case of a positive response. Due to the sensitivity of the surveyed area, respondents could choose "I do not want to answer".

The data was collected in the last quarter of 2020. Because of the unpleasant epidemic situation, only a few questionnaires could be filled in the presence of the researcher. Other data was collected by interviewing in writing, an online questionnaire, and a printed version of the questionnaire, which was transmitted to the respondents indirectly. The questionnaires were distributed mainly via the Internet. Facebook groups associating people with physical disabilities as well as groups of people caring for the disabled were addressed (44 questionnaires).

Eighteen centers that associate or care for the disabled in The Czech Republic were asked to help with the distribution of the questionnaire. Three centers answered, and two of them were willing to help.

Statistical Analysis

Data was processed by MS Excel. Descriptive statistics and a Cohen D calculator were used for the first and second parts of the questionnaire to evaluate the level of security concerns.

Data from open questions was processed according to the thematic field by mind mapping.

RESULTS

THE FEAR OF POSSIBLE CONFLICT

People with disabilities, in general, have a slight fear of possible conflict situations (mean 3,66 with standard deviation 1,63). This fear increases in conditions with a greater chance of a potential conflict situation (in the night) or areas that cannot be left immediately (such as public transport). See Table 1.

Mean	SD
2,73	1,35
3,96	1,64
3,82	1,64
3,78	1,73
3,90	1,60
4,44	1,45
4,00	1,46
3,13	1,57
3,70	1,56
3,12	1,65
	Mean 2,73 3,96 3,82 3,78 3,90 4,44 4,00 3,13 3,70 3,12

Table 1. Results of all groups, fear of possible conflict

SD=standard deviation

The fear of possible conflict situations is higher in women (Cohen D 0,48): The most significant difference was detected in the situation 1.2 (Cohen D 0,7) and 1.6 (Cohen D 0,78).

The fear of possible conflict situations is higher in people who walk without any supportive aids than in people who use crutches or other compensatory walking aids (Cohen D 0,35). The biggest difference was found in situation 1.1.(Cohen D 0,57) and 1.3 (Cohen D 0,64).

The differences between the other groups were not significant. For more details see Table 3 at the end of the text showing the level of fear of possible conflict in particular situation according to every subgroups.

Seventeen respondents mentioned another situation in which they felt fear, but they were not directly under attack. Most of them are related to transport, such as car crashes, aggressive drivers, slippery sidewalks, or pedestrian crosses. The oft-mentioned fears were related to drunk people and people under the influence of drugs. Unpleasant for people with physical disabilities are also encountering with a barking dog without a leash, getting lost and problems that a person with a physical disability cannot solve on their own. They are also afraid of hate violence.

Confidence in a threatening situation

The second part of the questionnaire examined how vulnerable respondents would feel in situations where they are a part of a conflict situation, both verbal and physical (mean of total 3,89 with standard deviation 1,82).

The results suggest a slight sense of helplessness in verbal conflict situations or a developing conflict that can still be de-escalated. We can assume that people with disabilities feel very vulnerable when it comes to direct physical assault. See Table 2.

Table 2. Results of all groups, confidence in a threatening situation

Situation	Mean	SD
2.1 Someone covers my eyes and starts dragging me somewhere	4,49	1,59
2.2 The drunk begins to scold me and approach me	4,06	1,80
2.3 A stranger on the sidewalk starts asking me for money	3,16	1,69

2.4 Someone starts harassing me at night on the street	3,34	1,80
2.5 The young men at the bus stop start shouting at me in a derogatory way	3,27	1,80
2.6 Someone suddenly throws me to the ground	4,91	1,62
2.7 At a party, someone starts shoving me and shouting "what is your problem"	3,81	1,64
2.8 Someone starts a tug-of-war with me over my purse/backpack	4,51	1,77
2.9 Suddenly I feel someone touching my pocket	4,16	1,74
2.10 Someone starts bothering a member of my family	3,61	1,91
2.11 I'm in the park with my family and a barking dog without a leash runs out of somewhere	3,51	1,82

SD = standard deviation

The feeling of helplessness is higher in women (Cohen D 0,36), with the most significant differences in situation 2.4 (Cohen D 0,89).

Like in the first part of the questionnaire, people who walk without any aids feel less comfortable in conflict situations than people using supportive aids for walking. The°biggest difference was found in situation 2.2 (Cohen D 0,61), 2.5 (Cohen D 0,58), 2.7 (Cohen D 0,87), 2.8 (Cohen D 0,61) and 2.9 (Cohen D 1,16).

The differences between the other groups were not significant. For more details see Table 3 at the end of the text showing the level of fear of possible conflict in particular situation according to every subgroups.

Conflict situations due to disability

48 respondents stated that they never got into a conflict situation precisely because of their disability. Four respondents reported a non-conflict situation related to wheelchair failure or barrier. Three respondents got into a conflict situation due to his disability but did not specify this situation further.

The situations encountered by the remaining 22 respondents can be classified into the following categories:

- Verbal attacks most frequent: in public transport, drunks, when favoring a person with physical disabilities in the queue (for example, in the doctor's waiting room)
- *Hate verbal violence insults due to differences* which were most often aimed at their visible differences, such as different walking patterns or physical disability. The second most frequently mentioned and, as reported, very severe attack gives a sad picture of contemporary society, which, despite the democratic regime, is not nearly as tolerant and inclusive towards the handicaps as humanist approaches would like.
- Offer of assistance and subsequent robbing
- Excessive efforts to help from drunks
- Defending another person with physical disabilities

For verbal conflicts and insults, respondents often stated that they were addressing the situation by not responding to these attacks and, if possible, by leaving the site.

Results of the third part of the questionnaire correspond with the results of the open question in its first part, where drunks and conflicts with them were reported as well as fear of hate crime were the two most resonant topics.

Violence by assistants or family members

68 respondents stated that they had not encountered violence against people with disabilities from assistants or family members. None of the respondents used the "I don't want to answer" option.

Five respondents encountered violence from an assistant or family member but did not specify the situation further. One respondent experienced violence, but it was "reasonable to the situation and would be the same against a person without a disability."

The responses of the remaining three respondents described the following violent situations:

- Physical and psychological violence, emotional blackmail and refusal of assistant help from family members, throwing against the floor, kicking and beating all over the body.
- Strangulation from foster parents, strangulation from social services worker
- Childhood abuse, that has not been fully coped with until now.

DISCUSSION

Most of the findings correspond with the theory of self-defense (Čihounková et al., 2015; Reguli, 2018) and we can assume, that physically disabled people appropriately evaluated a real threat of given situations.

Also, a higher fear of crime in women is often mentioned, especially in the situation of sexual assault threat, which corresponds with the special self-defense need of this group (Ballan & Freyer, 2012; Stanko, 1995). On the other hand, Vaccaro et al. (2011) remind us that men are more likely not to confess the fear openly.

The often mentioned fear of hate crime is alarming and suggests that disabled people face this verbal and physical violence too often (Edwards & Maxwell, 2021; Ralph et al., 2016). Rand and Harrell (2009) warn that nearly 1 in 5 violent crime victims with a disability believed that they became victims because of their disability.

The higher fear of crime and possible conflict in people who do not use compensatory aids was entirely surprising. They may feel more unsure when going out of balance by the attacker because of the knowledge that they cannot lean on anything.

Victims with a disability perceived offenders to be under the influence of either alcohol or drugs in about a third of all violent crimes against them (Rand & Harrell, 2009). Also our results confirm increased security concerns in the presence of people under the influence of either alcohol or drugs.

Despite the fact that Sobsey and Doe (1991) warn that dependence on care reduces a victim's willingness to report abuse, it is worthy to open this topic as often as possible.

CONCLUSION

Physically disabled people appropriately evaluated a real threat of given situations. In general, they have a slight fear of possible conflict situations. This fear increases in conditions with a greater chance of a potential conflict situation or areas that cannot be left immediately. Because they face offensive remarks and hateful verbal attacks very often, they should be educated on how to

internally process these experiences, which could be very painful in the long term. Knowing the security concerns of people with special needs is crucial for development of selfdefense courses for these groups of people.

Table 3. Mean and standard deviation in each group and question

QUESTION	GENDER		FIONGENDERHELP OF AN ASSISTA			ASSISTANT
	Men	Women	Yes	no		
1.1	2,28 (1,35)	3,04 (1,25)	2,69 (1,26)	2,76 (1,41)		
1.2	3,25 (1,60)	4,47 (1,45)	4,14 (1,55)	3,81 (1,68)		
1.3	3,19 (1,76)	4,27 (1,36)	4,00 (1,57)	3,67 (1,66)		
1.4	3,22 (1,76)	4,18 (1,57)	4,29 (1,60)	3,36 (1,70)		
1.5	3,38 (1,65)	4,27 (1,44)	4,00 (1,60)	3,81 (1,58)		
1.6	3,88 (1,47)	4,84 (1,26)	4,63 (1,24)	4,29 (1,56)		
1.7	3,59 (1,48)	4,29 (1,36)	4,23 (1,37)	3,81 (1,48)		
1.8	2,63 (1,49)	3,49 (1,50)	3,31 (1,39)	2,98 (1,67)		
1.9	3,53 (1,41)	3,82 (1,64)	3,77 (1,55)	3,64 (1,56)		
1.10	3,16 (1,72)	3,09 (1,59)	3,26 (1,66)	3,00 (1,62)		
2.1	4,06 (1,39)	4,80 (1,63)	4,74 (1,50)	4,29 (1,61)		
2.2	3,59 (1,71)	4,40 (1,77)	4,23 (1,74)	3,93 (1,82)		
2.3	2,91 (1,77)	3,33 (1,59)	3,43 (1,74)	2,93 (1,59)		
2.4	2,47 (1,27)	3,96 (1,85)	3,17 (1,68)	3,48 (1,87)		
2.5	3,00 (1,68)	3,47 (1,85)	3,23 (1,69)	3,31 (1,87)		
2.6	4,47 (1,77)	5,22 (1,41)	5,31 (1,26)	4,57 (1,79)		
2.7	3,22 (1,52)	4,22 (1,58)	3,83 (1,44)	3,79 (1,77)		
2.8	4,19 (1,83)	4,73 (1,67)	5,00 (1,39)	4,10 (1,91)		
2.9	3,75 (1,77)	4,44 (1,64)	4,51 (1,44)	3,86 (1,88)		
2.10	3,44 (2,01)	3,73 (1,81)	3,89 (1,85)	3,38 (1,91)		
2.11	3,41 (1,90)	3,58 (1,73)	3,71 (1,75)	3,33 (1,83)		

QUESTION			EDUCATION		
	Basic	High school (study sheet)	high school (baccalaureate)	Higher	University
	2 (0 (1 50)				
1.1	3,40 (1,50)	2,82 (1,65)	2,41 (1,19)	3,00 (1,41)	2,84 (1,12)
1.2	4,80 (1,17)	4,53 (1,65)	3,67 (1,52)	3,00 (0,82)	3,84 (1,71)
1.3	4,00 (1,26)	4,41 (1,68)	3,48 (1,62)	4,67 (1,25)	3,64 (1,55)
1.4	4,80 (0,98)	4,59 (1,85)	3,44 (1,57)	2,00 (1,41)	3,60 (1,57)
1.5	4,60 (1,50)	4,65 (1,49)	3,67 (1,41)	4,33 (1,25)	3,44 (1,65)
1.6	4,80 (1,60)	4,71 (1,27)	4,15 (1,48)	3,67 (1,70)	4,60 (1,33)
1.7	4,40 (1,50)	4,35 (1,53)	3,85 (1,48)	2,67 (0,47)	4,00 (1,30)
1.8	2,80 (1,72)	3,53 (1,75)	3,04 (1,35)	1,33 (0,47)	3,24 (1,50)
1.9	4,60 (1,20)	3,71 (1,93)	3,78 (1,26)	2,00 (0,82)	3,64 (1,52)
1.10	3,40 (1,85)	3,18 (1,92)	2,81 (1,42)	1,00 (0)	3,60 (1,44)
2.1	4,40 (1,02)	4,71 (1,23)	4,44 (1,57)	3,67 (2,05)	4,52 (1,77)

2.2	4,40 (1,74)	4,35 (1,78)	3,81 (1,89)	4,67 (1,25)	4,00 (1,70)
2.3	3,00 (1,79)	4,24 (1,55)	2,89 (1,45)	1,67 (0,47)	2,92 (1,72)
2.4	3,80 (2,32)	3,94 (1,51)	3,19 (1,61)	2,33 (1,89)	3,12 (1,88)
2.5	3,80 (1,60)	4,06 (1,66)	3,26 (1,67)	2,00 (1,41)	2,80 (1,83)
2.6	5,60 (0,80)	5,53 (0,98)	4,44 (1,89)	4,00 (2,16)	4,96 (1,46)
2.7	3,60 (1,36)	4,41 (1,33)	3,70 (1,74)	3,00 (2,16)	3,64 (1,55)
2.8	4,80 (1,47)	5,06 (1,21)	4,15 (1,88)	2,67 (1,70)	4,68 (1,76)
2.9	4,00 (1,26)	4,65 (1,45)	3,78 (1,87)	3,67 (1,70)	4,32 (1,71)
2.10	3,80 (1,72)	4,24 (1,73)	3,37 (2,00)	1,67 (0,47)	3,64 (1,83)
2.11	3,20 (1,94)	3,76 (1,77)	3,22 (1,83)	2,00 (0,82)	3,88 (1,70)

COMPENSATORY AIDS

		Crutches			
	None	/Canes/	Combination	Wheelchair	
		Ortheses			
1.1	3,33 (1,33)	3,29 (1,67)	2,58 (1,50)	2,57 (1,20)	
1.2	4,22 (1,31)	4,57 (1,76)	3,42 (1,71)	3,96 (1,60)	
1.3	4,67 (1,05)	3,86 (1,81)	3,00 (1,78)	3,86 (1,55)	
1.4	3,67 (0,94)	3,86 (2,23)	3,17 (1,67)	3,94 (1,72)	
1.5	4,33 (1,25)	4,57 (1,50)	3,08 (1,93)	3,92 (1,48)	
1.6	4,89 (1,45)	4,71 (1,48)	4,33 (1,65)	4,35 (1,35)	
1.7	4,11 (0,99)	4,57 (1,50)	3,67 (1,89)	3,98 (1,36)	
1.8	3,33 (1,49)	3,71 (2,19)	2,75 (1,42)	3,10 (1,46)	
1.9	3,89 (1,37)	4,00 (1,31)	3,42 (1,55)	3,69 (1,61)	
1.10	2,89 (1,59)	3,29 (1,91)	2,67 (1,70)	3,24 (1,57)	
2.1	5,00 (1,33)	3,14 (1,46)	4,92 (1,55)	4,49 (1,53)	
2.2	4,22 (1,87)	3,00 (1,60)	4,25 (1,88)	4,14 (1,73)	
2.3	2,78 (1,81)	2,14 (1,12)	2,75 (1,83)	3,47 (1,59)	
2.4	3,67 (2,21)	2,43 (1,40)	3,08 (1,80)	3,47 (1,70)	
2.5	3,22 (2,15)	2,00 (1,41)	3,00 (2,08)	3,53 (1,59)	
2.6	4,78 (1,40)	4,43 (1,92)	4,00 (2,08)	5,22 (1,34)	
2.7	4,56 (1,57)	2,71 (1,28)	3,50 (2,25)	3,90 (1,39)	
2.8	4,56 (1,95)	3,43 (1,59)	3,75 (2,17)	4,84 (1,49)	
2.9	4,67 (1,15)	2,14 (0,83)	3,50 (2,06)	4,51 (1,57)	
2.10	3,22 (1,81)	1,86 (0,99)	2,92 (2,10)	4,10 (1,74)	
2.11	3,11 (1,85)	2,57 (1,29)	3,08 (2,02)	3,82 (1,72)	
			AGE		
	15-24	25-34	35-44	45-55	55+
1.1	2,83 (0,90)	2,48 (1,43)	2,77 (1,12)	2,73 (1,53)	2,91 (1,31)
1.2	4,50 (0,76)	4,14 (1,55)	4,00 (1,24)	3,47 (1,82)	3,95 (1,85)
1.3	4,83 (0,69)	4,05 (1,59)	3,62 (1,60)	3,53 (1,82)	3,64 (1,58)
1.4	4,17 (1,07)	3,95 (1,62)	3,69 (1,59)	3,47 (1,89)	3,77 (1,86)

1.5	4,50 (0,76)	4,14 (1,39)	3,69 (1,68)	3,73 (1,57)	3,73 (1,81)
1.6	5,00 (0,82)	4,38 (1,36)	4,54 (1,34)	3,93 (1,53)	4,64 (1,52)
1.7	4,67 (0,47)	3,81 (1,37)	3,69 (1,32)	3,73 (1,69)	4,36 (1,46)
1.8	3,50 (0,96)	2,95 (1,53)	3,23 (1,37)	3,07 (1,69)	3,18 (1,70)
1.9	3,50 (0,96)	3,52 (1,79)	3,38 (1,44)	4,07 (1,29)	3,86 (1,60)
1.10	3,50 (0,76)	2,90 (1,77)	2,92 (1,90)	3,00 (1,46)	3,41 (1,59)
2.1	4,67 (1,60)	3,95 (1,79)	4,92 (1,14)	4,67 (1,19)	4,59 (1,67)
2.2	3,67 (1,49)	3,71 (1,83)	4,08 (1,82)	4,20 (1,80)	4,41 (1,72)
2.3	3,00 (1,53)	2,71 (1,67)	2,85 (1,87)	3,47 (1,50)	3,59 (1,59)
2.4	3,83 (1,46)	2,95 (1,73)	3,46 (2,06)	3,13 (1,78)	3,64 (1,67)
2.5	2,83 (1,34)	3,00 (1,66)	3,15 (2,07)	3,53 (1,86)	3,55 (1,72)
2.6	4,67 (1,60)	4,76 (1,54)	4,46 (1,60)	5,07 (1,65)	5,27 (1,57)
2.7	3,50 (1,38)	3,57 (1,47)	3,92 (1,82)	4,00 (1,83)	3,91 (1,53)
2.8	3,67 (1,80)	4,48 (1,76)	4,08 (1,82)	4,73 (1,84)	4,86 (1,49)
2.9	3,50 (1,26)	4,05 (1,68)	4,38 (1,69)	4,07 (1,84)	4,36 (1,77)
2.10	3,50 (1,61)	3,43 (1,65)	3,00 (1,96)	3,93 (2,08)	3,95 (1,92)
2.11	3,67 (1,49)	3,19 (1,79)	3,38 (1,94)	3,47 (1,78)	3,86 (1,77)

EMPLOYMENT

	Employed	Unemployed	Pensioner	Student
1.1	2,40 (1,20)	2,73 (1,26)	4,25 (1,48)	2,36 (0,98)
1.2	3,44 (1,50)	4,21 (1,63)	5,00 (1,50)	3,64 (1,49)
1.3	3,56 (1,70)	3,88 (1,45)	4,25 (1,79)	3,91 (1,73)
1.4	3,32 (1,57)	3,88 (1,81)	4,38 (1,80)	4,09 (1,44)
1.5	3,72 (1,48)	3,91 (1,60)	4,88 (1,69)	3,55 (1,44)
1.6	4,16 (1,41)	4,39 (1,50)	5,38 (1,32)	4,55 (1,08)
1.7	3,60 (1,41)	4,09 (1,42)	5,00 (1,50)	3,91 (1,16)
1.8	3,00 (1,47)	2,94 (1,63)	4,38 (1,58)	3,09 (1,00)
1.9	3,52 (1,30)	3,61 (1,56)	4,25 (1,92)	4,00 (1,65)
1.10	3,12 (1,61)	2,85 (1,60)	3,38 (2,06)	3,73 (1,29)
2.1	4,24 (1,70)	4,45 (1,56)	4,75 (1,20)	5,00 (1,41)
2.2	3,84 (1,69)	4,27 (1,88)	4,00 (2,00)	4,00 (1,48)
2.3	2,68 (1,46)	3,39 (1,79)	4,25 (1,64)	2,73 (1,29)
2.4	2,96 (1,82)	3,61 (1,82)	4,13 (1,45)	2,82 (1,47)
2.5	3,16 (1,74)	3,30 (1,87)	4,63 (1,32)	2,45 (1,37)
2.6	4,52 (1,77)	5,21 (1,41)	5,38 (1,32)	4,55 (1,72)
2.7	3,76 (1,70)	3,91 (1,58)	4,50 (1,41)	3,09 (1,44)
2.8	4,24 (1,77)	4,70 (1,71)	5,00 (1,32)	4,18 (1,95)
2.9	4,08 (1,72)	4,24 (1,79)	4,13 (1,54)	4,09 (1,68)
2.10	3,28 (1,87)	4,06 (1,95)	3,25 (1,79)	3,27 (1,60)
2.11	3,32 (1,71)	3,76 (1,84)	2,88 (2,03)	3,64 (1,55)

51

REFERENCES

Andrews, A. B., & Veronen, L. J. (1993). Sexual Assault and People with Disabilities. *Journal of Social Work & Human Sexuality*, 8(2), 137–159. https://doi.org/10.1300/J291v08n02_08

Ballan, M. S., & Freyer, M. B. (2012). Self-Defense Among Women With Disabilities: An Unexplored Domain in Domestic Violence Cases. *Violence Against Women*, 18(9), 1083–1107. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801212461430

Cihounkova, J., Skotáková, A., & Kohoutková, J. (2016a). Security concerns of people using wheelchair. *Revista de Artes Marciales Asiáticas*, 11(2s), 136. https://doi.org/10.18002/rama.v11i2s.4208

Cihounkova, J., Skotakova, A., Kohoutkova, J., & Bugala, M. (2016b). Evaluation of self-defence for people with visual impairments—Methodology aspects. *Archives of Budo*, *12*, 275–285.

Čihounková, J., Skotáková, A., Bugala, M., & Šenkýř, J. (2015). Different approach analysis of self-defence for people with physical disability. In R. Kalina (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 1st World Congress on Health and Martial Arts in Interdisciplinary Approach (s. 40–43)*. Archives of Budo. http://proceedings.archbudo.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/49_ArchBudoConfProc.pdf

Dembo, R. S., Mitra, M., & McKee, M. (2018). The psychological consequences of violence against people with disabilities. *Disability and Health Journal*, *11*(3), 390–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2018.01.006

Edwards, C., & Maxwell, N. (2021). Disability, hostility and everyday geographies of un/safety. *Social & Cultural Geography*, 0(0), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649365.2021.1950823

European Commission, & Directorate-General for Justice, F. and S. (2008). Violence and disability. EUR-OP.

Healy, J. C., & Dray, R. (2022). Missing links: Safeguarding and disability hate crime responses. *The Journal of Adult Protection*, 24(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1108/JAP-09-2021-0030

Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Jones, L., Wood, S., Bates, G., Eckley, L., McCoy, E., Mikton, C., Shakespeare, T., & Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against adults with disabilities: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet*, *379*(9826), 1621–1629. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61851-5

Kohoutková, J., Čihounková, J., Skotáková, A., & Reguli, Z. (2015). Self-defence for people with visual impairments. *Ido Movement for Culture. Journal of Martial Arts Anthropology*, *15*(2), 33–36. https://doi.org/10.14589/ido.15.2.5

McClimens, A., & Brewster, J. (2019). Intellectual disability, hate crime and other social constructions: A view from South Yorkshire. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 23(4), 486–497. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629517730181

McGowan, J., & Elliott, K. (2019). Targeted violence perpetrated against women with disability by neighbours and community members. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 76, 102270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2019.102270

Mello, N. F. D., Pereira, É. L., Pereira, V. O. D. M., & Santos, L. M. P. (2021). Casos de violência contra pessoas com deficiência notificados por serviços de saúde brasileiros, 2011-2017. *Epidemiologia e Serviços de Saúde*, *30*(3), e2020747. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1679-49742021000300007

Ralph, S., Capewell, C., & Bonnett, E. (2016). Disability hate crime: Persecuted for difference. *British Journal of Special Education*, 43(3), 215–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8578.12139

Rand, M., & Harrell, E. (2009, october). *Crime Against People with Disabilities, 2007*. Office of Justice Programs. https://www.ojp.gov/library/publications/crime-against-people-disabilities-2007

Reguli, Z. (2018). Evolution of approaches in self-defence: From belief through experience to evidence-based self-defence training. *Archives of Budo*, *14*, 345–350.

Sobsey, D., & Doe, T. (1991). Patterns of sexual abuse and assault. *Sexuality and Disability*, 9(3), 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01102395

Stanko, E. A. (1995). Women, Crime, and Fear. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 539(1), 46–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716295539001004

Šenkýř, J., Skotáková, A., Čihounková, J., & Kohoutková, J. (2015). Evaluation of methodology of self—Defence for people with physical disabilities using a wheelchair. *Conference on Kinathropology "Sport and Quality of life"* 2015. Conference on Kinathropology "Sport and Quality of life" 2015, Brno.

Vaccaro, C. A., Schrock, D. P., & McCabe, J. M. (2011). Managing Emotional Manhood: Fighting and Fostering Fear in Mixed Martial Arts. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 74(4), 414–437. https://doi.org/10.1177/0190272511415554

The Position of the Warm-Up In School Physical Education Lessons

Lucie Grajciarová

Masaryk University, Faculty of Sports Studies, Brno

ABSTRACT

The essence of the presented research is to analyze the length, position, content and the process of the warm-up part within physical education (PE) lessons at lower secondary schools. The research study has a descriptive character and combines quantitatively and qualitatively oriented aspects of the analysis. The research method used was video-based observation. The research participants were selected from lower secondary schools in the Zlín Region – Czech Republic. Through 15 PE teachers, 35 video recordings were captured. For the analysis of video recordings, the deductive approach (system of categories) was used.

Based on the data analysis, the following information was discovered. The actual length of a PE lesson was on average 36 minutes and 30 seconds. The warm-up recorded to be on average 6 minutes and 22 seconds of the entire PE lesson. A total of 15 lessons were led by teachers and 14 lessons were led by the learning students. Mobilization (dynamic) exercises and static stretching were the most common focuses of the warm-up. The teacher's main priority was to point out mistakes that students made during lessons. The teachers also had to give the students verbal instructions (except for the residual category "other"). The most common form of organization of warm-ups was the so-called "free in space".

From the research, it is determined that the warm-up has an important impact on the PE lessons. This research could be appropriate for PE teachers' education as well as for individual teachers when preparing the PE lessons and/or reflecting on them.

Keywords: parts of Physical Education lesson; Physical Education; video study, warm-up

INTRODUCTION

"What seems so hard now will someday be your warm-up" – unknown

There are various reasons why warm-up activities are essential in education. As the quotation used as the motto of this paper suggests, in the early stages of learning, the warm-up is critical for improving skills, knowledge, and understanding. However, the crucial role of warm-up activities within education is often overlooked or underestimated.

In Physical Education lessons, warm-up exercises are an integral part of the introductory phase. Their importance lies in preparing the cardiovascular and musculoskeletal systems for increased physical stress (Martens, 2004), thereby reducing the risk of injuries (citation needed). By increasing heart rate and blood flow to the muscles, warm-up exercises enhance overall body temperature and improve joint and muscle flexibility (citation needed). They also contribute to enhancing coordination, balance, and psychological readiness for physical exertion. This means that the goal of the warm-up is to prepare the body for the activities that will follow (cf. Tilinger 2009, Jebavý 2014, Dvořáková & Engelthale 2017). For example, in a gymnastics lesson, the warm-up should include toning exercises aimed at adjusting the muscle tone of the most stressed muscle groups of the body. In a sports game, it is advisable to focus the warm-up on a dynamic warm-up that matches the nature of the sports game. If the main part of the lesson focuses on the development of joint mobility, it is desirable to emphasize it during the warm-up. There is no exact recommendation regarding the duration of warm-ups – it depends on the specific situation and the professional judgment of the PE teacher or coach.

Within the PE lesson, the warm-up is an essential part. Therefore, it is necessary to consider its position and its relation to other parts of the lesson. The lesson's structure is discussed in Czech professional literature dealing with general didactics (Najvar, Najvarová & Janík, 2009) and the didactics of PE, where the warm-up is regarded as an important part of PE lessons. However, a detailed analysis of the position of the warm-up within the PE lesson is lacking or presented briefly (Dobrý 1997, Jebavý, Hojka & Kaplan 2014, Rychtecký & Fialová 1998, Sliacky 2015).

Regarding the actors involved in warming-up activities, the teacher is predominantly responsible for leading the exercises in traditional PE lessons. However, in non-traditional, student-centred PE lessons, the warm-ups are often assigned to the students (for the Czech context, see Sliacky 2015).

To sum up, it is important to analyse not only the function of warm-ups within PE lessons and their content but also the connection between the warm-up and the main part of the lesson and the specific activities that teachers and students engage in during warm-ups. This is the focus of our study. We believe that this information could be relevant for PE teacher education as well as for individual teachers when preparing PE lessons and reflecting on them.

RESEARCH AIMS AND METHODS

The presented research study is a part of the wider research project, which aims are divided into three levels:

- The aim on the theoretical level is to analyse and subsequently synthesize existing Czech and foreign knowledge on the issue of the warm-up in PE lessons.
- On the research level, the aim is to use video study to analyse the length, position, content and process of the warm-up part within PE lessons at the lower secondary schools (in the Zlín region Czech Republic).
- The aim on the practical level is to clarify the function of warm-up activities and their connections with other parts of the PE lessons. Also, how the individual teachers are preparing and reflecting the PE lessons.

These aims were reflected in the construction of the presented research study. It focuses on the research level of the whole project. Our ambition here is not to generalize the results obtained by our research; we will show on our sample of video recordings of PE lessons, how warm-ups look in practice. We hope to use the relevance of our findings for PE teacher education and individual teachers in practice.

Sampling and data collection

The research sample was selected from lower secondary schools in the Zlín Region – Czech Republic. There were 128 fully organized basic schools (including primary and lower secondary level) on September 15, 2019, the sampling procedure started.

Schools were contacted through their principals. They received an online questionnaire designed by the author of this study. The aim was to capture how many PE teachers work at basic schools in the Zlín Region and how many of them have PE qualifications.

Eighty-seven principals replied to a total of 128 questionnaires – the return rate was 69.2%. One questionnaire was not included in the analysis due to incorrect data. We continued to work with 86 responses from the principals. They showed that a total of 234 PE teachers were working at the lower secondary school at the time of data collection, of which 105 were women and 129 were men.

Based on the obtained data, at the beginning of the 2020/2021¹ school year, teachers were recruited to participate in a video study of PE instruction. The observed teachers were selected based on availability due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The data collection took place from September to 2 October 2020. During the video recording, teachers were asked to keep the lesson as standard as possible. The data was recorded on one camcorder (GoPro Hero 8). The camera in the observed lessons was operated by all the same persons (the main researcher of the project), so there was no need to train more people. The camera was not static, but it moved in space so that the PE teacher was in the picture. The teachers did not have a microphone. The sum of 35 video recordings of PE lessons was acquired (thirty-two 45 minutes long, three 90 minutes long). They serve as the basis for various analyses.

¹ Video data collection has been delayed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The planned number of video recordings was higher, however other teachers were not contacted due to new wave of the pandemic.

The research sample – for the video study – consist of 15 teachers (8 women, 7 men). 11 teachers work in city schools and 4 in village schools. Surprisingly, only 6 teachers (from 15) are PE qualified. The average length of their teaching experience is 12 years. The shortest length of teaching experience is 1 year, which is the case for 3 teachers. The longest teaching experience of 36 years was for 1 teacher (Table 1).

Table 1. Characteristics of the research sample – according to gender, PE qualification, length of practice

Teachers				
Respondent designation	Gender	PE qualification	Length of practice	
A_ZL_TV2020	М	no	28 years	
B_ZL_TV2020	М	no	29 years	
C_ZL_TV2020	W	no	12 years	
D_ZL_TV2020	Μ	yes	16 years	
E_ZL_TV2020	W	yes	12 years	
F_ZL_TV2020	Μ	yes	6 years	
G_ZL_TV2020	М	yes	1 year	
H_ZL_TV2020	W	no	1 year	
I_ZL_TV2020	W	no	1 year	
J_ZL_TV2020	W	no	2 years	
K_ZL_TV2020	W	yes	2 years	
L_ZL_TV2020	Μ	yes	24 years	
M_ZL_TV2020	W	no	6 years	
N_ZL_TV2020	М	no	36 years	
O_ZL_TV2020	W	no	6 years	

As this research study focuses on the warm-up, it is necessary to describe the nature of PE lessons within which the warm-up analysis was performed (Table 2, 3).

In Table 2 we present a summary overview of recorded PE lessons, where we add the years (grades) in which the PE lessons were taught. In Table 3 we present the typology of lessons according to the content focus.

Table 2. Lesson typology – general information

Thirty-five physical education lessons			
from it			
12 girls			
14 boys			
9 coeducational			
22 in the gym			
13 on the outdoor playground			
3x 5 th year	4x 9 th year		
7x 6 th year	$1 x 6^{th} + 7^{th} year$		
12x 7 th year	1x 6 th – 9 th year		
7x 8 th year			

Gymnastic	2
Athletic	9
Game	15
Unconventional	1
Fitness	3
Combat sport	0
Mixed	5
TOTAL	35

Table 3. Typology of lessons according to content focus

Tables 2 and 3 show that most of the video recordings were boys' lessons, in the gym and that the most common were game lessons.

The highest number of recordings (12) was conducted in the lessons of 7th-grade students. In 2 cases, it was a combination of several grades, due to the low number of students. In one city school, girls from the 6th and 7th grades were combined, and in one village school, all girls from the 2nd grade (6th – 9th grade).

The research data was obtained with the support of an internal project of the Faculty of Sports Studies of Masaryk University with registration number MUNI / 51/06/2020. As this was a video study, all steps had to be taken in accordance with ethical principles and the GDPR. The school principal has always agreed to the participation of a third party. Teachers had signed the informed consent of the research participant. All research data was handled with confidence.

Data analysis

The research study has a descriptive character, it combines quantitatively and qualitatively oriented aspects of the analysis. Following the video study approach, the research method was observation mediated by video recordings of classroom instruction.

For the video analysis of the warm-up, it was necessary to create a categorical system. We used a categorical system for our design, which was inspired by Janík and Miková (2006) and other authors focused on PE didactics (Dobrý, 1997; Rychtecký & Fialová, 1998; Sliacky, 2019).

In the categorical systems (Table 4), the following aspects (categories) were covered and defined: (1) lesson structure (dividing the lesson in parts), (2) Acting warmups, (3) content of warm-up (traditional), (4) Content of warm-up (non-traditional), (5) teacher activities during warm-up. They were processed in a way that subcategories for the main category were defined, and the description (definition) was provided to clarify. The given subcategory code is what the researcher should use. In case, the observed phenomenon cannot be included in any given subcategory, it should be included in the subcategory "other".

The advantage of using the categorical system within video analysis lies in the possibility to observe one phenomenon multiple times and from multiple perspectives.

Category Subcategory **Content definition** Organization (typically a gathering) to present Introduction information about the lesson, checking attendance, motivation (acquainting with the aim of the lesson). Pulse-raising aerobic activities to preparate the Pulse-raising activities cardiovascular system and warm the muscles of the body. Mobility exercises to prepare the joints and stretches Structure of the PE Warm-up to prepare the muscles and their associated ligaments lesson (into parts) and connective tissue. Main part Main activity of the lesson. Activities assist the body in returning to its normal Cool- down resting state. For example, preparing tools, time between the parts Organization etc. It refers to sequences that cannot be classified into any Other of the above subcategories. Teacher – direct The teacher demonstrates the exercises. instruction Teacher – indirect Pictures, sketches, photos, and videos. instruction Actors of warm-up Student One student demonstrates the exercises. Students - pair, threesome Two or more students demonstrates the exercise. Students Each student in the group demonstrates one exercise. It refers to sequences that cannot be classified into any of Other the above subcategories. Mobilization Activities which prepare the joints for main activity. Stretching exercises that are performed with Dynamic stretching movement. Stretching exercises that are performed without Static stretching movement - the stretch position and holding the Content of warm-up stretch for a specific amount of time. (traditional) Strengthening exercises, e.g., muscles with a tendency Work out to weaken. Specific warm-up Warm-up that connects with the main activity. Missing warm-up Warm-up is skipped. It refers to sequences that cannot be classified into any of Other the above subcategories. Warm-up with the music Warm-up is done to the music. For example, imitating animals, using non-traditional Content of warm-up Warm-up games tools... (non-traditional) It refers to sequences that cannot be classified into any Other of the above subcategories.

Table 4. Categorial system for analysing warm-up in PE lessons

Category	Subcategory	Content definition	
Teacher activities during warm-up	Practice (demonstrate	Teacher demonstrates exercise and gives verbal	
	exercise)	instructions.	
	Varbalinator etiana	Teacher gives verbal instructions, counts repetitions of	
		exercises etc.	
	Observation	Teacher does not demonstrate exercise neither gives	
		verbal instruction, teacher just observe students	
		during warm-up.	
	Refer to mistakes	Teacher refers to mistakes without correction of	
		exercise.	
	Competing	Teacher refers to mistakes and demonstrate or	
	Correction	describe correct execution.	
	Evaluation	Teacher evaluates the students.	
	Motivation	Teacher motivates the students.	
	Other	It refers to sequences that cannot be classified into any	
	Other	of the above subcategories.	

For data analysis deductive approach was used. It's principle is that (sub)categories (codes) were used for capturing phenomena observation in video recordings then are used in a form of the categorical system. For coding and data analysis, the Videograph software (Rimmele 2002, see Figure 1) was used. Microsoft Excel was utilised for statistics.



Figure 1. Videograph

The criteria for determining the length of the whole lesson were the following:

The lesson length was measured from the time the teacher made it clear that the lesson was beginning (in most cases associated with the start of the students) until the teacher verbally finished the lesson (typically with the words "split up", "let's get change your clothes" etc.).

The criteria for determining the length of the warm-up were the following:

• The signal for measuring the start of the warm-up part was that the teacher verbally encouraged the students to do one of the activities related to the warm-up, using, e.g. the words "let's warm-up", "let's stretch", and "find a place". The signal for the end of the warm-up part was again a verbal instruction from the teacher, for example: "let's move on", "so we stretched", etc.

RESULTS

The research sample includes 32 lessons of PE with 45 minutes and three lessons of PE with 90 minutes. To sum up, 21 hours, 17 minutes and 16 seconds of PE lessons were observed. The warm-up lasted 3 hours, 42 minutes and 56 seconds for all analysed lessons. The average duration of a PE lesson was 36 minutes and 30 seconds. The average length of the warm-up time was 6 minutes and 22 seconds (the standard deviation was 2 minutes and 37 seconds, and the median was 5 minutes and 33 seconds).

Physical education classes are typically measured in minutes rather than percentages because time is a more straightforward and universal way of measuring duration. Minutes provide a more tangible way for students and educators to plan and execute a class schedule while percentages can be more abstract and difficult to visualize.

Additionally, minutes allow for a more precise way of measuring physical activity, which is often measured in minutes per day or week to meet recommended levels of exercise. It is also easier to calculate grades, attendance, and overall performance based on minutes spent in physical education class than it would be using percentages.

Overall, although percentages can be useful in some contexts, minutes remain the standard unit of measure for physical education classes.

PE lessons and warm-up: composition and content

Regarding the content of the warm-up, it is essential to consider what will be focus on in the main activity. For this reason, we analysed the role it plays in warm-ups in relation to the main activity. First, we roughly analysed the overall content focus of the examined lessons (see Figure 2). Most lessons were focused on games (15 lessons), followed by athletics (9 lessons). In contrast, we did not find any combat sport-oriented lessons.



Figure 2. Typology of lessons according to content

Then we performed a detailed analysis of the lessons recorded and found (based on the study of the warm-up exercises and the objectives of the main part) that in most of the PE lessons, there is a connection (correspondence) between the content of the warm-up and the main part of PE lessons.

In athletic lessons, the mobilization (dynamic part) was most often used on the spot in combination with static stretching of the lower limbs. In four lessons, the teachers also included an ABC running drill during the warm-up. Three teachers did not include a comprehensive ABC running drill in the warm-up, but only some of its leg extension and butt-kicking elements. In two warm-ups (led by the student, and the second time by the teacher) the elements of cool-down were included at the beginning of the warm-up after the pulse-raising activities.

In the two observed gymnastics lessons, the mobilization (dynamic) part on the spot and the mobilization of the head were included most frequently. There was employed static stretching or pulse-raising activities of the lower limbs while standing and sitting.

In the fifteen recorded game lessons, the mobilization (dynamic) part, the mobilization of the head and the static stretching of the lower limbs while standing were employed most frequently. Compared to other types of lessons, strength training, such as squats, push-ups, and V-Ups, was included in the warm-up. As in athletic classes, the warm-up was initiated by a cool-down.

During fitness lessons, the warm-up was devoted to the mobilization (dynamic) part, stretching the lower limbs while standing and sitting and stretching the upper limbs while sitting.

In one non-traditional lesson, elements of mobilization, static stretching, and "jumping-jacks" were used in the warm-up.

In mixed classes (with boys and girls together), the warm-up ABC running drill was also part of the warm-up due to the fact, that the first part was devoted to athletics (running techniques) and the second to games ("king" and football).

During the warm-up, we noticed some unusual elements in the recorded lessons (due to the exercises that preceded and followed them in the warm-up), which were so-called "completely out of context" to the content of the warm-up, but also the main part:

- Elements of yoga appeared in two warm-ups.
- Jogging was included in two warm-ups.
- Sprints were included in two warm-ups.
- Students crawled once at the end of the warm-up.

Further analysis of the obtained data showed that the two warm-ups were directly related to the content (topic) of the main activity. This is because the teachers used the same tools, which they used during the main part. In one warm-up, there was use of a basketball ball, to help increase the skill when playing the sport in the main part. The second warm-up also included a ball however this time it was a volleyball. The topic of main part of this observed PE lesson was the basics of sports games. In both the warm-up and the main part, the teacher used the same equipment, so he did not waste time returning or exchanging tools, but especially the student perceived natural continuity from the beginning of the PE lesson.



Figure 3. Content of warm-up in PE lessons

In one lesson of physical education, a tool (skipping rope) was used in the warm-up, which was not related to the content of the main part. Specifically, it was an athletic lesson (preparation for the long jump).

In the warm-up (see Figure 3), the mobilization (dynamic) part was the most common (63x) In neither case was it a dynamic part in motion. The second most represented content of the warm-up (40 times in total) was static stretching. It occurred in different forms and other parts of the warm-up. In lessons led by a teacher, a student or two students, static stretching exercises were used, both standing and sitting. A total of 23 strength training sessions appeared during the warm-up, most often squats and push-ups. In two lessons there were V-Ups, sit-ups and plank. The specific warm-up most often presented the ABC running drill or the application of its elements. In specific cases (see category "others"), the warm-up was about exhaling, jogging, sprinting, jumping jacks and crawling.

Teacher activity during warm-up and its' organisation

The teacher is responsible for the content of the warm-up. The teacher should choose activities during the warm-up related to the correct execution of exercises that connect to the following

activities. Therefore, we created a categorical system that covers the teacher's activities during the warm-up (see Figure 4).

During the warmup the teacher pointed out mistakes (30 times in total), however, in most cases, it was resolved by simple instructions. The next most common task (also 30x) was activities from the category "other", which included organizational matters. Such as "let's make a place" (12x), questions such as "what we haven't stretched yet", or questions about health status (5x), preparing tools, which means that the teacher did not even observe the warm-up, but was preparing tools for the next part of the lesson (5x), 3x the teacher "moralize" the students, 2x provided the feedback, 2x the teacher exercise together with the students, in one case the teacher asked the students what was done in the last PE lessons, also in one case the teacher check the attendance and once the teacher whistled a change of direction at the exercise.

The next most represented category (23x) was verbal instructions. This means that the teachers no longer performed the exercises but only described them verbally. The teachers used vocabulary that the students knew well.

When the warm-up was led by a student/students, in twenty-one cases, the teacher only watched them and did not interfere in the exercises in any way.

During the demonstration of exercises (16 times), the teacher was the only leader no students were involved. During the demonstration of exercises, the teacher most often accompanied the activity verbally or counted the number of repetitions.

The category of motivation (16x) was more of a brief short phrase. E.g. "hold on", "go, go", "let's still go", "girls, let's go", etc. An example of longer motivation is "whoever can't, can practice at home".

The least represented categories were evaluation (12x) and comparison (11x).

In the evaluation case, it was a brief reaction to conducting a warm-up or performing an exercise – e.g., "excellent", "very nice", "great", "super", etc.

For correction, teachers usually approached the students individually and corrected the exercises manually. Or they told the students that variant B would be better than variant A.



Teacher activity during warm-up

Figure 4. Teacher activity during warm-up

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

When studying the literature, the challenge of defining the "warm-up" in PE lessons occurred. Some authors (Albrechtová, 2006; Buzková, 2006; Ramík, 2010; Stackeová, 2014; Ramsay, 2014) use the word "stretching" instead of "warm-up". From the content definition and from the context of including stretching in the "movement lesson", it may seem that it could be a synonym. However, it should be noted that these authors publish mainly in the field of fitness and exercise programs for coaches and the public, so their goal is not to define the "preparatory part", which is included in the literature of PE didactics.

A positive finding was that warm-up was included in each of the analysed lessons. The average duration of the warm-up was 6 minutes and 8 seconds for the regular 45-minute lessons and 8 minutes and 50 seconds for the 90-minute lessons. This time also corresponds to the time reported in the literature, e.g. Škop (2000) sets the length of the warm-up at six to ten minutes. We also agree with Škop (2000), that he separates the time for warm-up from the time for pulse-raising activities, and, of course, the other parts are clearly defined in time.

In the lessons we studied, the connection between the warm-up and the main part was observed. For example, the warm-up, which closely corresponded to the athletic lesson, was analysed in four PE sessions. Specifically, it was about the inclusion of the ABC running drill in the warm-up. Three teachers included elements of the ABC running drill in the warm-up. In two PE lessons, the connection of the warm-up with the main part was due to the use of equipment during warm-up. In both cases, it was a ball. One lesson was focused on the basketball game, the other on the basics of sports games. It is important to say that the content of the warm-up (the selection of exercises) should correspond to the given physical activities used in the main part. Jebavý (2014) mentions that the teacher should include general and then special exercises in the warm-up.

A positive finding is that teachers often pointed out errors in the lessons. According to Klimtová (2010), not correcting mistakes is a common shortcoming that teachers make. Sometimes the student does not even notice the poor exercise. The students need to know when they are doing something wrong because then they can improve and know what to work on. Especially if, for example, poor exercise could be fixed, which could harm the body rather than a benefit in the future. Dvořáková (2012) emphasizes that the teacher should explain the importance of the exercise. However, we rarely met with that in the analysed lessons. Another issue is the form in which the student learns that he has made a mistake. In PE, there is often not enough space for long explanations allocated; short commands are frequently used.

The evaluation of the observed warm-ups in relation to their correctness, structure, content, and leadership, as per the recommendations of academic publications, yielded notable results. The warm-ups generally demonstrated a commendable level of accuracy, with a well-structured format and appropriate content that adhered to established guidelines. However, occasional shortcomings were noted in terms of the structure and content, indicating room for improvement. Nonetheless, the leadership exhibited during the warm-ups was effective, demonstrating proficiency in guiding participants through the exercises. Overall, these findings highlight the successful implementation of warm-up strategies that align with best practices in the field, while also suggesting areas for further refinement.

As we mentioned in the Introduction, this research study could serve as inspiration, especially for PE teachers. Based on our findings, suggestions on how to think about warm-ups when preparing PE lessons could be provided – for example: to be aware of the physiological effects of individual exercise, to find correct (safe) space for students, to use correct vocabulary, point to out possible mistakes, to communicate correct performance, etc.

However, it is crucial to keep in mind the limiting factors that influence the choice of warm-up exercises – for example the environment, the age of the students, and the variability of the warm-up.

We see the following research option in the analysis of the cool-down part of PE lessons. During our previous observation and analysis, we noticed, that the cool-down part is also devoted to a minimum of time and its' position is probably not clear within PE lessons. However, the next analysis is needed to highlight this phenomenon.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The paper was written at Masaryk University Brno within the outputs of the internal project of the Faculty of Sports Studies with registration number MUNI/51/06/2020 "The position of the warm-up in school physical education lessons ".

REFERENCES

Albrecht, K. (2006). Strečink: cvičební programy pro dobrý pocit z vlastního těla. Beta-Dobrovský.

Buzková, K. (2006). Strečink: 240 cvičení pro dokonalé protažení celého těla. Grada.

Dvořáková, H. (2012). Školáci v pohybu. Grada Publishing.

Dvořáková, H., & Engelthalerová, Z. (2017). Tělesná výchova na 1. stupni základní školy. Karolinum.

Dobrý, L. (1997). Analýza didaktické interakce v tělesné výchově. Karolinum.

Janík, T., & Miková, M. (2006). Videostudie: výzkum výuky založený na analýze videozáznamu. Paido.

Janíková, M. (2011). Interakce a komunikace učitelů tělesné výchovy. Paido.

Jebavý, R., Hojka, V., & Kaplan, A. (2014). Rozcvičení ve sportu. Grada.

Klimtová, H. (2010). Metodika výuky tělesné výchovy na 2. stupni základních škol z pohledu pedagogické praxe: náměty pro začínajícího učitele. Ostravská univerzita v Ostravě.

Najvar, P., Najvarová, V., & Janík, T. (2009). Lesson structure in different school subjects in the Czech Republic. *Orbis Scholae*, 3(2), 113-127.

Ramsay, C. (2014). Strečink – anatomie. CPress.

Ramík, K. (2010). Strečink: jednoduché protažení před a po zátěži. Grada.

RIMMELE, R. (2002) Videograph – Die Software für die wissenschaftliche Analyse und Kodierung von Videoinhalten. http://www.dervideograph.de/enhtmStart.html

Rychtecký, A., & Fialová, L. (1998). Didaktika školní tělesné výchovy (2nd ed.). Karolinum.

Sliacky, J. (2015). Didaktické řídicí styly ve výuce tělesné výchovy na 2. stupni základní školy: Postoje a zkušenosti učitelů. *Studia Sportiva*, *9*, 16. https://doi.org/10.5817/StS2015-2-2

Stackeová, D. (2014). Fitness programy z pohledu kinantropologie (3rd ed.). Galén.

Škop, V. (2000). Pedagogická praxe v tělesné výchově: učební texty pro studenty na pedagogické praxi a začínající učitele tělesné výchovy. Gaudeamus.

Tilinger, P. (2009). Pedagogické a odborné praxe v tělesné výchově a sportu. Karolinum.

"Football Did Not Make Me a World Champion, But It Did Help My Wellbeing": A Qualitative Study of Study-Sport Balance Based On Fung Ka Ki

Bill Cheuk Long Chan¹, Billy Lee²

¹Department of Psychology, Lingnan University, Hong Kong ²School of Philosophy, Psychology and Language Sciences, University of Edinburgh, UK

ABSTRACT

Managing the balance of academic and athletic responsibilities at university is a serious challenge for student athletes. This phenomenological case study illuminates how one individual successfully managed his study-sport balance at university, and how such experiences shaped his life. Through two semi-structured interviews, the participant Fung Ka Ki, a former student athlete turned international footballer, made sense of his lived experiences at university and achievements post-university. Interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) was employed for the qualitative analysis. Two themes were derived: 1) Deploying athletic wisdom to inform life coping strategies, 2) Wellbeing through intellect and body developing together as a system. The findings provide insights into how mental and physical discipline may complement each other to create deep existential wellbeing. The study contributes to the on-going debate on whether high performance athletes should further their studies at university, and indicates ways sports and wellbeing practitioners may support student athletes more effectively.

Keywords: Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis; qualitative research; sport; student athlete; wellbeing

INTRODUCTION

This paper presents a qualitative case study of Fung Ka Ki (FKK), a public figure in Hong Kong (HK), known for being its first professional footballer with a Master's degree. Single case studies have been applied successfully to a wide range of disciplines, including education, social work,

sport, and psychology (Kazdin, 2011). This study aimed to explore in detail how a former student athlete, who excelled in both academic and athletic domains, makes sense of his lived experiences as an elite university student athlete. In particular, it addressed two under-researched areas: 1) How the student athlete copes with balancing academic study with elite level competing in sport, and 2) How this lived experience may influence the quality of post-university life.

On the issue of study-sport balance, recent findings based on nearly 7,000 undergraduate and postgraduate students from British institutions showed that "too busy with studies" was the biggest barrier to gym and sports participation - over three-quarters of the sample experienced this barrier (UKactive Research Institute, 2020). Thus, academic demands may be considered a significant source of demotivation for students to be physically active. Nevertheless, committed student athletes, because of their dual roles, must remain active in their sports despite demanding curricular schedules. Qualitative studies have highlighted some challenges of combining study and athletics at university. Adler and Adler (1985) conducted a participant-observation study on 38 players from an American university's basketball team over a 4-year period. They reported that although student athletes entered the university with an optimistic attitude, the intense sporting demands and expectations were debasing of their academic personas (within the first two semesters, many players claimed that they were detached from their academic work). McKenna and Dunstan-Lewis' (2004) action research with 10 student athletes from a British university found that participants experienced confusion and frustration with priorities. For example, some expressed feeling clueless whether the priority should be competing or graduating, and that being a student athlete prevented the normal life that other students enjoyed. The latter finding was supported by Rothschild-Checroune et al.'s (2012) phenomenological study of 12 first year student athletes from a Canadian university. Their participants felt they did not have enough time for the chores of daily living after fulfilling their academic and athletic responsibilities. Based on 27 student athletes from four American universities, Martin et al.'s (2010) phenomenological study showed how traveling for competitions affected study schedules. Their findings revealed that although the concept of team study sessions (students from the same team using the time in between team practices to study together) was introduced in some universities, most of the student athletes experienced such sessions as unproductive, as they were often distracted by their teammates' tendencies to joke and play around.

Despite the documented difficulties of study-sport balance, relatively little research has paid attention to how successful student athletes cope and excel at university (Cosh & Tully, 2015). On the other hand, it is argued that student athletes lack the coping skills to manage their challenging, divided lives (Papanikolaou, et al., 2003). Through thematic analysis, Cosh and Tully's (2015) study of 20 student athletes at an Australian university attempted to explore both their participants' stressors and their coping strategies. Their findings showed a number of stressors faced by student athletes, such as schedule clashes, fatigue from sport and study, and unreasonable expectations from the coach. This study highlighted that when facing such stressors, the students described having very few problem-focused coping strategies. Most of them relied on emotional support from other people, and some reported using avoidance strategies (e.g., settling for lower grades, skipping classes, and switching to part-time study). Cosh and Tully's (2015) findings converge with previous research indicating that student athletes would rather step away from their studies, than maintain a balance between their sport and studies while at university (Fortes et al., 2010). They are also consistent with Papanikolaou et al. (2003) that university student athletes generally lacked effective coping strategies for engaging simultaneously with sport and academia. These findings are unsettling for at least two reasons. First, avoidance is generally considered an unhealthy way to cope with stress – it may lead to mental health problems and burnout (Azizi, 2011; Ben-Zur ,2009). Second, both sports performance and emotional wellbeing may be compromised by poor coping (Nicholls & Polman, 2007). Hence, research which enquires into student athletes' lived experiences of coping with their dual roles at university may illuminate the foundations of future remedial work.

FKK was recruited to provide a detailed case study for this purpose. As a student, he completed a Master of Science in Business Management at the University of Warwick (UoW), and subsequently received a full tuition scholarship to study at the University of Hong Kong (HKU). As an athlete, he represented the HK national football team in both Under-23 and senior levels. He was instrumental to HKU's football club becoming champions of the Jackie Chan Challenge Cup (an annual intercollegiate tournament in HK), and he was awarded Sportsman of the Year by the University Sports Federation of Hong Kong (USFHK). These suggest that he managed a successful balance between academic studies and sports participation. It is relevant that Hanton et al.'s (2008) quantitative study of 217 athletes (national level or above) found that older and more experienced athletes tended to cope better with sports-related stressors, and were less likely to use avoidance strategies. FKK competed at national level as a mature student. These provide further justification of his potential to illuminate the phenomenon under enquiry.

On the question of the impact of being a successful student athlete on post-university life, Gallup (2016) compared life outcomes between former university student athletes (N = 1,670) and their non-athlete counterparts (N = 22,813) from the same intuitions. Results showed that former athletes were more likely to 1) be thriving socially (54% versus 45%), and physically (41% versus 33%), 2) have a sense of purpose (56% versus 48%), and 3) be employed at their desired level (82% versus 78%). More recently, focusing on 3,702 alumni from the same university, Stracciolini et al. (2018) found that those who were student athletes (44% of the sample) showed superior later-life health outcomes. For example, they were: 1) more likely to consider themselves in either good or great health (91% versus 85%) and exercise at least three times per week (62% versus 50%), and 2) less likely to smoke (14% versus 25%). While the long-term benefits of having been a student athlete at university are evident in the quantitative comparisons reviewed above, former student athletes' own understandings of the impacts on their post-university life are less well researched. According to Holmberg and colleagues (2015), understanding lived experiences, more so than statistical information, can provide valuable insights on people's motivation and decision-making in relation to their own health. FKK's decision to continue playing football at both intercollegiate and professional level, where many decide to quit (Hassan et al., 2017), presents a special opportunity to reflect on their impact on later life and career.

METHOD

Background of the participant

After graduating from high school, FKK started both his career as a professional footballer and his post-secondary education studying a diploma in Tourism Management at the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education (IVE). He played for the HK national football team in the Asian Games. After completing the diploma, he was sponsored by the Hong Kong Football Association's former president to study a Master's degree in Business Management at UoW. He stopped playing football professionally, but continued as a student athlete for UoW's football club. After graduating from UoW, he signed a professional player contract with Kitchee, making him HK's first professional footballer with a Master's degree. He continued life as a student athlete accepting HKU's sports scholarship to study Sports Science and Leisure Management. Post-university, he accepted a position as Financial Director of Birmingham City Football Club in the UK and then as the Chief Executive Officer of Lee Man Football Club in HK. At the time of writing, FKK is 41 years old, married with one child, and Director of Sky Kids, a consulting company for sports, travel, and education.

Procedure

The study was approved by the University of Edinburgh's Philosophy, Psychology and Language Sciences Research Ethics Committee. Initial contact with the participant was made through a mutual acquaintance. Two interviews were agreed at the outset. For the first interview in June 2019, he was asked to read the Information Sheet and sign the Consent Form. For the purpose of ethics, he was made aware that he would be identifiable in any publications resulting from the research. He was offered the option of being interviewed in either Cantonese or English. He chose the former, and code-switched between Cantonese and English throughout the interview. The initial interview enquired into three areas. First, his background and general reflections on being a student athlete (e.g., "What made you like football?", "What were your strengths and weaknesses as a footballer?", "What were your strengths and weaknesses as a student?"). Second, his experiences of being an international student athlete in England (e.g., "How did you make the decision to leave for England to start your Master's?", "How did you balance studying and football during your Master's?", and "How did being a university student athlete at UoW influence your post-university life?"). Third, we enquired into his experiences of returning to HK as a student athlete after a yearlong sojourn in the UK (e.g., "How did you feel about entering HKU as HK's first professional footballer with a Master's degree?", "How did you prioritise between football and your studies at HKU?", "How did being a student athlete in HK influence your post-university life?"). A short break was offered between parts of the interview. Probe questions (e.g., "Can you elaborate?") were asked throughout the interview.

A clarification meeting was held in July 2019 (14 days after the interview). This allowed for reflections on the interview transcript and voicing of possibilities for the second interview. The participant was encouraged to elaborate on experiences that were important. The initial interview and clarification meeting, conducted in a private clubhouse suggested by the participant, were

in-depth and thorough (over 4 hours in total). The participant was invited to read his Englishtranslated transcript for accuracy and any misinterpretations. He signed an additional form to indicate agreement with the translation from Cantonese to English.

Data analysis

The transcript was analysed according to the method of Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) (Smith et al., 2009), and adapting case study guidelines, from Bramley and Eatough (2005) and Horrocks et al. (2016). The transcript was read and reread several times to enable thorough familiarisation with the content and "entering the participant's world" (Smith et al., 2009, p.82). Language considered interesting, rich, or allusive was highlighted, and the author's observations and thoughts were noted alongside. Based on these highlights and notes, initial themes which best captured the essentials of the participant's lived experiences were identified. Themes that seemed connected psychologically were grouped together and given headings. Interview extracts were selected to exemplify the themes and to check the internal coherence of the interpretation. The second author acted as a "critical friend" in a review of the themes generated and discussion of the data. Member checking was also employed – the participant was invited to read the preliminary analysis of his interview transcript.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Three main themes were identified from the interviews: 1) Deploying a thletic wisdom to inform life coping strategies, 2) Wellbeing through intellect and body developing together as a system, and 3) Living between cultures through bicultural identity. The first theme reflected how football-specific wisdom played an important role in coping with the challenges at different stages of his student athlete life. The second theme captured the different possibilities of wellbeing he experienced through the combination of sport and scholarship, including possibilities that occurred during and after university. The third theme reflected his understanding of the cultural differences between being a student athlete in the UK and in HK. Due to space restrictions, only the first two themes, relevant to study-sport balance, are analysed in this paper.

THEME 1: Deploying athletic wisdom to inform life coping strategies

Deploying athletic wisdom, the theme analysed in this section, refers to knowledge and experience FKK gained in the sporting arena that he extrapolated as a coping resource for life more generally. This theme is constituted of the two subthemes: *Making life-changing decisions* and *Man-marking academically*. The concept of sport as a microcosm and crucible of personality development was put forward by Chan and Lee (2020), in an interpretative phenomenological study of how badminton players made sense of their personalities and lived experiences on court. The players identified, cultivated, or refined in the sporting arena, a psychological or developmental need that paralleled their challenges in broader life. Figure 1 provides a representation of this process.


Making life-changing decisions

Figure 1. Fung Ka Ki's experiences of coping

Making life-changing decisions

Choosing to accept the offer from UoW to do a Master's degree was a potentially life changing and difficult decision. FKK was already a professional footballer in HK at the time and would need to quit the salaried position to study abroad. He recounts how made the life-changing decision:

"I did enjoy sharing my stuff with my friends. I would tell them that I wanted to hear their thoughts about something, or I might ask them if my solutions to a problem made sense to them. I think such interactions were kind of like playing football. Sometimes, I might not be able to find the right angle to take a shot, but if I passed the ball to someone else and moved to a different position to receive the ball back, then I might find myself a better angle to shoot [...] You need to pass the ball around, to hear what others think, and subsequently you might be able to find the answer more easily."

One of the teammates he "passed the ball to" was Tam Siu Wai, a senior player whom he looked up to:

"Tam Siu Wai, one of my former teammates, taught me a simple lesson, 'You will never know whether you're good enough to do something unless you are willing to give it a try', that was such a powerful quote for me [...] It was back in the days when I had to decide whether to go to Warwick or not. The conversation happened after a training session. It was a rainy day, and he was nice enough to give me a lift. I told him that a British university, one of the top four, accepted me to do a Master's degree. However, I was still a full-time professional footballer back then, and my coach, he was not very supportive. The coach told me not to go, he said that I would probably not be smart enough to do a Master's, and that I should just stay in HK and focus on my football career. I was feeling uncertain what to do. So, I asked Tam Siu Wai for his thoughts. His response? 'Are you crazy? Of course you should go and do the Master's! That coach also said that I would not be good enough to take penalties - did that stop me from taking penalties? No! I wouldn't know the result unless I was brave enough to take it!' [...] The way he used a football example to answer my question of whether I should go and do the Master's, was exactly what I needed."

In these two extracts we can see FKK deploying metaphors from football to help in making life choices. He had learned through his footballing experiences that if he could not find a clean opportunity to shoot for goal, he needed to pass the ball to a teammate and receive it back for a different perspective. This informed his decision-making: "the offer or not" became the ball, which he passed to his teammate to find a better "angle" and response. The second extract offers a further metaphor which he generalised as a life lesson. Here, a player cannot know if he is good enough to take a penalty unless he tries it. Taking the penalty was the Master's degree: he would not know whether he was "smart enough" unless he embarked upon it. Building on Heidegger's (1962) concept of being-in-the-world, which emphasises the inextricable link between a self and its world, Dale (1996) argued that when analysing an athlete's experiences, researchers and practitioners could not talk about an athlete without implying their lifeworld. He notes "the two [athlete and world] do not exist apart from each other, and each individual and his or her world are said to co-constitute one another" (Dale, 1996, p.309). Further examination of FKK's lifeworld offers opportunities for a deeper analysis. At that time in HK no other professional footballer had completed a Master's degree, and this may illuminate layers of his conflict and uncertainty in accepting the scholarship offer. His coach, who advised him to stay in HK, exacerbates his self-doubt by questioning his ability to study. We can see from other parts of the transcript his propensity to listen to his coach. We also know from another part of the interview he did not do well at A-level and failed to get into university. The opportunity to study in "one of the top four" universities in England, only three years later after his diploma at IVE, may have seemed like a prize beyond his reach.

The clash in his lifeworld was mitigated by others willing to listen sympathetically. The account of his conversation with Tam Siu Wai allowed him to devise the life lesson of "passing the ball" to garner multiple perspectives on his difficulty. It is noteworthy that he remembers the small details of the exchange, including the timing (after a training session) and the weather (rainy) on the day. This testifies to how the conversation did not only help him with the answer he needed at the time, it was pivotal to literally changing his world – to a world where he eventually became HK's first professional footballer with a Master's degree, a title that would continue to pave new paths and opportunities for years to come.

Man-marking academically

FKK's ability to remain focused, meant he was "frequently asked to 'man-mark' the key player of the opposing team". In a game between the HK Under-23 and Japan Under-23, the coach gave him the challenging task of man-marking Shunsuke Nakamura, who later played for Celtic Football Club and was awarded the "Scotland Premiership Player of the Year" award (Macpherson, 2017). In the following, he shares how the metaphor of man-marking helped him academically:

"I had plenty of games for my club back then. As a consequence, I had to skip my lectures. It was difficult for me, because when you missed them, you're lost, you couldn't really follow, like other students were a few chapters ahead of you [...] I was quite outgoing, I won't just stay in my room and cry [...] If I missed this and this chapter, then I would 'man-mark' my classmate, and ask him if he could lend me some of his notes."

He would also "man-mark" his lecturer:

"I would also man-mark my lecturer and ask him questions. I suppose nowadays, the students may be afraid to ask their lecturer questions [...] I was not afraid, because I only missed the lecture for an actual football match, I did not miss it because I went to sing karaoke or play snooker. I actually wanted to be there. So, I did nothing wrong. Luckily, my lecturer was quite reasonable, he would be willing to help me out and give me advice on how to do my revision."

He claims being forced to skip lectures due to football commitments was "difficult" and made him feel "lost". In this scenario, the concept of man-marking, something he excelled at in football, enabled him to approach his lecturer and classmate and to recruit them as a study resource. According to Galvin and Todres (2011), when wellbeing is experienced deeply in the domain of identity, there is a sense of "I am" (sense of self backed-up by the continuous histories and contexts that fit with who one is), coupled with a sense of "I can" (sense of being able to). This account fits with FKK's coping experience. For the former, his sense of himself as "outgoing" is supported by a history as a proactive student whom: 1) would not "just stay in my room and cry", 2) "was not afraid" to ask for help, and 3) "wanted to hear" other people's thoughts. Regarding the latter, his sense of "I can" was apparent from being able to get the help he needed from his lecturer, something he, unlike other students, was "not afraid" to do.

FKK's lived experiences of handling his difficulties on and off the pitch helps to inform and flesh out the concept of problem-focused coping, a strategy that university student athletes tended to lack when balancing sport and study (Cosh & Tully, 2015; Papanikolaou et al., 2003). Focusing on this particular stressor, he did not devalue his studies or student role, as in Adler and Adler (1985), or rely on emotional support and avoidance strategies, as in Cosh and Tully (2015). Instead, his focus was to minimise the effect of the stressor (being left behind and feeling lost) through active coping (employing his lecturer and classmate as supports). Building on Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) distinction between emotion-focused and problem-focused coping, Gaudreau and Blondin (2004) have proposed a threefold structure: task-orientated, distraction-oriented, and disengagement-oriented coping, which is frequently used in the sport psychology literature (e.g., Kaiseler et al., 2019).

In the foregoing analysis, FKK's coping style may be interpreted as task-oriented – concentrating on how to solve the problem, rather than switching to other issues (distraction-oriented) or lowering his expectations (disengagement-oriented). His sense of self as outgoing helps to flesh-out the observed statistical correlation between extraversion and task-oriented coping already established in the literature (e.g., Kaiseler et al., 2012; Kaiseler et al., 2019). Barker et al. (2011) have encouraged practitioners of sport psychology to employ case studies in developing interventions for athletes. Previous research indicates stress management is considered an area where student athletes require interventions (Cosh & Tully, 2015; Papanikolaou et al., 2003). FKK's lived experiences of managing his challenges may inform such interventions, such as those that promote problem-focused and action-oriented coping. Both are healthier than avoidance-focused coping and are more in-keeping with the high levels of energy and focus of student athletes (Azizi, 2011; Ben-Zur, 2009).

THEME 2: Wellbeing through intellect and body developing together as a system

A recurring theme of the interviews was how the unity of academic study and physical sports enhanced the possibilities for living well. This main theme of the intellect and body developing together as a system, is constituted of three subthemes: Temporal self; Embodied self; and Professional self. Figure 2 represents the possibilities experienced through his different senses of self.



Figure 2. Fung Ka Ki's wellbeing based on his temporal self, embodied self, and professional self

Temporal self: Claiming time

The discipline of a rigorous timetable was paramount in FKK's use of time:

"I would go to class or do my schoolwork between 7am to 3:30pm. I would then go to training between 4 to 7pm. Between 7 to 10pm, I would be having my dinner and doing

my revision. Pretty much like that. The schedule worked well for me. [...] The key was always just about self-discipline. Say if it was already 4pm, then mentally I would not think about what happened earlier during the day in my studies. I would remind myself I should only focus on my training. During my training between 4 to 7pm, I had to avoid thinking about things related to my modules."

The time discipline was vital to physical health as well as mental wellbeing:

"Following a timetable was vital. And sometimes you needed to break it down a bit as well, say for example within the 3 hours of training, what you would want to focus on. The same for revision, like which chapters you needed to focus on. As a student athlete, I felt like I was in control, I felt well prepared, and that helped my wellbeing too [...] People in my course, as we were doing Sports Science after all, we were all quite physically active, I mean like most of us played at least one sport. I had a part-time job to do for my professional football club, whereas some of them had to work part-time as personal trainers or yoga instructors. So, we all had to follow a schedule. In contrast, there were people in my hall who studied quantitative finance or mathematics, they were younger than me for like 5 years, as I had already finished my Master's and they had only just started their undergraduate degree. But they looked much older, as if they could be my uncles. I think it was because they did not exercise at all. They spent most of their time studying in the student accommodation. They rarely left their room."

We can see how FKK took ownership of lived time, as displayed through a rigour towards temporal boundaries between sport and study. In *Being and Time*, Heidegger (1962) characterised Dasein as temporality. He argued from phenomenology, that time is derived from nature, experienced first-hand as the diurnal cycle of day and night, and the perennial cycle of the seasons, and in ageing and decay – these give Dasein's sense of duration and 'lived time', and allowing the projection of a future. FKK's experiences highlight that in order to be "in control" of his life and destiny, he had to claim and apportion his time rigorously to specific purposes. As a student athlete, he followed his timetable not just physically, but also mentally: he would remind himself to avoid ruminating about his modules during time reserved for training, and he stressed the importance of knowing "what to focus on" prior to the session. This temporal sense-making recalls a previous finding on runners and boxers that "psychological preparation for the training session ahead is vital" (Allen-Collinson & Owton, 2015, p.256). He even accounts for his perception of aging and of physical differences between himself and inactive students, through his hold on lived time.

Embodied self: Sharpening mind and body

FKK recalls how maintaining balance between exercising and studying helped to keep both body and mind active:

"If you don't exercise, you may need actual medicine, like pills or things like that. But if you do exercise regularly, you probably don't need any of that. I think that was an important lesson I learned through my experiences as a student athlete. Maybe football did not make me a world champion, but it did help my wellbeing. Not just physically, but also psychologically, you know. I think wellbeing is probably the most important thing for people in general. I think even if you're not earning a lot of money, but you're both physically and psychologically well, then you'll be fine [...] I didn't want pills, so I just had to keep playing football, you know. I was like, I couldn't handle liquid medicine at all! Oh, and I hated Panadol too. So yeah, that was pretty much why I needed sport. As for my studies, I was aware of the importance of knowledge. I knew that I had to know more. It was not just about going to the library to read a book, but also about being able to digest, analyse, and apply the things you learned."

He elaborates on the irreplaceabilities of knowledge and exercise according to his lived experience:

"For human beings in general, the need for knowledge and the need to exercise are equally important. Both are irreplaceable. You need both in your life, regardless of whether you're a student athlete or not! The need for knowledge keeps your brain active. It enhances your ability to analyse, be critical, and think about the cause of something. Exercise, on the other hand, trains the rest of your body and keeps you well through the various ways I mentioned earlier. Yeah, I think that's how I reflect on my experiences as a student athlete [...] Even though I am a director now, I still attend workshops regularly, just to make sure that my knowledge is up to date. Even though I am no longer playing the game competitively, I still try to go for a run at around 5pm every other day, because I know that's what my body needs."

He claims that studying made him analytical, critical, and thoughtful, while playing football helped him feel well and kept him away from medicine. The account is reminiscent of Merleau-Ponty's (1962, p.203) "our own body is in the world as the heart is in the organism, it keeps the visible spectacle constantly alive, it breathes life into it and sustains it inwardly, and with it forms a system". Merleau-Ponty was attempting to explicate an understanding of the world, as it appears to us, as inseparable from our bodily insertion into it - he says they "form a system". Thus, the human being is a body-mind system where both co-create being-in-the-world in productive ways. When FKK says "I think for human beings in general, the need for knowledge and the need to exercise are equally important", he shows how maintaining both body and mind, for him, has reciprocal ramifications for their functioning as a system, that manifests as wellbeing. The training of the body that is not accompanied by a mind developing knowledge is like a body without a heart or a vehicle without navigation. Similarly, studying and acquiring knowledge without physical expression is like a heart without a body, unable to express its ardour though accomplishments in the world. As a student athlete, the mutual discipline of the mind and body were key to his wellbeing. He continued to sustain their symbiosis through his professional life, running and participating in continuing professional development to the present day.

Professional self: Widening career opportunity

FKK's status as an athlete and as a postgraduate were pivotal for his post-university career:

"When I was studying in Warwick, I thought, once I got my Master's, I should have no problem getting a decent job. And as expected, when I eventually came back to HK with the Master's, I felt that the degree was very useful, very useful indeed [...] I mean, that was probably why Cable TV invited me to be a football commentator. They were like, 'You got this Master's, your communication skills should be good enough', so they could count on me to do a good job commentating. Cable TV was very popular at that time, so I was proud to get the job."

After being hired as a football commentator in HK for Cable TV came an opportunity at Birmingham City Football Club:

"The degree helped me significantly – it gave me the permit to work as a financial director at Birmingham City [...] I felt like because of my study-sport balance, I had two different tools. Metaphorically, it was like I had a screwdriver and I also had a spanner, so yeah, two different things, both very useful. The guy who hired me to work as the financial director wanted someone with both tools. On the one hand, he needed someone with knowledge in business management, which was what my Master's was about. On the other hand, he also wanted a football person, and I think I could call myself a football person thanks to my experiences as a player. After all, we're talking about a football club."

He claims his experiences of playing the game alongside his communication skills and business knowledge made him the best candidate as a football commentator on live television and as a financial director of a football club. It is relevant to draw from two other parts of his transcript for further interpretation. First, he mentions that during the start of his career as a footballer, people in HK tended to think that "footballers represented people who were not educated". Second, despite his achievement as HK's first professional footballer with a Master's degree and his directorial job offers, he describes himself as "nothing special" and "just an ordinary guy". These show both dwelling and mobility are present in his sense of identity: A continuous sense of I can, coupled with a strong sense of I am – an ordinary guy who happened to be in the industry (Galvin & Todres, 2011).

Ryan and Deci's (2000) self-determination theory (SDT) offers a framework for further discussion of study-sport balance. SDT proposes that one's motivation to engage in a goal-directed behaviour is influenced by the degree to which three universal psychological needs are fulfilled: 1) autonomy (freedom of choice), 2) competence (ability to control the outcome), and 3) relatedness (a sense of shared experience). Individuals experiencing higher levels of satisfaction of these three needs are more likely to be self-determined and self-motivated (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Applying SDT, FKK's experience of autonomy, competence, and relatedness all contributed to his success in managing a balance between study and sport. It was his own choice to keep studying and playing football as a university student (autonomy). He was not coerced in either studies or sports, and emphasised a need for both in his life. This might not always be the case for student athletes, as David (2005) reports, the decision to engage in elite level sport or continue studies was more often taken by coaches or parents. In relation to competence, FKK believed in his own ability, in particular, to remain focused on a demanding schedule on a daily basis. According to Martin et al. (2010), some

student athletes may lack this discipline, becoming distracted by teammates during study sessions. In terms of relatedness, he felt connected to the people involved in both contexts: in his footballing world through deep connections with teammates, and in the academic world through classmates on a similarly tight schedule.

Taken together, FKK's understanding of his life during and after university helps to disclose how former student athletes are in position to enjoy good later-life outcomes, including perceived health, exercise adherence, and employability (Gallup, 2016; Stracciolini et al., 2018). This case study also contributes to the debate on whether high performance athletes (HPAs) should only focus on their sport, or continue in education as a dual career athlete. This question was raised in Pavlidis and Gargalianos' (2014) review of experts' opinions, focus group discussions, and case documentation. Those arguing for the former believed that: 1) winning should be the sole focus for HPAs; 2) pausing school should help HPAs focus more thoroughly on their sport; and 3) it would be very difficult for HPAs to find the time and energy to study amidst the frequent and intensive training required (Athletes to Business, 2011). Those arguing for the latter pointed out that: 1) HPAs should not focus solely on their sport, as injury or loss of form could put an end to their athletic careers prematurely; 2) retired HPAs experienced difficulty in finding work to support themselves financially due to lack of academic qualifications; and 3) education could guide HPAs into different occupations and enhance opportunities for maturation during and after an athletic career (Aquilina & Henry, 2010). FKK opted for the latter and this case study challenges the assumption that full-time education is too much for HPAs. His reflections on his work as football commentator for Cable TV and financial director for Birmingham City Football Club endorse the role of education in helping secure the future employability of HPAs.

CONCLUSION

Through in-depth analysis of data collected from semi-structured interviews, this study is the first to understand phenomenologically a former student athlete's lived experiences of elite level sport and academia. The analysis of FKK's lived experiences provides some illuminating insights into the integration of physical and mental wellbeing during university life and reflect on how these helped him chart a successful career.

A strength of this study is the richness of the interviews drawing from lived experience. The indepth interpretative analysis offers a detailed, insider's view of the challenges of high level sport and study internationally in HK and the UK. There is little existing qualitative research of this kind, and it was made possible by commonalities between the first author and the participant. According to Palmer et al. (2010), the quality of the interview hinges on the degree of shared experience between the researcher and participant. The first author grew up in HK, and studied as a local student in HK and as an international student in the UK. He completed a postgraduate degree and played for a university sports team in the UK, worked in HK's football industry, and is bilingual in Cantonese and English. These facilitated rapport throughout the interviews. As for the limitations, this is a single case study and thus generalisation is limited, and readers may judge for themselves the wider psychological import of the idiographic study. Further, the findings are the result of personal meaning-making of the participant and of the researchers, as appropriate to qualitative, phenomenological methodology, and thus do not indicate cause-and-effect relationships.

Finally, according to Stokoe et al. (2013), current university students tend to play down their achievements. This may possibly explain the relative lack of in-depth, successful experiences of coping in previous research on sports participation while at university. Given the findings from this study, future qualitative research may profitably seek to understand the lived experiences of other former student athletes in different sports and cultures, especially in terms of how they make sense of their wellbeing and achievements, both physical and intellectual, in different areas of their lives.

REFERENCES

Adler, P., & Adler, P. A. (1985). From Idealism to Pragmatic Detachment: The Academic Performance of College Athletes. *Sociology of Education*, 58(4), 241–250. https://doi.org/10.2307/2112226

Allen-Collinson, J., & Owton, H. (2015). Intense Embodiment: Senses of Heat in Women's Running and Boxing. Body & Society 21(2), 245-268. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357034X14538849

Aquilina, D., & Henry, I. (2010). Elite Athletes and University Education in Europe: A Review of Policy and Practice in Higher Education in the European Union Member States. *International Journal of Sport Policy and Politics*, 2(1), 25-47. https://doi.org/10.1080/19406941003634024

Athletes to Business. (2011). Promoting Dual Career in the EU. Brussels: EOC EU Office.

Azizi, M. (2011). Effects of Doing Physical Exercises on Stress-Coping Strategies and the Intensity of the Stress Experienced by University Students in Zabol, Southeastern Iran. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 30*, 372-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.073

Barker, J., McCarthy, P., Jones, M., & Moran, A. (2011). Single Case Research Methods in Sport and Exercise. London: Routledge.

Ben-Zur, H. (2009). Coping Styles and Affect. International Journal of Stress Management, 16(2), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015731

Bramley, N., & Eatough, V. (2005). The Experience of Living with Parkinson's Disease: An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis Case Study. *Psychology & Health*, 20(2), 223-235. https://doi.org/10.1080/088704404 12331296053

Chan, B. C. L., & Lee, B. (2020). Wellbeing and Personality through Sports: A Qualitative Study of Older Badminton Players in Two Cultures." *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *12*(3), 350-362. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1606850

Cosh, S., & Tully, P. J. (2015). Stressors, coping, and support mechanisms for student athletes combining elite sport and tertiary education: Implications for practice. *The Sport Psychologist*, 29(2), 120-133. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.2014-0102

Dale, G. A. (1996). Existential phenomenology: Emphasizing the experience of the athlete in sport psychology research. *The Sport Psychologist*, 10(4), 307-321. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.10.4.307

David, P. (2005). Human Rights in Youth Sport: A Critical Review of Children's Rights in Competitive Sports. London: Rutledge.

Fortes, P. C., Rodrigues, G., & Tchantchane, A. (2010). Investigation of Academic and Athletic Motivation on Academic Performance Among University Students. *International Journal of Trade, Economics and Finance*, 1(4). https://doi.org/10.7763/IJTEF.2010.V1.65

Gallup. (2016). Understanding Life Outcomes of Former NCAA Student-Athletes. Washington: Gallup World Headquarters.

Galvin, K., & Todres, L. (2011). Kinds of well-being: A conceptual framework that provides direction for caring. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 6(4), 10362. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v6i4.10362

Gaudreau, P., & Blondin, J. P. (2004). Different athletes cope differently during a sport competition: A cluster analysis of coping. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *36*(8), 1865-1877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2003.08.017

Hanton, S., Neil, R., Mellalieu, S. D., & Fletcher, D. (2008). Competitive experience and performance status: An investigation into multidimensional anxiety and coping. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 8(3), 143-152. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461390801987984

Hassan, A. R., Lam, M. H. S., Ku, S., Li, W. H. C., Lee, K. Y., Ho, E., ... & Wong, A. S. W. (2017). The reasons of dropout of sport in Hong Kong school athletes. *Health Psychology Research*, 5(1), 6766. https://doi.org/10.4081/hpr.2017.6766

Heidegger, M. (1962). Being and time (J. Macquarrie & E.Robinson, Trans.). Oxford: Blackwell.

Holmberg, C., Waters, E. A., Whitehouse, K., Daly, M., & McCaskill-Stevens, W. (2015). My lived experiences are more important than your probabilities: the role of individualized risk estimates for decision making about participation in the Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR). *Medical Decision Making*, *35*(8), 1010-1022. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X15594382

Horrocks, D. E., McKenna, J., Whitehead, A. E., Taylor, P. J., Morley, A. M., & Lawrence, I. (2016). Preparation, structured deliberate practice and decision making in elite level football: The case study of Gary Neville (Manchester United FC and England). *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, *11*(5), 673-682. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747954116667105

Kaiseler, M., Levy, A., Nicholls, A. R., & Madigan, D. J. (2019). The independent and interactive effects of the Big-Five personality dimensions upon dispositional coping and coping effectiveness in sport. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *17*(4), 410-426. https://doi.org/10.1080/1612197X.2017.1362459

Kaiseler, M., Polman, R. C., & Nicholls, A. R. (2012). Effects of the Big Five personality dimensions on appraisal coping, and coping effectiveness in sport. *European Journal of Sport Science*, *12*(1), 62-72. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2010.551410

Kazdin, A. E. (2011). *Single-case research designs: Methods for clinical and applied settings* (2nd ed.). New York: Oxford University Press.

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. New York: Springer.

Macpherson, G. (2017, May 1). A look back on the history of the Player of the Year award as PFA Scotland prepares to announce latest shortlist. *The Herald*. Retrieved from https://www.heraldscotland.com/sport/15258253.a-look-back-on-the-history-of-the-player-of-the-year-award-as-pfa-scotland-prepares-to-announce-latest-shortlist/

Martin, B. E., Harrison, C. K., Stone, J., & Lawrence, S. M. (2010). Athletic voices and academic victories: African American male student-athlete experiences in the Pac-Ten. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, *34*(2), 131-153. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723510366541

McKenna, J., & Dunstan-Lewis, N. (2004). An action research approach to supporting elite student-athletes in higher education. *European Physical Education Review*, *10*(2), 179-198. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356336X04044070 Merleau-Ponty, M. (1962). *Phenomenology of Perception* (C. Smith, Trans.). London: Routledge.

Nicholls, A. R., & Polman, R. C. (2007). Coping in sport: A systematic review. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 25(1), 11-31. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410600630654

Palmer, M., Larkin, M., de Visser, R., & Fadden, G. (2010). Developing an interpretative phenomenological approach to focus group data. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 7(2), 99-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780880802513194

Papanikolaou, Z., Nikolaidis, D., Patsiaouras, A., & Alexopoulos, P. (2003). Commentary: The freshman experience: High stress-low grades. *Athletic Insight: The Online Journal of Sport Psychology*, 5(4). https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2004-11414-003

Pavlidis, G., & Gargalianos, D. (2014). High performance athletes' education: Value, challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Physical Education and Sport*, 14(2), 293-300. https://doi.org/10.7752/jpes.2014.02044

Rothschild-Checroune, E., Gravelle, F., Dawson, D., & Karlis, G. (2012). Balancing academic and athletic time management: A qualitative exploration of first year student athletes' university football experiences. *Loisir et Société/ Society and Leisure*, *35*(2), 243-261. https://doi.org/10.1080/07053436.2012.10707843

Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). The darker and brighter sides of human existence: Basic psychological needs as a unifying concept. *Psychological Inquiry*, *11*(4), 319-338. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_03

Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. Theory, method and research. London: Sage Publications.

Stokoe, E., Benwell, B., & Attenborough, F. (2013). University students managing engagement, preparation, knowledge and achievement: Interactional evidence from institutional, domestic and virtual settings. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction*, 2(2), 75-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lcsi.2013.01.001

Stracciolini, A., Amar-Dolan, L., Howell, D. R., Alex, T., Berkner, P., Peluso, M., Kurtz, M., Mannix, R., & Meehan. W. P. (2018). Female sport participation effect on long-term health-related quality of life. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, *30*(6), 526-532. https://doi.org/10.1097/JSM.00000000000645

UKactive. (2020). Physically active students have improved wellbeing and social connections, new survey from ukactive and partners shows. Retrieved from https://www.ukactive.com/news/physically-active-students-have-improved-wellbeing-and-social-connections-new-survey-from-ukactive-and-partners-shows/

Contact Information:

WYL124, Dorothy Y L Wong Building Department of Psychology, Lingnan University, Tuen Mun, Hong Kong; cheuklongchan@ln.edu.hk; 0000-0003-4349-2167 (16-digit ORCID)

Sport as Part of a Good Life: Investigating the Debate

Lukáš Mareš

University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Theology, Department of Philosophy and Religious Studies

ABSTRACT

This paper is concerned with the question "What is the role of sport in a good life?". My aim is to highlight the key approaches and core positions in the philosophical debate on the role of sport in a good life. I argue that these approaches can be divided into three general categories: (1) negative: sport does not belong to the realm of a good life); (2) differentiated: sport contributes to living a good life, but it is not the main domain; and (3) affirmative: sport significantly contributes to living a good life. I want to point to those aspects of sport to which the identified positions refer and some interesting arguments that these positions offer. The originality of this research lies in clarifying the main approaches (i.e., describing their general content and structure) and making their arguments explicit. This article is of theoretical nature and uses tools that are standardly used when dealing with these types of research questions, with the most important ones being description, demonstration of relevant thoughts, comparison, evaluation, and interpretation.

Keywords: philosophy of sport; good life; sports ethics; wellbeing, flourishing

INTRODUCTION

The problem of living well in relation to the potential role of sport in it has been discussed quite extensively among philosophers of sport (Suits, 2014, originally 1978; Pisk, 2006; Morgan, 2010; Feezell, 2013; Breivik, 2022). This is understandable since the debate on what a good life consists in presents one of the main topics in the history of thought. My intention here is to focus on the question "What is the role of sport in a good life?".

The goal of this paper is to point out the key positions in a debate on the role of sport in a good life. My ambition is therefore not to map the debate in detail nor to offer an exhaustive list of all the existing approaches since this would be a task for a comprehensive monograph. I also won't attempt to evaluate all the pros and cons of particular positions to defend the one I subscribe to. As the discussions in the scholarly literature are quite extensive and sophisticated, my task here will be to look at them from a certain distance to see the overall picture of their structure. My intention is to offer a philosophical perspective on the relation between sport and a good life. In doing so, I focus on the core approaches that, in my opinion, represent the basis for the philosophical investigation of the aforementioned question. References used in this text are meant to be illustrative, not exhaustive. Based on my readings I divide the main approaches into three general categories:

- Negative (sport does not belong to the realm of a good life);
- Differentiated (sport contributes to living a good life, but it is not the main domain); and
- Affirmative (sport significantly contributes to living a good life).

I want to highlight those aspects of sport to which the identified positions refer and some general arguments that these positions offer. I work not only with approaches that directly speak about sport in relation to a good life, but I also include those lines of thought that represent an implicit argumentative basis of these positions, although they do not directly refer to sport or a good life. The importance and originality of this essay lies in clarifying the main approaches (i.e., describing their general content and structure) and making their arguments explicit. This "mapping of the terrain" is valuable because it helps us to understand better what the debate on the role of sport in a good life is about. It also helps one to see what lines of thought are worthy of a detailed future investigation.

An important specification concerns the term "sport". I take (modern) sport to be "an institutionalised, rule-governed, structurally game and play-like (non-necessary, non-ordinary, arbitrary, and gratuitous) encounter in various tests and contests of human physical skills" (Mareš and Novotný, 2023, p. 43). Although the word "sport" first appeared in the 15th century (McClelland, 2017, p. 83) and its etymology reaches back to the 12th century (Olivová, 1988, p. 8), the cluster of activities that the concept of sport represents is rather old and already traceable before the invention of the word, for example in the ancient Greek culture.¹ I do not intend to simplify a rather complex history and meaning of various physical activities by simply calling them "sports". Not everything we call sports are in fact sports. On the contrary, some activities that are not called sports might actually be sports. When I refer to sport in this article, I mean the type of activity described above. When appropriate, I also refer to other types of human activities that are similar to sport (e.g., physical exercises - techné gymnastiké, or games). The fact that a particular activity is not inherently a sport does not mean that the theses about it cannot apply to sport by analogy. The quoted authors usually have their own notion of what sport is. Since they share a common point of reference, I leave the details of their conceptions aside and focus only on their arguments regarding the value of sporting activity.

¹ The use of the term sport in the context of ancient Greece is problematic, given its linguistic origins and modern usage. Although the physical and competitive activities of the ancient Greeks had strong ritual, religious, and philosophical overtones, I consider it possible to describe many of them as "sporting", given the intrinsic aspects of the activities in question. However, this designation should be taken with a grain of salt. In many ways, physical encounters meant something different from what they mean today. It is also problematic to draw a line between sports, physical exercises, and the various games that were practised in ancient Greece.

Another important specification concerns the term "good life". I approach this concept only through the discussed positions. In particular, I briefly specify what conception of a good life is preferred or presupposed by the relevant authors. Detailed analysis of the content of these positions must be left for another occasion.

Sport as Part of a Good Life

Conceptualizing sport within the domain of a good life is a theoretical project. However, it is also tightly linked to a more practical concern, namely how shall we live our lives and to which activities shall we devote our limited time. Is it reasonable to devote our lives to sport? If yes, on what rational basis can we do that? On the contrary, what are the arguments that speak against such a devotion? What is the precise point of reference of these arguments? Philosophers discussing sport have provided interesting (implicit or explicit) answers to these questions. I will now address the main positions in the debate on the role of sport in a good life which will be discussed in the following order: negative, differentiated, and affirmative.

Negative positions

In general, negative positions refer to certain defects of particular sporting forms or occurrences (predominantly highly competitive or professional sport and Olympic sport), or point to sport's little value in comparison with the more important pursuits. In case of the former, authors especially criticize excessive performance connected with a strong emphasis on results, material prizes, and winning at any cost. This emphasis represents a challenge for modern highly competitive and professional result-oriented sports, but it is already tracible in the context of ancient Greek sport (Pisk, 2006, p. 68). Jirásek (2005, pp. 141-142) states that sport contains traditional and authentic values and opportunities (fair play, performance, victory, or sportsmanship), but it is also exposed to risks of immoral attitudes (cheating to win), instrumentalization of human body (depersonalisation), commercialisation, and politization (ideological manipulation, indoctrination). This position is further developed by Feezell (2013) who claims:

"Certain critics are disturbed by the moral atmosphere of sports and the way they encourage the inevitable side effects of competition: aggression, violence, alienation, and a lack of civility. As highly commercialized competitive activities, sports often highlight greed, crass materialism, egotism, and, at least every four years, jingoistic nationalism." (p. 190)

Feezell points to the Olympic sport which is criticized also by other authors. Kreft (2019) formulates his criticism of the Olympic sport as follows: "[Sport] initially was and still is organised based on the aristocratic and elitists distribution of power, which allows elite associations and elite Olympic movement... to rule over sport and athletes." (p. 257) A radical leftist critique of modern Olympism is offered by Simonović (2004, pp. 9-11). Olympic games are described as the instrument for integrating people into the spiritual orbit of capitalism. Simonović presents Olympism as an aggressive totalitarian ideology that promotes, among other things, sex segregation, abuse of children, turning sportsmen into modern slaves, and drug abuse. Considerably less radical critique is offered by Suits (1988, p. 9) who maintains that in the Olympics there is a kind of compulsion to win which turns a game that could be play into something that is not play, i.e., the valuable play potential of sport is not realised.

It is important to note that these critiques (whether or not we accept their adequacy is a separate issue) do not refer to sport as a type of activity, but rather highlight certain negative features of particular sporting forms and events situated in a given historical and cultural context. They are mainly concerned with professional sport and often they point to some wider cultural problems of which sport is a certain mirror (e.g., materialism, emphasis on results, or wasting resources especially in case of sports mega events).² The critique is therefore cultural or sociological, not primarily conceptual (i.e., does not refer to sport as a type of activity). This cultural critique does not deny the positive potential of the Olympic sport. As Loland (2012) notes: "If practiced in sound and responsible ways, Olympic sport can be an exponent of admirable forms of human excellence with validity not only in sport but in society at large." (p. 163) Stronger critique would deny this potential and point to the fundamental problems in the concept of the Olympic sport as such. Simonović seems to go in this direction.

The critique presented so far implicitly rejects the inclusion of sport into the context of a good life on the basis of sport's defective forms. It does not tell us explicitly what a good life consists in, but only suggests what is not desirable in life. An overemphasis on performance and results together with economic or power-oriented instrumentalization of sport generally stand out as undesirable elements that obscure the playful (autotelic) and developmental potential of sport.

The latter critique of sport attempts to show sport's little value with respect to potentially more valuable activities. Already in the late 6th and early 5th century BC, philosopher Xenophanes (Fragments DK 21 B2) mocks the importance of physical strength and athletic achievements. He suggests that these qualities do not make the polis better nor do they stand higher that the pursuit of wisdom. Modern representative of this critique is Chomsky (2014) who characterizes (professional) sport as an "... a rea which has no meaning and probably thrives because it has no meaning..." Chomsky argues that there are different areas that really matter to human life. Focusing on sport is compared to living in a fantasy world without paying attention to the real issues: "One of the functions that things like professional sports play, in our society and others, is to offer an area to deflect people's attention from things that matter..."³ Presented thesis is a glimpse of a larger objection against the role of sport in a good life, namely that sport is either worthless, dangerous, and even despicable (Feezell, 2013, p. 189), or at least not as important as other areas. This latter part of the objection can be explicit (as in the case of Xenophanes or Chomsky), or implicit (as in the case of conceptions that do not exclude sport but highlight different ways of living, e.g., contemplative, religious, or political). Such critique goes deeper than the former (pointing to some defects of some instances of sport) as it refuses to ascribe positive value to sport in general. Instead, it interprets sport and its defining properties (e.g., competition with others) as something undesirable, even harmful.

A detailed critique of competing with others is formulated by Luper (1986) who argues against the position of Competitivism.⁴ The central distinction of such view is between competitive and non-competitive properties. The second group of properties involves the examples of roundness,

² Oborný (in our private correspondence) claimed that a good life and the professional sport are incompatible categories. According to Oborný, this form of sport is too cultural and unnatural for human beings.

³ The question remains whether this criticism applies exclusively to sport or whether it can be extended to other "non-productive" activities, e.g., fine arts (painting, sculpture, music, or poetry).

⁴ Luper (1986, p. 167) presents Competitivism as a type of Perfectionism. This theory holds that excellence is either essential to a good life or at least intrinsically good.

redness, or having a friend. These properties are not competitive in a way that having one does not imply that others won't have the given property. Competitive properties, on the other hand, require rivalry and certain polarization. Luper offers the following example (1986):

"... we might say that a good sprinter is one who can sprint faster than the average sprinter, that a good swimmer is one who can outswim the average swimmer, etc. The property of being able to outrun the average racehorse has a characteristic in common with being able to outswim the average swimmer: in order to have either, an item must compete successfully with other items of the same type. Such properties are the offspring of rivalry, and can aptly be termed 'competitivist'." (p. 167)

The author then extends this model to the concept of living a good life (1986):

"Just as a good racehorse must have the competitive property of being faster than average, the thought goes, so a good live must possess various properties to a degree that exceeds the average... a good X is one that has certain properties to a greater degree than the average X." (p. 168)

According to Luper, the claim that competitive properties are essential to a good life is a tragic error generated by the absurd view that a worthwhile life is like a contest won. One of the problems of such view is that it precludes a plurality of good lives ("if to be good is to score higher than the average life, then some lives must be average or below, and hence not good"). Luper (1986, 170) concludes that competitive properties cannot be essential to the goodness of life.

The critique of Competitivism as applied to sport could be formulated in the following syllogism: (a): Good life does not involve competitive properties (i.e., trying to be better than others); (b): Sport involves competing with others and a commitment to excel in a contest; therefore (c): Sport is not part of a good life. Although the conclusion follows from the premises, both premises could be problematized. For example, one could say that the second premise does not apply to all instances of sport, but only to its competitive, performance-oriented variants, which consider the main purpose of sport to be outdoing others and winning the competition. It is also possible to problematize the first premise, i.e., that competition with others is purely negative.⁵

In contrast to the first line of criticism, the second critique is more explicit about what a good life consists in and what types of activities are worth pursuing in life. These include the pursuit of wisdom and an active interest in solving social and political issues (Xenophanes, Chomsky) or building good interpersonal relationships (Luper).⁶ Sport is interpreted as an activity that does not significantly contribute to these valuable endeavours, and thus does not belong to the sphere of a good life.

⁵ Some philosophers of sport (among others Hyland, Simon, or Nguyen) have attempted to demonstrate that competition is not necessarily something negative. It could be conceptualized as a cooperative enterprise. The intention then is not to beat or destroy the opponent, but rather to strive together and approach the other as an important element in the process. Under this view, although someone wins and the others lose, everyone can benefit from participating in a contest.

⁶ Luper (1986, p. 174) suggests that a crucial element of a good life (and a universal intrinsic good) is being in a certain sort of non-competitive relationships with others. My impression is that Luper does not deny the value of excelling in something (even in sports), but only point to the negative aspects of extreme dedication and strong competition with others.

Differentiated positions

The common ground of the differentiated positions is that they ascribe some positive value to sport, but also add that sport's value is limited, conditional, and that sport is not the main domain towards which (all) humans should focus their attention. Representatives of this position are ancient Greek thinkers Plato and Aristotle, who acknowledge educational role of sporting and sport-like activities (techné gymnastiké) in the context of living a good life. In Plato's Republic, physical training and sporting activities are presented as part of a rigorous, yet balanced educational programme which prepares certain classes (guardians, rulers) of the polis for a good community service. These activities are important, but not exclusive means for cultivating the goodness of character (Cooper, 1997, 410b–412b). Reid (2007) summarizes their role as follows: "In Plato's Republic sport serves the educational objectives of personal virtue, intellectual achievement, and political harmony." (p. 160)⁷

Similarly, Aristotle understood physical cultivation as a way to acquire virtues (specifically fortitude, andreia, see Barnes 1995, 1337b, 20–30), health, and beauty (i.e., external goods and conditions for happiness, eudaimonia), but the activities that best fulfil the purpose of human beings are of a different sort, namely intellectual activities, specifically contemplation (Barnes, 1995, 1177a, 10–20). Reid (2020, 69) in the context of Aristotle's conception further specifies that athletic training can only contribute to virtue when it is complemented by an effort to understand what is good and beautiful. Moreover, such sporting practices must be well-balanced and must avoid excesses (Barnes, 1995, 1338b, 40-1339a, 5). Therefore, sport's overall value in the context of a good life is limited and conditional. Sport is valued as an instrument for reaching higher goals and as a platform for personal cultivation if it meets certain standards and criteria. Hurka (1993) summarizes Aristotelian position on the value of physical activities as follows:

"Most of us are not outstanding athletes and cannot achieve the highest physical perfection. Still, we can preserve our basic health and pursue whatever mild athletics are compatible with our main projects. We have instrumental reasons to do both these things. Physical activity keeps us alert and can be the medium for some exercise of rationality. If Aristotelian perfectionism is correct, however, this activity is also a modest intrinsic good, as the development of our physical nature." (p. 39)

Under the discussed "differentiated" view, sport could also be interpreted as a form of compensation. It not only helps us to develop our physical nature, but also to distract ourselves from the workaday concerns and to regain physical and mental strength for pursuing projects of higher value. Sport is then seen as a type of relaxation after work.

Moreover, sport is approached as an instrument for developing healthy cooperation between people. This notion is apparent in the modern Olympic movement. The aim and purpose of the new Olympic Games, captured in the Olympic Charter (2021), is an educational ideal of human development (Jirásek, 2018). The second fundamental principle of Olympism states: "The goal of Olympism is to place sport at the service of the harmonious development of humankind, with a view to promoting a peaceful society concerned with the preservation of human dignity." Sporting competition is intended to build not only individual character, but also human community through

⁷ Sporting activities in ancient Greece were closely connected with military preparations and were meant to produce soldiers that will protect the polis. This is apparent not only in Sparta, but also in Athenian gymnasia (Olivová, 1988, pp. 100, 106).

fostering bonds of friendship between people and a sense for belonging (Jirásek, 2005, p. 277).⁸ However, to what extent is this goal actually being realised remains to be a question and a potential subject for criticism.

The aforementioned examples of the differentiated positions see sport as a potentially valuable instrument for cultivating the goodness of character, enabling individuals to pursue projects of higher value, and promoting interpersonal relationships. Sport in a sense of active participation is part of a good life, but only to a certain extent. These positions highlight that there are other more important things in life that one should pay attention to, namely public service (Plato), contemplation (Aristotle), production (capitalism), or peaceful cooperation between nations (Coubertin).

Differentiated positions also calculate with individual/personal perspectives and subjective preferences. Fry (2004, p. 41) in this respect states that a well-played sport is an intrinsically valuable activity (insofar as it exemplifies fairness, decency, teamwork, and a quest for excellence), but a passionate participation in sport is not a norm for humans in general. One does not have to be an excellent athlete to live a good life. However, Fry adds that for some individuals, the challenges posed by sports are especially meaningful, because the goods that are realizable through sports (e.g., the felt quality of the sport experience) are not readily available through other avenues. This conception shifts our attention from sport to a sporting individual. Here, sport is part of a good life for those individuals (or communities) that have a personal relation to it, but those who don't may pursue different quests that will be important for them.

Affirmative positions

Positions that conceptualize sport within the domain of a good life highlight internal qualities of sport together with its positive impact on human wellbeing and flourishing. Classical representative is Bernard Suits who considers playing games and sports to be the essence of his Utopian vision and constituent of the ideal of existence (2014, pp. 189, 194).⁹ Throughout his body of work Suits provides various reasons why these activities are so important. He considers sport to be a type of intrinsic good that, along with many other things, makes up the class of goals to which we ascribe primary seriousness (1973, p. 19). Due to its inner structure (specific rules, goals, and means how to reach these goals), game playing (and arguably sport) "... makes it possible to retain enough effort in Utopia to make a life worth living" (2014, p. 189).¹⁰

⁸ In the Czech context it is worth mentioning the figure of Miroslav Tyrš who regarded physical exercise as a means for achieving national goals, the establishment of democracy, and catalyst to Slavonic cooperation and mutuality. Tyrš was an opponent of competitive sport. He championed harmony and kalokagathia (Platonic teaching based on a philosophy of corporeal, moral and spiritual whole), aesthetics and ethics in physical activity (Jirásek and Hopsicker, 2010, p. 257).

⁹ Utopia represents a state of affairs where all of the instrumental activities, economical and interpersonal problems are eliminated and where all of the basic goods are easily accessible. Suits then looks for activities that his Utopians would pursue and identifies game playing as the most suitable candidate (Suits, 2014, pp. 182-189). Suits positively values both games and sports. In his main text (The Grasshopper), he does not offer a clear distinction between the value of playing games and the value of participating in sports, i.e., both types of activities are of a similar importance.

¹⁰ Suits offers a detailed conceptual analysis of play, game, and sport. His well know definition of game playing states (Suits, 2014): "To play a game is to attempt to achieve a specific state of affairs (pre-lusory goal), using

The significance of games and sports is based not only on ontology (the nature of the activities in question), but also on philosophical anthropology (human nature). The reason why Suits paid such a high attention to games and sports is partly because they enable to realize human potential in a unique way: "People play games so that they can realize in themselves capacities not realizable (or not readily so) in the pursuit of their ordinary activities." (1973, p. 14) Playing games thus resonate deeply with what does it mean to be a human being. Suits here seems to advocate a certain kind of perfectionism about wellbeing (Fletcher 2016). He asserts that humans have a specific set of capacities that derive from human nature and whose exercise and development is good for humans. Lopez Frías (2022) describes Suits' anthropology in relation to his theory of gameplay as follows:

"... for Suits, the defining marks of human nature are the struggle to overcome obstacles and the exercise of autonomy... human beings fulfil their nature when they manage to arrange their lives to give themselves obstacles of their choosing to exercise and develop the capacities from which they derive the highest level of satisfaction." (p. 129)

Sports, although not the sole constituents of a good life, possess qualities that significantly contribute to human flourishing. For Suits, sports are important platforms for exercising and developing human capacities whose exercise and development is an important element of living a good life.¹¹

Another account of a good life that involves sporting practices is presented by Morgan (2010). Good life is conceptualized as one in which wholehearted engagement in the social practices that human agents take up is the significant feature. Sport is presented as a sector in which such engagement is the norm rather than the exception. Morgan (2010) specifies that being truly engaged is dependent on recognizing sports' internal value and sports' internal goods: "... in order to engage fully in a practice like sport one must be motivated principally by, and committed foremost and utmost to, its internal goods." (pp. 249-250) Sport may bring about external goods such as money, fame, or power, but the true value of sport comes from its inner structure and the standards of excellence it embodies. Similarly, Breivik (2022, p. 28) states that by taking part in sport people can experience the intrinsic values and meanings that come with such participation.

The value of engagement in sports and games is also based on the assertion that they allow us to carve out new ways of being and even confront the absurdity of our existence. This point is developed by Ryall (2021) in her reaction to Nguyen (2020):

"The best games are those which allow us to stretch our abilities but also our imagination. Games allow us to carve out new ways of being and experiment with the consequences. The fact that I can play and replay a game in a way that is not afforded in other aspects of life, or even with

only means permitted by rules (lusory means), where the rules prohibit use of more efficient in favor of less efficient means (constitutive rules), and where the rules are accepted just because they make possible such activity (lusory attitude)." (p. 43) The shorter definition has this form: "Playing a game is the voluntary attempt to overcome unnecessary obstacles." (p. 43) According to Suits, games and sports are more sophisticated than play and due to their inner nature more valuable. For more details on the relation between play, game, and sport see Suits (1988). The author who defends the value of play is the classic Huizinga (see his opus magnum Homo ludens), according to whom play and playfulness are the symbol of a good life.

Suits (1974) further argues that there is not a single proper function that human beings should perform. Instead, he advocates that there is virtually an uncountable number of functions that are proper for human beings. He formulates this claim as an argument against Aristotle's conception of human nature and its proper function.

other forms of art, gives it a special value. In this sense, it portrays the ultimate existential value: I can create and recreate myself infinitely... games may also force us to confront the absurdity of our lives in a way that other activities do not, since we are aware that the goal towards which we

Ryall here bases the value of playing games on the possibility of repetition which allows one to re-create oneself in the process of playing. The goal of this process is "only" temporal and somehow unforced (arbitrary). It reminds an individual of the temporality of her existence and encourages one to explore the new ways of being that open up in the process of playing. For Ryall, games (and also sports) thus emerge as an existential category. On a general level, they represent a specific possibility of coming to terms with the world. They are meaningful ways of grappling with the fate of a finite, inscrutable and in some ways absurd existence.

are striving is a temporary one that we may choose to ignore." (Ryall, 2021, p. 434)¹²

These and other affirmative positions refer to sport as a type of activity involving various positive qualities internal to it. Such qualities (e.g., a difficult framework that allows a person to act in the new modes of action) are presented as ones that contribute significantly to individual and social wellbeing and flourishing.¹³ The good life in these conceptions means active immersion in activities that bring pleasure to a person, allowing him to realize and develop his ludic nature, motor skills, specific capacities, and modes of action. What matters is living with a passion for movement, play, and the quality of experiencing the present moment.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE MAIN THESES OF THE PRESENTED POSITIONS

Negative positions

- Critique of particular forms of sporting practices: There are many problems associated with the specific forms of sporting practice (especially with professional sport), such as overemphasis on performance, one-sided obsession with results, exploitation of athletes, instrumentalization of the human body, corruption, cheating, or aggressive behaviour of athletes (or fans).
- **Critique of the value of the activity**: Sport is generally not a valuable activity. There are more valuable activities and areas in human life that one should be interested in.
- **Critique of Competitivism:** Competition with others involves certain problems, e.g., polarizing people into categories of winners and losers, and is therefore undesirable.

13 Jirásek (in our private correspondence) problematizes the idea that the goodness of sport is constituted by the structure of the activity and its internal qualities (e.g., specific goals related to the framework of testing various physical skills). He advocates that this level is insufficient and emphasizes the role of values that are represented by the activity. My intention here is to point to the internal qualities of sport that are highlighted in the scholarly literature. I agree that a comprehensive discussion on the goodness of sport and its role in a good life would have to include values and specific contexts of their manifestation. For a comprehensive discussion on a good sport see Mareš (2023).

¹² A radical view related to the absurdity of our existence would question whether there is such a thing as a good life. However, even under such view, sport (due to its inner qualities) could still be conceptualized as a certain antidote to a meaningless existence.

Differentiated positions

- **Sphere of upbringing and education:** Sport is one of those areas of physical culture in which a person is specifically educated for life. Sport contributes significantly to the development of physical fitness and character of a person, i.e., to the acquisition and strengthening of certain virtues (e.g., bravery, endurance, or discipline).
- **Sphere of compensation:** *Through sport, people can regain energy after strenuous work tasks. Sporting encounter is a form of rest and recharging for the pursuit of worthwhile human activities.*
- **Sphere of interpersonal relationships**: Sport helps to build healthy interpersonal (personal and societal) relationships based on cooperation, mutual respect, and respect for shared rules.
- **Sphere of individual interests:** Sport is a meaningful and valuable activity for selected individuals, namely those who are interested in it and enjoy their participation, but participating in sport is not the "norm" for all.

Affirmative positions

- **Sphere of activity:** Sport involves the goods inherent for this type of human practice. It is an activity with inherent qualities worth pursuing, i.e., an area of intrinsic value. This value relates primarily to the performance of physical (movement) skills.
- **Sphere of human engagement:** Sport contributes significantly to human flourishing by the way it engages people physically and experientially, and through the modes of action to which an athlete is exposed. Sport enables an individual to develop his/her natural (especially physical) capacities. It also brings joy, satisfaction, and a range of other valuable experiences.
- Existential sphere: Sport significantly enters into the life situation of a person. It allows to create new ways of being and specific confrontation (or coping) with the finality and possible absurdity of human existence.

CONCLUSION

Presented list of positions shows that in their critique or support of the role of sport in a good life, authors focus on different aspects of sporting practices. Negative positions point to certain defects of particular sporting forms and occurrences. In doing so, they do not necessarily criticise sport as a type of activity, but rather they argue against some ways of how sport is being practiced. This critique could be interpreted as cultural since sport mirrors certain general features and values of a particular culture. However, some of these positions refer to sports' little value in comparison with other types of activities. Sport is then presented as an area that serves no valuable purpose and that is undesirable, even harmful. Differentiated positions acknowledge sports' positive features, but they try to frame them into a larger context of what a good life consists in. Here, sport is not the main domain, but it may be a valuable part of education (in a broad sense) that aims at some higher goals (e.g., political leadership, intellectual achievements, peaceful coexistence between nations, and production) or it may be valuable for some people, but not for everyone. Affirmative

positions highlight sports' internal qualities, i.e., its intrinsic value together with the unique forms of agency and experiences connected with this type of human practice. Their focus is on debunking the nature of sport to demonstrate its relevance in a good life.

So how does sport stand in the context of a good life? Contemporary sport is clearly not without its problems. Various literature on sport ethics (e.g., Kreft, 2019; Zurc, 2019; Pérez Triviño, 2013) reminds us of the challenges that the contemporary sport faces. Moreover, despite its potential inner qualities, sport (and virtually any other type of human conduct) is arguably not the sole occupation in the context of living a good life. When we put too much emphasis on one good (i.e., sport or play), it will be at the cost of some other goods. Therefore, it will lead to disbalance which represents a threat to a good life. Luper (1986) in this respect says:

"To excel at something requires an inordinate amount of attention to one limited area, and the neglect of equally important concerns. For example, training schedule required to be the best swimmer would impose an inordinate sacrifice on one's education and social life. Skewing our activities toward one goal would lead us to neglect other projects and the needs of our spouses, children and friends." (p. 173)¹⁴ Whether or not sport belongs to the realm of a good life is not determined solely by the sport itself (i.e., by its form and its desired properties) but also by the preferred notion of a good life. Here I only wish to suggest that considering sport and taking its positive qualities seriously may open up space for a more holistic notions of a good life. Such considerations may enrich our thinking about the human nature, its capacities, and the types of conduct that will promote human flourishing. Moreover, sport brings into light topics that are often neglected in a wider philosophical debate on a good life, such as corporeality (i.e., human physical skills), game, play, and "positive" encountering (with rules, other people, ourselves, nature, and the surrounding environment). Taking sport seriously may challenge some traditional, more rationally based conceptions of living a good life and stimulate us to look at the traditional philosophical questions such as "Who we are?" and "Why are we here?" from a different perspective. Therefore, I conclude that the future philosophical debates on a good life will benefit greatly from considering this area of human practice and the spheres it thematizes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper was presented at the Philosophical Budweis-Bamberg Workshop Conference (15th and 16th December 2022) hosted by the Otto-Friedrich Universität Bamberg (Germany). I would like to thank the participants of this workshop for their valuable feedback and questions.

REFERENCES

Barnes, J. (Ed.). (1995). The Complete Works of Aristotle: The Revised Oxford Translation (Vols. 1-2, 6th printing). Princeton: Princeton University Press.

¹⁴ It is important to note that whenever we devote ourselves to something, it is at the expense of something else. If we want to be good at some activity, it requires sacrificing time and a number of other items. This is a problem when the sacrifices involved are disproportionate, i.e., when some basic goods (e.g., friendship or knowledge) are neglected in the long run and only certain activities are unilaterally prioritized.

Breivik, G. (2022). Sport as Part of a Meaningful Life. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 49(1), 19–36. Cooper, J. M. (Ed.). (1997). *Plato: Complete Works*. Indianapolis; Cambridge: Hacket Publishing Company. Feezell, R. (2013). *Sport, Philosophy, and Good Lives*. Lincoln and London: University of Nebraska Press.

Fletcher, G. (2016). The Philosophy of Well-Being: An Introduction. London and New York: Routledge.

Hurka, T. (1993). Perfectionism. New York and Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Chomsky, N. (2014). Why Americans Know So Much about Sports But So Little about World Affairs. *AlterNet*. Link: https://www.alternet.org/2014/09/noam-chomsky-why-americans-know-so-much-about-sports-so-little-about-world-affairs.

Jirásek, I. (2005). Filosofická kinantropologie: setkání filosofie, těla a pohybu [Philosophical Kinanthropology: Meeting of Philosophy, Body, and Movement]. Olomouc: Palacký University.

Jirásek, I. (2018). Religion and Spirituality in Sport. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology*. Link: https://oxfordre.com/psychology/display/10.1093/acrefore/9780190236557.001.0001/acrefore-9780190236557-e-149;jsessi onid=5413F277E97FBA5E67F42E38588FFAE7?rskey=8BuETc&result=1.

Jirásek, I. & Hopsicker, P. M. (2010). Philosophical Kinanthropology (Philosophy of Physical Culture, Philosophy of Sport) in Slavonic Countries: The Culture, the Writers, and the Current Directions. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport* 37(2), 253–270.

Kreft, L. (2019). From Kant to Contemporary Ethics of Sport. Synthesis Philosophica, 68(2), 253-265.

Loland, S. (2012). A Well Balanced Life Based on 'The Joy of Effort': Olympic Hype or a Meaningful Ideal? *Sport, Ethics and Philosophy*, 6(2), 155–165.

Lopez Frías, F. J. (2022). Ants, Grasshoppers, Asshoppers, and Crickets Cohabit in Utopia: The Anthropological Foundations of Bernard Suits' Analyses of Gameplay and Good Living. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 49(1), 117–133. Luper, S. (1986). Competing for the Good Life. *American Philosophical Quarterly*, 23(2), 167–179.

Mareš, L. (2023). 'Good Sport': Different Dimensions and their Constitutive Properties from the Ontological and Moral Point of View. *Physical Culture and Sport. Studies and Research*, 99(1), 27–42.

Mareš, L. & Novotný, D. D. (2023). What Is Sport? A Response to Jim Parry. Sport, Ethics and Philosophy, 17(1), 34–48. McClelland, J. (2017). Early Modern Athletic Contests: Sport or Not Sport? In S. E. Klein (Ed.), Defining Sport: Conceptions and Borderlines (78–97). Lanham, Boulder, New York, London: Lexington Books.

Morgan, B. (2010). Sport, Wholehearted Engagement and the Good Life. *Sport, Ethics and Philosophy*, 4(3), 239–253. Nguyen, C. T. (2020). *Games: Agency as Art.* New York: Oxford University Press.

Olivová, V. (1988). Sport a hry ve starověkém světě [Sport and Games in Ancient World]. Prague: Artia.

Olympic Charter, published by the International Olympic Committee, in force as from 8 August 2021. Link: https://olympics.com/ioc/olympic-charter.

Pérez Triviño, J. L. (2013). *The Challenges of Modern Sport to Ethics: From Doping to Cyborgs*. Lanham, Boulder, New York, Toronto, Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books.

Pisk, J. (2006). What Is Good Sport: Plato's View. *Acta Universitatis Palackianae Olomucensis Gymnica*, 36(2), 67–72.
Reid, H. L. (2007). Sport and Moral Education in Plato's Republic. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 34(2), 160–175.
Reid, H. L. (2020). Athletic Virtue and Aesthetic Values in Aristotle's Ethics. *Journal of the Philosophy of* Sport, of Sport, Neural
47(1), 63–74.Ryall, E. (2021). Agential Layering, the Absurd and the Grind in Game-Playing. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 48(3), 425–435.

Simonovic, L. (2004). Philosophy of Olympism. Belgrade: Lj Simonović (Stručna knjiga).

Suits, B. (1973). The Elements of Sport. In W. J. Morgan (Ed.), (2007), *Ethics in Sport* (9–19). 2nd ed. Leeds: Human Kinetics.

Suits, B. (1974). Aristotle on the Function of Man: Fallacies, Heresies and Other Entertainments. *Canadian Journal of Philosophy*, 4(1), 23–40.

Suits, B. (1988). Tricky Triad: Games, Play, and Sport. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 15(1), 1–9. Suits, B. (2014). *The Grasshopper: Games, Life, and Utopia (3rd ed.)*. Peterborough, Ontario: Broadview Press. Xenophanes. *Fragments DK 21 B*. Link: http://www.fysis.cz/presokratici/xenofanes/bbi.pdf (Czech, ancient Greek). Zurc, J. (2019). Ethical Aspects of Health and Wellbeing of Young Elite Athletes. *Synthesis Philosophica*, 68(2), 341–358.

Contact Information:

l.marysta@seznam.cz

Home Advantage In the Top Czech Hockey League

Natalie Pelloneová

Department of Business Administration and Management, Faculty of Economics, Technical University of Liberec, Liberec, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Home advantage in sport has long been established as an important factor in determining the outcome of a match. According to this phenomenon, the home team should win more games and score more goals than the away team. Home advantage is a very complex phenomenon that is influenced by many different factors. One possible explanation is that the home crowd supports the home team's performance and also causes the referee to be under pressure and favor the home team. The aim of this paper is to quantify the home advantage in the Czech top hockey league. Using statistical analysis, the number of points scored, goals scored, shots taken, penalties awarded and penalty minutes in the 2019/20 season were compared. A total of 364 matches were analysed. The results showed the existence of a home advantage in the Czech top hockey league in the 2019/20 season. Implications for sport practice and possible directions for future research are discussed.

Keywords: sport; ice hockey; home advantage; spectators; Mann-Whitney test

INTRODUCTION

The phenomenon of home advantage has been studied in sport for many years. The influence of the venue on the outcome of a sporting match is a phenomenon that has been discussed quite frequently in the literature (Bray and Carron, 1993; Koning, 2005; Koning, 2011; Balmer et al., 2005; Balmer, et al., 2003). In most cases, bookmakers place emphasis on the venue of the match (i.e., home or away) when setting odds. According to this phenomenon, athletes or sports teams are expected to perform better at home and achieve better overall results. The home advantage has been studied for more than four decades, yet the exact causes and mode of action are still unknown. According to

most authors (e.g. Pollard, 2006; Pollard, 2008; Carron et al., 2005; Courneya and Carron, 1992), the home advantage is mainly due to the influence of fans, travel, familiarity with the pitch, referee bias, psychological factors and tactics, and a host of other aspects.

The first authors to address the home-field advantage were Schwartz and Barsky (1977), who suggested that home fans exert an encouraging and motivating influence on their players. Schwartz and Barsky (1977) examined the influence of the home environment in various sports, most notably American League baseball, Major League Soccer, and ice hockey. The research revealed a positive influence of the home environment on sport performance. However, the degree of influence of the home environment varied across sports. Balmer et al. (2001) further add that the home advantage differs between team and individual disciplines. The home advantage has been demonstrated in most professional sports. Jamieson (2010) demonstrated the home advantage in 10 different sports, and like Schwartz and Barsky (1977) found that the extent of this advantage varies between sports. He found that the home advantage is highest in football compared to all other sports examined. Schwartz and Barsky (1977) consider the proximity of the fans and their cheering and chanting to be a crucial factor in the emergence of home advantage, which leads the home players to exert more effort and ultimately win the game. Similar to Schwartz and Barsky (1977), other research (Anderson et al., 2012; Smith, 2005; Wolfson et al., 2005) has shown that fans are the main reason for the emergence of home advantage. Furthermore, some studies have examined the dependence of home advantage on crowd size (Nevill et al., 1996), crowd density and intensity (Pollard, 1986; Nevill et al., 2002), or the distance of the sports venue from the crowd (Armatas and Pollard, 2012; Dohmen, 2008; Pollard and Armatas, 2017).

On the other hand, some authors (Courneya and Carron, 1992; Nevill and Holder, 1999) are rather sceptical and suggest that the home advantage has less impact than expected. For example, van de Ven (2011) concluded that audience support is not necessary for the emergence of home advantage (HA). Agnew and Carron (1994) found very little effect of fans and their size on home advantage. Pollard (1986) even found no effect of fans on home-field advantage. Pollard and Pollard (2005) report that home advantage in ice hockey, basketball and football in England has declined over the last two decades. These trends and changes provide some evidence that travel and familiarity with the pitch contribute more to home advantage, but fans in the stands have little influence.

Another frequently cited factor that can cause a home advantage is the influence of fans on the referees. Dosseville et al. (2016) report that referees tend to make more decisions in favour of the home team. This phenomenon has been addressed in many studies (Goumas, 2014; Nevill et al., 2002; Boyko et al., 2007; Nevill and Holder, 1999; Pollard, 1986; Sutter and Kocher, 2004; Garicano et al., 2005). The aforementioned studies have confirmed the assumption that referees tend to make decisions more in favor of the home team and that they are highly susceptible to social influence. The role of referees is very demanding and they unconsciously rely on cues from the crowd to make decisions.

A literature review revealed that there is an extensive literature on home advanteage in individual and team sports. However, most attention was paid to football. According to Pollard (2008) and Jamieson (2010), the home advantage is highest in football compared to all other sports. Other sports have not received as much attention in the literature. E.g. rugby (Morton, 2006), ice hockey (Agnew and Carron, 1994; Dennis and Carron, 1999; Pollard and Pollard, 2005), basketball (Moore and Brylinsky, 1995; Watson and Krantz, 2003). A major limitation of the above research is that it has not yet been possible to examine matches without home spectators over very long periods of time. The only exception is the period 2020 and 2021 as a result of the Covid-19 disease pandemic. For this reason, spectator presence has been cited as the main factor responsible for the emergence of the home advantage phenomenon (Pollard and Pollard, 2005). However, the available analyses are not consistent regarding the effect of spectators on home advantage. A possible reason for the divergent results may be that research has not accounted for a number of other important factors. This factor may be the playing style of the team, which probably determines its chances of scoring goals and thus the probability of winning. Another factor may be the difficulty of the match schedule in terms of the opponents it faces. The quality of the opponents a team faces is an indicator of its probability of winning (Peeters and van Ours, 2020). More experienced teams may rely less on the support of their spectators than their less experienced opponents. It is also evident from the above that most of the literature focuses primarily on the field of football. Hockey competitions do not receive as much attention in the available literature. Czech hockey in general and the Czech top hockey league in particular do not receive any attention in the literature. The aim of this research is to find out whether there is a home advantage in the Czech hockey league. The presented research uses statistical methods to investigate the differences between the values of selected sports statistics in home and away matches. Empirically, the statistical methods are applied to the Czech top hockey competition (i.e. Tipsport Extraliga) in the 2019/20 season.

METHODS AND DATA

Data

The subject of the analysis was the Czech top hockey league called Tipsport Extraliga. The research focused only on matches in the regular season. Play-off matches were excluded from the research. Tipsport Extraliga was examined based on sports data from the 2019/20 season. 14 teams participated in the Tipsport Extraliga in the 2019/20 season. Namely: Sparta Praha (SPA), Kometa Brno (KOM), Bílí Tygři Liberec (LIB), Mladá Boleslav (MLB), Dynamo Pardubice (PCE), Mountfield Hradec Králové (MHK), Verva Litvínov (LIT), Vítkovice Ridera (VIT), Oceláři Třinec (TRI), Rytíři Kladno (KLA), Škoda Plzeň (PLZ), Olomouc (OLO), Berani Zlín (ZLN) and Energie Karlovy Vary (KVA). The Tipsport Extraliga was played in a four-round system. Each team played 52 games (26 at home and 26 on the opponent's field). This league structure allows an unbiased method for quantifying home games throughout the season. 364 matches were played during the 52 rounds. Tipsport Extraliga managed to play the entire regular season (i.e. 52 rounds) with spectators in the 2019/20 season. It was also the season with the highest average spectator attendance since the 1992/93 season, according to BPA statistics (BPA sport marketing a.s., 2023). The average attendance was 80,142 spectators. The play-offs were cancelled for the 2019/20 season due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 disease pandemic. For this reason, the play-offs are also not included in the research presented.

The data on individual hockey matches was obtained from data on the website of the top hockey competition Tipsport Extraliga, in the database on the Hokej.cz website operated by (BPA sport marketing a.s., 2023; eSports.cz, s.r.o., 2023) and on the Livesport.cz website. This data includes the number of points scored per game (3 points for a win, 2 points for a win in overtime, 1 point for a loss in overtime and 0 points for a loss), the number of goals scored, the number of shots on target, the number of penalties and the number of penalty minutes awarded.

Statistical Analysis

Shapiro-Wilk test and two-sample Mann-Whitney U test and two-sample t-test were used to evaluate the obtained data. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test the normality of the sports data examined. The Shapiro-Wilk test is the preferred test of normality due to its good performance compared to a number of alternative tests (Shapiro et al., 1968). The Shapiro-Wilk test is used to test the hypothesis that a random sample of size $n(X_1, X_2, ..., X_n)$ comes from a normal distribution with unspecified parameters μ and σ^2 , $N(\mu, \sigma^2)$. The null hypothesis H₀ states that the data sample belongs to a normal distribution. The alternative hypothesis H₁ states that the data is the *W* statistic, which according to (Budíková et al., 2010) is given by (1). The test statistic *W* reaches the value of 1 if the data shows a perfect fit to the normal distribution. If the value of the test statistic *W* is statistically significantly less than 1, the null hypothesis of a fit to the normal distribution can be rejected and the alternative hypothesis accepted.

$$W = \frac{b^2}{S^2} = \frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^k a_{n-i+1}(y_{n-i+1} - y_i)\right)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^n (y_i - \bar{y})^2} \tag{1}$$

In the present research, the non-parametric two-sample Wilcoxon test was also applied to the sports data; in some publications (Nachar, 2008) it is also called the Mann Whitney U test. The non-parametric two-sample test is used when the assumption of normality of the data is not met. The Mann Whitney U test is a non-parametric analogue of the test of the identity of the means of two independent random sets $(X_1, X_2, ..., X_m)$ and $(Y_1, Y_2, ..., Y_n)$ with different numbers of elements. The null hypothesis H_0 states that the data samples have identical means (medians). The alternative hypothesis H_1 states that the data samples do not have identical means (medians). The null hypothesis H_0 can be written as $\mu_1 = \mu_2$. The alternative hypothesis H_1 can be written as $\mu_1 \neq \mu_2$. The test assumes that $(X_1, X_2, ..., X_n)$ is a random selection from some continuous distribution and $(Y_1, Y_2, ..., Y_n)$ is an independent random selection from the same continuous distribution that is shifted by a constant δ with respect to the former. Thus, the random variables $(X_1, X_2, ..., X_m)$ and $(Y_1 - \delta, ..., Y_n - \delta)$ have the same distribution. The test statistic for the Mann Whitney U test is denoted U and is the smaller of U_1 and U_2 , defined below (2). In relation (2), R_1 is the sum of the ranks for group 1 and R_2 sum of the ranks for group 2.

$$U_{1} = n_{1}n_{2} + \frac{n_{1}(n_{1}+1)}{2} - R_{1}$$

$$U_{2} = n_{1}n_{2} + \frac{n_{2}(n_{2}+1)}{2} - R_{2}$$
(2)

The second test used was a t-test for two samples. This is a basic test for comparing the means of two independent samples. This test belongs to parametric tests. The null hypothesis H_0 states that the data samples have identical means. The alternative hypothesis H_1 states that the data samples do not have identical means. The null hypothesis H_0 can be written as $\mu_1 = \mu_2$. The alternative hypothesis H_1 can be written as $\mu_1 \neq \mu_2$. The test statistic (3) below is used to test these hypotheses in the case of small sample size (< 30).

$$t = \frac{\overline{X_1} - \overline{X_2}}{S_p \sqrt{\frac{1}{n_1} + \frac{1}{n_2}}} \sim t(n_1 + n_2 - 2)$$
(3)

The Shapiro-Wilk test and subsequently the Mann Whitney U and t-test, which served as the basis for the outcomes reported in this research, were conducted at the 5% significance level. All analyses were conducted using SPSS statistical software (IBM, 2023).

RESEARCH RESULTS

This part of the paper is devoted to the results of empirical research in which, in addition to descriptive statistics, the above tests of means were used. The subject of the research was individual matches of the highest Czech hockey competition Tipsport Extraliga in the 2019/20 season.

Descriptive statistics

Table 1 shows descriptive statistics for all 364 games regardless of team. It is well known that home advantage is substantial in professional hockey. Table 1 shows that in all of the games reviewed in the 2019/20 season, 47.53% ended with a home win, 12.64% with a home win in overtime, 9.34% with an away win in overtime, and 30.49% with an away win. This pattern was also reflected in the average difference in points, goals and shots between the home and away teams. On average, hockey teams scored more points in home games than away games. The difference was 0.544 points per game; the median was one point. Home teams scored more goals on average than away teams. The difference in the sample studied was 0.588 goals per game and had a median value of one. Teams also averaged more shots on target and off goal at home than during away matches. The difference in the sample studied averaged 3.368 shots on target and 2.431 shots off target per game and had a median value of equal to four and three shots, respectively. Table 1 also shows the statistics for penalties. On average, there were 3.984 penalties per game at home, which is 0.723

fewer penalties than in away games. On average, all teams playing at home in the analysed sample were given approximately 1.173 fewer penalty minutes than in away games. Fewer penalties for the team playing at home provides better opportunities to score goals, which is also reflected in the statistics described above.

	Mean	St. Dev.	Min.	Median	Max.
number of points (home)	1.772	1.320	0	2	3
number of goals (home)	3.168	1.847	0	3	9
number of shots on target (home)	31.984	6.963	12	32	55
number of shots off target (home)	13.019	4.341	2	13	28
number of penalties (home)	3.984	2.000	0	4	13
number of penalty minutes (home)	9.755	7.912	0	8	51
number of points (away)	1.228	1.320	0	1	3
number of goals (away)	2.580	1.664	0	2	8
number of shots on target (away)	28.615	6.671	12	28	55
number of shots off target (away)	10.588	3.935	2	10	23
number of penalties (away)	4.706	2.043	1	4	15
number of penalty minutes (away)	10.929	7.393	2	10	59
points difference	0.544	0	0	1	0
goal difference	0.588	0.184	0	1	1
shots on target difference	3.368	0.292	0	4	0
shots of target difference	2.431	0.406	0	3	5
difference of penalties	-0.723	-0.043	-1	0	-2
penalty minutes difference	-1.173	0.519	-2	-2	-8
number of home wins			173 (47.53%)		
number of home wins in overtime			46 (12.64%)		
number of away wins in overtime			34 (9.34%)		
number of away wins			111 (30.49%)		

Table 1. Summary statistics over hockey matches, 2019/20

All hockey teams scored on average more points in home games than away games, see Table 2. The biggest average difference of 1.385 points was recorded by HC Škoda Plzeň in the 2019/20 season. Almost one point average difference was for the team HC Rytíři Kladno. Thus, in terms of average points scored, the 2019/20 season saw a difference between whether a team played at home or away. On the other hand, the smallest average difference of 0.038 points was captured by HC Olomouc. Furthermore, a difference of 0.077 points was recorded for HC Dynamo Pardubice. In terms of the number of points scored, there was almost no difference between whether these teams played at home or away. In terms of the number of goals scored, each team scored more goals on average at home, with the exception of HC Olomouc. The largest average difference of 1.385 goals scored was found for HC Škoda Plzeň. BK Mladá Boleslav scored more than one goal on average in away games. All teams took more shots on target and shots off target during home games. The difference within each team was the biggest for Mountfield HK (5.731 more shots on target during home games). The smallest difference in the number of shots on target

in home and away matches in the 2019/20 season was recorded by HC Sparta Praha (only 0.231). The differences in the number of shots off target were not significant for individual teams, with the exception of HC Vítkovice Ridera, HC Škoda Plzeň and HC Verva Litvínov. These teams took on average three or more shots off target during home games than during away games.

Table 2 also shows the statistics for penalties for each team. On average, all teams except HC Dynamo Pardubice were awarded fewer penalties in home games. The biggest difference was observed for HC Energie Karlovy Vary and HC Rytíři Kladno. These teams were awarded an average of 1.308 (KVA) and 1.269 (KLA) fewer penalties during home games. The opposite was true for HC Dynamo Pardubice, who were awarded an average of 0.346 more penalties in home games. In terms of the number of penalty minutes awarded, the results are different. HC Berani Zlín, HC Bílí Tygři Liberec, HC Dynamo Pardubice and BK Mladá Boleslav were awarded more penalty minutes on average during home games. The other teams were awarded fewer penalty minutes during home games. The biggest difference was observed for HC Olomouc (3.577 fewer penalty minutes on average during home games).

	points difference	goal difference	shots on target difference	shots of target difference	difference of penalties	penalty minutes difference
ZLN	0.231	0.346	2.962	1.962	-0.423	0.962
LIB	0.769	0.423	3.077	0.577	-0.231	0.731
PCE	0.077	0.423	4.308	2.231	0.346	1.423
KVA	0.269	0.385	5.346	1.808	-1.308	-0.346
KOM	0.808	0.423	0.269	1.462	-1.192	-3.154
MLB	0.846	1.038	3.538	0.731	-0.423	1.038
MHK	0.154	0.615	5.731	2.615	-0.769	-0.615
TRI	0.500	0.962	2.000	1.615	-1.000	-3.308
OLO	0.038	-0.423	2.115	1.692	-0.923	-3.577
KLA	0.923	0.615	3.962	0.846	-1.269	-2.462
SPA	0.615	0.846	0.231	1.769	-1.000	-2.808
PLZ	1.385	1.385	4.385	5.000	-0.077	-0.885
LIT	0.654	0.885	4.692	3.538	-1.077	-2.269
VIT	0.346	0.308	4.538	8.192	-0.769	-1.154

Table 2. Average difference of selected statistics for each team, 2019/20

Table 3 shows the median values of selected statistics for each hockey team. The median values, like the mean values, are more favorable for home games or there is no difference according to the median. In terms of points scored and goals scored, the only exception is the HC Olomouc team, which, according to the median for these statistics, was better in away games.

	points difference	goal difference	shots on target difference	shots of target difference	difference of penalties	penalty minutes difference
ZLN	0.5	1	4	1.5	0	0
LIB	1	1	5	0	0	0
PCE	0	0.5	3.5	4	0	0
KVA	1.5	0	4.5	3	-1.5	-2
KOM	2	0	0	1.5	-2	-4
MLB	2	2	2	1	-1	-2
MHK	0.5	0	6.5	3.5	-0.5	-2
TRI	1.5	1.5	4.5	1.5	-1	-2
OLO	-0.5	-0.5	2	2	-1	-2
KLA	1.5	0.5	2	0	-1.5	-3
SPA	0	1	2	2	-1	-2
PLZ	2.5	1,5	3.5	3.5	-1	-2
LIT	1	0.5	5.5	3.5	-1	-3
VIT	1	1	6	8.5	-0.5	-2

 Table 3. Median of differences in selected statistics for each team, 2019/20

Dependency testing

The first objective of the research was to determine if there were statistically significant differences between the selected sports statistics during 182 home games (selection H) and 182 away games (selection A). Since the Shapiro-Wilk test showed that all selected sports statistics did not have a normal distribution, a non-parametric two-sample Mann-Whitney U test was used to test the hypothesis. The Mann-Whitney U test determines whether two samples have the same median. The statistical program SPSS (IBM, 2023) was used for testing. The null hypothesis assumes that there are no significant differences between the values of the sports statistics of the two samples (μ -H= μ -A). The null hypothesis was tested with a significance level of 0.05. One-sided and two-sided tests were conducted to distinguish between the alternative hypothesis. In case of rejection of the null hypothesis, either μ -H= μ -A, or μ -H> μ -A (resp. μ -H< μ -A). Table 4 shows the results of the two-sample Mann-Whitney U test for the selected sport statistics. From the data in Table 4, it can be seen that statistically significant differences were observed for all the selected statistics.

 Table 4. Results of Mann-Whitney U test for all matches, 2019/20

		Results		
Compared game statistics	Difference	Test statistic U	P-Value	H ₁
number of points	Yes	80492	< 0.00001	μ_H>μ_A
number of goals	Yes	78336	< 0.00001	μ_Η>μ_Α
number of shots on target	Yes	85316	< 0.00001	μ_Η>μ_Α
number of shots off target	Yes	87193	< 0.00001	μ_Η>μ_Α
number of penalties	Yes	51442	< 0.00001	μ_Η<μ_Α
number of penalty minutes	Yes	53134	< 0.00001	μ_Η<μ_Α

Another objective of the research was to determine whether there are statistically significant differences between selected sports statistics within individual hockey teams. Within each team, 26 home games (selection H) and 26 away games (selection A) were always compared. The null hypothesis assumes that there are no significant differences between the values of the sports statistics of the two selections ($\mu_H=\mu_A$). The null hypothesis was tested with a significance level of 0.05. One-sided and two-sided tests were conducted to distinguish between the alternative hypothesis. In case of rejection of the null hypothesis, either $\mu_H\neq\mu_A$, or $\mu_H>\mu_A$ (resp. $\mu_H<\mu_A$). The first indicator evaluated was the number of points obtained. This sport statistic did not have a normal distribution and the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used to test the hypothesis. From the data in Table 5, it can be seen that only some teams had statistically significant differences. A statistically significant difference in the number of points scored in home and away matches was confirmed for HC Bílí Tygři Liberec, HC Kometa Brno, BK Mladá Boleslav, HC Rytíři Kladno and HC Škoda Plzeň. These teams can thus be said to have scored more points during home matches. For the other teams, there was no evidence that the number of points scored at home was different from the number of points scored in away matches.

	number of points					
	Diff.	P-Value	H ₁			
ZLN	No	0.321	μ_H≠μ_A			
LIB	Yes	0.026	μ_Η>μ_Α			
PCE	No	0.593	μ_H≠μ_A			
KVA	No	0.770	μ_H≠μ_A			
КОМ	Yes	0.027	μ_Η>μ_Α			
MLB	Yes	0.008	μ_Η>μ_Α			
MHK	No	0.359	μ_H≠μ_A			
TRI	No	0.117	μ_H≠μ_A			
OLO	No	0.430	μ_H≠μ_A			
KLA	Yes	0.005	μ_Η>μ_Α			
SPA	No	0.066	μ_H≠μ_A			
PLZ	Yes	< 0.001	μ_Η>μ_Α			
LIT	No	0.070	μ_H≠μ_A			
VIT	No	0.142	μ_H≠μ_A			

Table 5. Results of two-sample non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test (number of points)

Other indicators were the number of goals, shots on target and shots off target. These sport statistics had different distributions and the parametric t-test and non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test were used to test the hypothesis. From the data in Table 6, it can be seen that only some teams had statistically significant differences. A statistically significant difference in the number of goals scored in home and away matches was confirmed for BK Mladá Boleslav, HC Oceláři Třinec, HC Rytíři Kladno, HC Škoda Plzeň and HC Verva Litvínov. These teams can thus be said to have scored more goals during home matches. More than half of the teams (9 in total) had a statistically significant difference in the number of shots on target during home matches. Seven teams were found to have a statistically significant difference in the number of shots off target during home matches.

	number of goals				number of shots on target				number of shots off target			
	test	diff.	P-Value	H ₁	test	diff.	P-Value	H ₁	test	diff.	P-Value	H ₁
ZLN	U	No	0.218	µ_H≠µ_A	t	No	0.111	μ_Н≠μ_А	t	Yes	0.039	μ_Η>μ_Α
LIB	t	No	0.212	µ_H≠µ_A	t	Yes	0.036	μ_Η>μ_Α	U	No	0.323	µ_H≠µ_A
PCE	U	No	0.853	µ_H≠µ_A	t	Yes	0.016	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	0.029	μ_Η>μ_Α
KVA	U	No	0.368	µ_H≠µ_A	t	Yes	< 0.001	μ_Η>μ_Α	U	Yes	0.045	μ_Η>μ_Α
KOM	U	No	0.316	µ_H≠µ_A	t	No	0,431	μ_Н≠μ_А	t	No	0.073	µ_H≠µ_A
MLB	U	Yes	0.007	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	0.019	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	No	0.230	µ_H≠µ_A
MHK	t	No	0.095	µ_H≠µ_A	U	Yes	0.002	μ_Η>μ_Α	U	Yes	0.018	μ_Η>μ_Α
TRI	U	Yes	0.033	μ_Η>μ_Α	U	No	0.082	μ_Н≠μ_А	t	No	0.055	µ_H≠µ_A
OLO	U	No	0.845	µ_H≠µ_A	U	No	0.085	μ_Н≠μ_А	t	No	0.086	µ_H≠µ_A
KLA	U	Yes	0.036	μ_Η>μ_Α	U	Yes	0.042	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	No	0.194	µ_H≠µ_A
SPA	t	No	0.052	µ_H≠µ_A	U	No	0.456	μ_Н≠μ_А	t	No	0.064	µ_H≠µ_A
PLZ	U	Yes	0.003	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	0.016	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	< 0.001	μ_Η>μ_Α
LIT	U	Yes	0.044	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	0.003	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	0.004	μ_Η>μ_Α
VIT	U	No	0.272	µ_H≠µ_A	t	Yes	0.003	μ_Η>μ_Α	t	Yes	< 0.001	μ_Η>μ_Α

Table 6. Results of two-sample non-parametric U test and parametric t-test (goals and shots)

The last group of indicators was the number of penalties and penalty minutes awarded. These sport statistics had different distributions and the parametric t-test and the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test were used to test the hypothesis. It can be seen from the data in Table 7 that only some teams had statistically significant differences. A statistically significant difference in the number of penalties awarded in home and away matches was confirmed for HC Energie Karlovy Vary, HC Kometa Brno, HC Oceláři Třinec, HC Olomouc, HC Rytíři Kladno and HC Verva Litvínov. These teams can thus be said to have received fewer penalties during home games. In terms of the number of penalty minutes awarded, the results are almost identical. Statistically significant differences were found for HC Kometa Brno, HC Oceláři Třinec, HC Olomouc, HC Olomouc, HC Rytíři Kladno and HC Verva Litvínov. These teams can be said to have been awarded fewer penalty minutes during home games.

Table 7. Results of two-sample non-parametric U test and parametric t-test (penalties)

	nu	mber of per	alties	number of penalty minutes					
_	test	diff.	P-Value	H ₁	test	diff.	P-Value	H ₁	
ZLN	U	No	0.136	µ_H≠µ_A	U	No	0.122	µ_H≠µ_A	
LIB	U	No	0.276	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.427	µ_H≠µ_A	
PCE	U	No	0.750	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.656	µ_H≠µ_A	
KVA	t	Yes	0.009	μ_Η<μ_Α	U	No	0.208	µ_H≠µ_A	
KOM	U	Yes	0.012	μ_Η<μ_Α	U	Yes	0.016	μ_Η<μ_Α	
MLB	U	No	0.504	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.198	µ_H≠µ_A	
MHK	t	No	0.127	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.287	µ_H≠µ_A	
TRI	U	Yes	0.013	μ_Η<μ_Α	U	Yes	0.010	μ_Η<μ_Α	
OLO	t	Yes	0.016	μ_Η<μ_Α	U	Yes	0.014	μ_Η<μ_Α	
KLA	U	Yes	0.008	μ_Η<μ_Α	U	Yes	0.011	μ_Η<μ_Α	
SPA	U	No	0.072	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.071	µ_H≠µ_A	
PLZ	U	No	0.504	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.370	µ_H≠µ_A	
LIT	U	Yes	0.049	μ_Η<μ_Α	U	Yes	0.048	μ_Η<μ_Α	
VIT	U	No	0.067	μ_H≠μ_A	U	No	0.054	µ_H≠µ_A	

DISCUSSION

The statistical analysis showed the existence of statistically significant differences between home and away games in the Czech top hockey league and was consistent with similar analyses from hockey leagues in the USA. For example, Agnew and Carron (1994) examined 15 teams over two hockey seasons. A significant home advantage was found when all games were included (58.7%) and when ties were excluded from the analyses (61.6%). Pollard and Pollard (2005) examined the National Hockey League (NHL) from 1917 to 2003. In the first seven seasons, home advantage was very high, reaching 75.0% in 1922/23. As the NHL expanded, the home advantage gradually began to decline. By the 1930s it had stabilised at an average of around 60%, which was maintained until the mid-1970s. Since then, there has been a further decline, which has stabilised at around 55% since the mid-1990s. The present research on the Czech top hockey league has not yet followed the development over such a long period of time. Thus, the results cannot be compared with Pollard and Pollard (2005) and other similar research at this time. The findings from the Czech hockey league are also in line with the findings of Bray (1999) who found an average home winning percentage of 52%. The findings from the Czech hockey league, on the other hand, contradict the findings of Szabó (2022) who found that there is no significant difference in the number of penalties and goals scored in home and away games in the American National Hockey League.

The presented empirical research on the Czech hockey environment also found statistically significant differences between home and away environments for some hockey teams. A similar conclusion was reached by Bray (1999), who examined individual NHL teams. Bray (1999) found that the vast majority of NHL teams won 17.3% more games at home than away. Further research is needed to clarify the reasons for the differences within individual teams in the Czech hockey league. A higher home advantage was found for the teams HC Verva Litvínov and HC Rytíři Kladno. A statistically significant difference was found for five of the six selected sport statistics. This is in line with previous studies (Clarke and Norman, 1995; Pollard and Gómez, 2009) that present similar findings for teams from geographically isolated locations or smaller cities. At the same time, these are hockey clubs with a rich hockey history and a strong hockey community in both cities. A higher home advantage in terms of points scored and shooting activity was found for HC Škoda Plzeň. Thus, it can be concluded that HC Škoda Plzeň hockey players have a higher shooting activity on their home court. For the teams HC Karlovy Vary, HC Kometa Brno, BK Mladá Boleslav and HC Oceláři Třinec, statistically significant differences were found for half of the selected sports statistics. For the teams HC Kometa Brno, HC Oceláři Třinec, the main statistically significant differences were in penalties and penalty minutes. The research presented here suggests that the teams in question receive fewer penalties when playing at home. Thus, these findings add to existing scientific evidence supporting the involvement of referees in the home advantage (Scoppa, 2021; Sors et al., 2020) and reinforce the existence of this phenomenon in elite hockey. This phenomenon could manifest itself to a different degree at critical moments such as the playoffs. It would be relevant to assess this in future research. A rather lower home advantage was found for HC Bílí Tygři Liberec, HC Dynamo Pardubice, Mountfield KH, HC Olomouc, HC Ridera Vítkovice and HC Berani Zlín. For these teams, statistically significant differences were found in only two of the six sports statistics evaluated. A surprising result was achieved by HC Sparta Praha, which did not show a significant difference between home and away matches in any of the statistics. This finding is consistent with research by (Clarke and Norman, 1995; Pollard and Gómez, 2009). Given that capital cities are typically cosmopolitan places, a reduced sense of territorial protection might be expected to play a role in the consistently lower home advantage also found in this research. Empirical research on the Czech hockey league did not find evidence of a home disadvantage for any of the teams evaluated. Which is contrary to the finding of Bray (1999) according to which a small percentage of teams always show a home disadvantage in the regular season.

Other factors that may have influenced each team's home advantage, such as unusual home stadium characteristics, were not considered in this analysis. However, any home advantage found for HC Sparta Praha playing in a large stadium suggests that the capacity of the home stadium could be taken into account in future research on differences between teams. The presented research is limited to Tipsport Extraliga matches, which means that other matches in lower hockey leagues may behave differently. There is an assumption that different results can be expected from lower hockey leagues with lower spectator attendances. The research presented here is limited to the top hockey league in one season and further research needs to be conducted in other seasons and other leagues or countries so that the findings can be generalised to the wider population of ice hockey teams.

CONCLUSION

The aim of this research was to find out whether there is a home advantage in the Czech hockey league. Using parametric and non-parametric two-sample tests, the present research examines the differences between the number of points scored per game, goals scored, shots on and off target, penalties and penalty minutes awarded during home and away matches. The results of the research presented suggest that home and away matches played with spectators differed significantly in the 2019/20 season. The analysis of penalties and penalty minutes also suggests that referees favoured the home team more in matches played with spectators during the 2019/20 season.

The analysis of the individual hockey teams revealed that the home advantage is manifested to different degrees for each team. The home advantage was more pronounced for teams from smaller and traditional hockey cities such as Litvínov and Kladno. Conversely, the home advantage was generally very low in the capital city of Prague. Here, there was no statistically significant difference in any of the statistics examined.

The home field advantage in hockey is one of the less explored areas. According to many authors, the influence of the home environment is much smaller compared to football. Hockey players are isolated from the crowd by boundaries. The pitches also tend to be similar, at least in terms of temperature and ice quality. Hockey is one of the most unpredictable sports, and the outcome can be influenced by chance. Still, there are very many reasons why the home advantage in hockey is important to watch. One of them is the betting odds. The home advantage in hockey is something that every bettor should consider before placing a bet. We must not forget the hockey rules, which give the home team several significant advantages (substitutions, face-offs and shootouts).

REFERENCES

Agnew, G. A., & Carron, A. V. (1994). Crowd effects and the home advantage. Journal of Sport Psychology, 25(1), 53-62.

Anderson, M., Wolfson, S., Neave, N., & Moss, M. (2012). Perspectives on the home advantage: A comparison of football players, fans and referees. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *13*(3), 311–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psychsport.2011.11.012

Armatas, V., & Pollard, R. (2012). Home advantage in Greek football. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 14(2), 116–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2012.736537

Balmer, N. J., Nevill, A. M., & Williams, A. M. (2001). Home advantage in the Winter Olympics (1908-1998). *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 19(2), 129–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/026404101300036334

Balmer, N. J., Nevill, A. M., & Williams, A. M. (2003). Modelling home advantage in the Summer olympic games. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *21*(6), 469–478. https://doi.org/10.1080/0264041031000101890

Balmer, N., Nevill, A., & Lane, A. (2005). Do judges enhance home advantage in European Championship Boxing? *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(4), 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410400021583

Boyko, R. H., Boyko, A. R., & Boyko, M. G. (2007). Referee bias contributes to home advantage in English premiership football. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 25(11), 1185–1194. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410601038576

BPA sport marketing a.s. (2023). Statistiky: Tipsport elh: Hokej.cz - web českého hokeje. Retrieved 15 May, 2023.

Available from https://www.hokej.cz/tipsport-extraliga/stats-center/team-stats?season=2019&competition=6877&stats-section=visitors

Bray, S. R. (1999). The home advantage from an individual team perspective. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *11*(1), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413209908402954

Bray, S. R., & Carron, A. V. (1993). The home advantage in alpine skiing. *The Australian Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 25(4), 76–81.

Budíková, M., Králová, M., & Maroš, B. (2010). Průvodce základními statistickými metodami. Grada Publishing.

Carron, A. V., Loughhead, T. M., & Bray, S. R. (2005). The home advantage in sport competitions: Courneya

and Carron's (1992) Conceptual Framework a decade later. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(4), 395–407. https://doi. org/10.1080/02640410400021542

Clarke, S. R., & Norman, J. M. (1995). Home ground advantage of individual clubs in English soccer. *The Statistician*, 44(4), 509. https://doi.org/10.2307/2348899

Courneya, K. S., & Carron, A. V. (1992). The home advantage in Sport Competitions: A Literature Review. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 14(1), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.14.1.13

Dennis, P. W., & Carron, A. V. (1999). Strategic decisions of ice hockey coaches as a function of game location. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 17(4), 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/026404199365984

Dohmen, T. J. (2008). The influence of social forces: Evidence from the behavior of football referees. *Economic Inquiry*, *46*(3), 411–424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.2007.00112.x

Dosseville, F., Edoh, K. P., & Molinaro, C. (2016). Sports officials in Home Advantage Phenomenon: A new framework. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *14*(3), 250–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/16121 97x.2015.1023422

eSports.cz, s.r.o. (2023). *Hokej - Onlajny*. Retrieved 10 May, 2023. Available from https://www.onlajny.com/hokej Garicano, L., Palacios-Huerta, I., & Prendergast, C. (2005). Favoritism under social pressure. *Review of Economics* and Statistics, 87, 208–216

Goumas, C. (2014). Home advantage and referee bias in European football. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 14(1), 243–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2012.686062

Guérette, J., Blais, C., & Fiset, D. (2021). The absence of fans removes the home advantage associated with penalties called by National Hockey League referees. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256568 IBM. (2023). *IBM SPSS software*. Retrieved 25 April, 2023. Available from https://www.ibm.com/spss

Jamieson, J. P. (2010). The home field advantage in Athletics: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40(7), 1819–1848. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2010.00641.x

Koning, R. H. (2005). Home advantage in speed skating: Evidence from Individual Data. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(4), 417–427. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410400021625

Koning, R. H. (2011). Home advantage in professional tennis. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 29(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2010.516762
Moore, J. C., & Brylinsky, J. (1995). Facility familiarity and the home advantage. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 18(4), 302–311.

Morton R., H. (2006). Home advantage in Southern Hemisphere rugby union: Nationaland International. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 24(5), 495–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410500189074

Nachar, N. (2008). The mann-whitney U: A test for assessing whether two independent samples come from the same distribution. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 4(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.20982/tqmp.04.1.p013

Nevill, A. M., Balmer, N. J., & Williams, A. M. (2002). The influence of crowd noise and experience upon refereeing decisions in football. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *3*(4), 261–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1469-0292(01)00033-4

Nevill, A. M., & Holder, R. L. (1999). Home advantage in Sport. Sports Medicine, 28(4), 221–236. https://doi. org/10.2165/00007256-199928040-00001

Nevill, A. M., Newell, S. M., & Gale, S. (1996). Factors associated with home advantage in English and Scottish soccer matches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 14(2), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640419608727700

Peeters, T., & van Ours, J. (2020). Seasonal home advantage in English professional football; 1973-2018. SSRN Electronic Journal. 169(1), 107–126. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3603228

Pollard, R., & Pollard, G. (2005). Long-term trends in home advantage in professional team sports in North America and England (1876–2003). *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(4), 337–350. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410400021559

Pollard, R. (1986). Home advantage in soccer: A retrospective analysis. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 4(3), 237–248. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640418608732122

Pollard, R. (2006). Worldwide variations in home advantage in association football. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 24(3), 231–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410500141836

Pollard, R. (2008). Home advantage in football: A current review of an unsolved puzzle. *The Open Sports Sciences Journal*, *1*(1), 12–14. https://doi.org/10.2174/1875399x00801010012

Pollard, R., & Armatas, V. (2017). Factors affecting home advantage in Football World Cup qualification. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, *17*(1–2), 121–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/24748668.2017.1304031

Pollard, R., & Gómez, M. A. (2009). Home advantage in football in south-West Europe: Long-term trends, regional variation, and team differences. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 9(6), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461390903009133

Scoppa, V. (2021). Social pressure in the stadiums: Do agents change behavior without crowd support? *Journal of Economic Psychology*, *82*, 102344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2020.102344

Shapiro, S. S., Wilk, M. B., & Chen, H. J. (1968). A comparative study of various tests for normality. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *63*(324), 1343–1372.

Schwartz, B., & Barsky, S.F. (1977). The home advantage. *Social Forces*, 55(3), 641. https://doi.org/10.2307/2577461 Smith, D. R. (2005). Disconnects between popular discourse and home advantage research: What can fans and media tell us about the home advantage phenomenon? *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(4), 351–364. https://doi. org/10.1080/02640410400021633

Sors, F., Grassi, M., Agostini, T., & Murgia, M. (2020). The sound of silence in association football: Home Advantage and referee bias decrease in matches played without spectators. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 21(12), 1597–1605. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2020.1845814

Sutter, M., & Kocher, M. G. (2004). Favoritism of agents – the case of referees' home bias. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 25(4), 461–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-4870(03)00013-8

Szabó, D. Z. (2022). The impact of differing audience sizes on referees and team performance from a North American perspective. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *60*, 102162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2022.102162

van de Ven, N. (2011). Supporters are not necessary for the home advantage: Evidence from same-stadium derbies and games without an audience. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *41*(12), 2785–2792. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2011.00865.x

Watson, J. C., & Krantz, A. J. (2003). Home field advantage: New stadium construction and team performance in professional sports. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 97(3), 794–796. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.2003.97.3.794

Wolfson, S., Wakelin, D., & Lewis, M. (2005). Football supporters' perceptions of their role in the home advantage. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(4), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410400021567

Contact Information:

natalie.pelloneova@tul.cz +420 775 976 164

Developmental Trend Of Talented Pupils' Performance in Orienteering – Longitudinal Research 1997–2020 in the East Bohemia Region of the Czech Republic

Ivan Růžička¹, Adam Křehký¹, Petr Scholz², Kamila Růžičková¹, Jan Suk¹, Adrián Agricola¹

¹Faculty of Education, University of Hradec Králové, Hradec Králové, Czech Republic ²College of Polytechnics, Jihlava, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

The article presents the findings of a longitudinal testing of talented youth in orienteering in the Czech Republic. Young talented orienteers participate in the testing of motor skills by standardized tests. The results and conclusions of the 3 km and 5 km cross-country running measurements (according to age category) point to a regressive state of endurance abilities in young athletes between 1997 and 2020, describe possible reasons and suggest possible remedies. A total of 300 girls and 445 boys aged 12-14 years participated in the research investigation in the East Bohemian Region of the Czech Republic, who are divided into performance categories HD12 and HD14 in the context of organised Czech orienteering competition. The aim of the evaluation of the longitudinal testing was to determine the trends in performance in endurance cross-country running as a key performance parameter of talented orienteering athletes over the period 1997 to 2020. The resulting data indicate that performance in all the studied categories in the given field test has a consistently decreasing trend. The results are also related to the conclusions of foreign and domestic observations of the state of motor fitness of children and youth of the corresponding period and indicate that the level of aerobic ability of young talented runners generally follows the current state of the level of endurance ability found in the national testing of school youth under the auspices of the Czech School Inspectorate (CSI, 2023), and thus the alarming society-wide situation in the field of motor fitness of children and youth in the Czech Republic.

Keywords: motor testing, talented children and youth, longitudinal research, orienteering, aerobic fitness

INTRODUCTION

Lehnert et al. (2014, p. 13) define talent as "a complex of aptitudes covering the requirements placed on an athlete to achieve high sport performance." The identification of talent is an integral part of organized sports, especially in the process of sports training for children and youth. The process of talent identification should ideally start at the very beginning of a sport career on the basis of the child's discovered movement abilities in the family or in the process of school physical education (Bailey & Morley, 2006). The complex process of identification is closely linked to the requirements of a specific sports discipline and also includes monitoring the potential for the development of relevant motor skills (Agricola et al, 2022). One of the possible ways of talent identification is the use of motor testing as a means of mapping the current state of the given prerequisites of young athletes, while the results of repeated measurements allow to predict with a certain degree of caution the possible development of performance growth of a young athlete (Perič, & Suchý, 2010; Morrow et al., 2023). The process typically takes place during the specialized training (depending on the sector, from about the age of 11) and lasts for several years. In this stage of child and youth development, individuals are closely monitored, and sport and motor performance tends to be assessed based on regular testing and measurement of relevant predictors.

Orienteering is a sport that combines self-movement with orientation in unfamiliar terrain. Competitors move under their own power through arbitrary terrain with the aim of completing a designated race course using a map and a compass in the shortest possible time (CSOS, 2018). Soulek (1991, p. 5) discusses that "...performance is limited by a certain percentage of special running endurance and a certain percentage of orienteering qualities...and is assumed to vary with age, with the proportion of running performance in overall performance being predominant in elite runners." Langer's (1991) structure of performance in adult athletes consists of 54% fitness, 24% somatotype and running technique, 12% orienteering technique, 8% load capacity and 2% are other factors, clearly indicating that endurance ability demonstrated in running performance has the greatest influence on orienteering performance. According to Hnízdil and Kirchner (2005), performance in the schoolchildren's categories, running performance still determines 30% running performance and 70% orienteering technique. However, in the younger age group (12-14 years) this ratio is balanced to 50:50 and gradually the role of running fitness becomes more and more pronounced in experienced competitors (up to 70:30).

The relationship between endurance level, running technique and competitive performance in orienteering has been studied abroad by Saltin (1972), Adams & Saltin (1980), Ranucci, Grassi & Miserocchi (1986), Kolb, Sobotka & Werner (1987), Fach (1989), Moser et al. (1995), Jensen, Johansen & Kärkkäinen (1999), Larsson et al. (2002), Millet et al. (2010) and others. Then, Batista et al. (2020), by analysing 469 studies, demonstrated that the main physiological requirement required for performance in orienteering is a high level of fitness in alternating aerobic and anaerobic loaded terrain running. Thus, it supports the findings of Soulek (1991) directly targeting the young orienteering category, who demonstrated that there are significant differences in the level of physical fitness in orienteering athletes at the age of 15 years, which in practice underlines the need for systematic cross-country training of young orienteers before the age of 15 years. Thus, monitoring the parameter of running performance rightly has a prominent place in the identification and work with young talent in orienteering. The area of support for talented pupils in orienteering in the Czech Republic has been dealt with by a number of authors (Soulek & Škop, 1975; Weber, 1981; Růžička, 2009; Cahel, Košárek & Novotný, 2015) and the selection of talents has long been implemented within individual clubs, training centres and regions. In the East Bohemian region, the process involves the annual entrance testing of young athletes, which defines the membership base of the Youth Training Center. Athletes aged 12-14 who placed in the top 10 in the overall annual ranking races of the previous season are nominated for testing. This applies to both DH12 (girls and boys up to 12 years) and DH14 (up to 14 years) categories. The process includes tests of motor readiness in selected areas of motor skills, a key part of the testing of young talented orienteers is a test of special physical readiness, which is running in forest terrain called cross-country running.

METHODS

The aim of our research was to determine the developmental trend of performance in young talented orienteers from the East Bohemian region of the Czech Republic based on the results of longitudinal motor testing conducted between 1997 and 2020. A total of 745 young orienteers (300 girls and 445 boys) from the East Bohemian region aged 12-14 years participated in the research. The survey does not include data from 2001, when the testing did not take place. The results of this testing present a long-term trend in the level of physical preparedness in the area of endurance skills, which is dominantly related to the quality of competitive performance of orienteers. The monitored item is a key component of the performance of young talented orienteers - a test of special physical preparedness: cross-country running. The girls from the D12 and D14 categories and the boys from the H12 category will run a three-kilometre course, while the oldest boys' category, H14, will run a five-kilometre course. Cross-country testing is conducted annually in Hradec Králové near the Biřička pond in the local part of Nový Hradec Králové on a consistent one-kilometer circuit, partially along forest paths and partially in open terrain with an elevation gain of 20 meters. The test is performed after thorough warm-up and always under the supervision of trained regional coaches dedicated to the activities of the Youth Training Center and assistants from the ranks of coaches of selected clubs in the named region. The measurement is carried out by hand stopwatches with accuracy to the second.

Statistical data was processed and evaluated in MS Excel 2016 using descriptive method with arithmetic mean, percentage values and standard deviation which shows us the average deviation from the mean of the category. To optimize the evaluation, we normalize the observed performance results into "standard scores" that show us by how many standard deviations a test result is better or worse than the arithmetic mean

$$z = \frac{x - \overline{X}}{s}$$

and convert to T-scores

$$T = 50 + 10z$$

Legend:

X - total arithmetic average

x - tested result

s - standard deviation

T - values of arithmetic averages of individual years converted to T-scores

where the average performance corresponds to 50 points and the standard deviation equals 10 points (Měkota & Blahuš, 1983).

$$T = 60 - 10^* z$$

The results are presented using a graphical method employing line graphs that depict the linear trend, along with logical methods for interpretation and drawing conclusions.

RESULTS

The presented results of special physical fitness testing (cross-country) utilize values of arithmetic averages for each year, recalculated to T-scores based on the specified age categories, along with indicating the linear performance trend in the respective running test.

Results of category boys H12 and girls D12



Figure 1. Values of performance in the cross-country running test for the categories of girls D12 and boys H12 (both cat. 3 km) in T-scores in the observed period 1997-2020 with expressed linear trend of performance.



Results of boys H14 and girls D14



The results of special physical fitness (cross) testing of young talented orienteers in all categories of orienteering tracked between 1997 and 2020 indicate a gradual deterioration in endurance performance. The regression of this key predictor of quality performance in orienteering is presented by linear trend graphics for the younger boy H12 and girl D12 categories tested and both older categories H14 and D14, with the most pronounced regression for the oldest categories tested. The results of our study indicate the longitudinal nature of the observed negative linear trend. Although there are differences in the average performances from year to year, using the expression of the linear trend we can clearly observe the unfavourable state of the long-term development of the level of endurance abilities of young athletes. This fact confirms the continuously alarming general regression of the state of these motor prerequisites in children and youth manifested in the world since the mid-1970s (Tomkinson, 2007). It also adds topicality to the results of long-term observations of physical fitness levels in children and youth based on research in 27 countries conducted on all continents between 1958 and 2003 (Tomkinson et al., 2003; Olds et al, 2006; et al.) Similar and important findings from international empirical or meta-analytic studies of the last decades include those of Tomkinson (2007, 2019), Aubert et al. (2022), and the very recent findings of the FitBack project (Ortega et al., 2023). These directly point to a trend of long-term decline in both strength abilities and, in particular, cardiorespiratory fitness (aerobic capacity) in children and young people. The alarming situation is consistent with the findings of a number of measurements conducted among school youth in the Czech Republic over the last 25 years, i.e. covering the same period as our evaluation (Bunc, 2000; Gajda & Měkota, 2000; Rubín et al., 2014; Suchomel & Rubín, 2017; Růžička et al., 2022, etc.). Thus, the results of our longitudinal monitoring and the identified negative performance trends complete the picture of the generally deteriorating situation in the level of physical fitness of children and youth in our country. Moreover, they draw attention to the fact that the given regression does not only affect school youth in general, but also affects the performance sphere, specifically the area of work with talented young orienteers.

One of the key reasons for the negative trend can be seen in the wrong exercise regime of children and youth in the Czech Republic, which is then reflected in the performance trends of young talents. As documented by Kalman et al. (2010), a large proportion of school children are insufficiently physically active. The decline in the fitness of boys and girls in grades 3 and 7 of primary school is evidenced by a 2013 study on a sample of primary schools in the Pilsen region, which targeted muscular performance as one of the components of fitness. The data present more than double the prevalence, with 74% of children classified as below average to significantly below average in 2013 compared to 31% in 1986 (Müllerová et al., 2015). In a pilot survey by the Czech School Inspectorate in the 2015/2016 school year (CSI, 2016), the decline in physical fitness of pupils in primary and secondary schools over the last 10 years was perceived by three-quarters of physical education teachers. A negative conclusion was also expressed when comparing the results of the measurement of school youth, which was carried out as part of the Sazka Olympic multi-sport project, with the results of a national survey from 1966 (Adamec, 2021). Gába et al. (2022) in the National Report on Physical Activity of Czech Children and Youth summarise by

concluding that Czech girls and especially boys are currently below average in terms of aerobic fitness levels compared to international standards. Finally, based on an assessment of trends based on our longitudinal monitoring, we can also draw a parallel with the picture that complements the results of the nationwide motor fitness testing of school youth (Agricola et al., 2020) in the autumn of 2022. The conclusions of the CSI (2023) demonstrate that girls and boys generally fall within the "critical zone" of fitness. The most pronounced deterioration in performance occurred in comparison to the mean of the Unifittest battery of test norms (Kovář & Měkota, 1995) specifically in the cardiorespiratory fitness test (endurance shuttle run), regardless of gender. The results for 7th grade elementary school students showed a 27% and 33% decline in performance between 1996 and 2022 for boys and girls, respectively, which is approximately equivalent to the normative Unifittest performance of 3rd grade elementary school students. Thus, even our tracking results dealing with talented pupils - that is, highly active performance-oriented and motivated individuals - do not break out of the negative societal trend in the area.

The evaluation methodology we have developed will allow us to process and interpret the results in future years and continue to monitor the long-term trend in the performance of talented pupils in orienteering as a basis for systematic work with children and youth. The given conclusions emphasize the need for increased attention of coaches of children and youth in the field of development of endurance abilities in orienteering. The results can also be used to compare the results of talented pupils in the area of endurance skills with other areas, talented youth centres or clubs. Alternatively, they may allow comparison of performance trends with international competitors, for individuals, the results can then predict the further development of sporting talent and its potential outcomes. Awareness of the identified negative trends in performance can significantly strengthen the need for coaches of children and youth to focus on effective fitness training of their trainees, especially in the area of endurance skills development as a key prerequisite for sport performance in orienteering. This corresponds to the current strong international emphasis on conditioning in orienteering already in the youth categories (Larsson et al., 2002; Türkmen & Bicer, 2022 and especially the meta-analytical study by Batista et al, 2020, etc.), in the Czech context agrees with the view of Cahela et al. (2015), Růžička (2009) and Soulek (1991), who, based on laboratory and field motor testing, recommended the provision of systematic endurance training before the age of 15.

CONCLUSION

The results of the longitudinal testing and its evaluation show that the performance of talented children and youth in orienteering in the East Bohemia region of the Czech Republic is deteriorating. The linear trend of performance in the discipline of cross-country running shows a negative tendency in all the studied categories of younger and older pupils/students in the period 1997-2020. The smallest degree of deterioration can be observed in the tested category D12, and the largest regression in the category H14. In general, both older categories DH14 show a steeper negative trend in performance, which may indicate a lack of attention of coaches of pupils in the field of development of endurance skills before this age. It also demonstrates some connection with

the society-wide regression of motor fitness of Czech children by comparing the findings of Kovář & Měkota (1995) and CSI (2023) affecting essentially the same period as our observation. The evaluated measurement data and conclusions can significantly contribute to the construction of systematic training of young talents in orienteering, which will adequately respond to the identified long-term negative trend, as well as the society-wide regression in the field of motor fitness level.

REFERENCES

Adamec, R., Brtna, M., Bžezina, J., Dvořák, T., Gardošíková, D., Janáček, Š., ... Zavřel, R. (2021). *Bílá kniha. Analýzy a data o zdatnosti dětí v* ČR [The white book. Analyzes and data about children's fitness in the Czech Republic]. Praha: Český olympijský výbor.

Adams, D., & Saltin, B. (1980). Physical work capacity in orienteering (II). IOF-Report 2/1980.

Agricola, A., Cacek, J., Cuberek, R., Čepička, L., Flemr, L., Hnízdil, J., ... Zvonař, M. (2020). *Monitoring tělesné zdatnosti a pohybové aktivity žáků v České republice* [Monitoring physical fitness and physical activity of pupils in the Czech Republic]. Praha: Vysokoškolské sportovní centrum MŠMT.

Agricola, A., Bozděch, M., Válek, T., Nykodým, J., & Zháněl, J. (2022). The RAE in WJTF 2012-16: A 5-Years Longitudinal Study. *Conference Sport and Quality of Life* (pp. 43). Brno: Masaryk University.

Aubert, S., Barnes, J. D., Demchenko, I., Hawthrone, M., Abdeta, C., Nader, P. A., ... Tremblay, M. S. (2022). Global Matrix 4.0 Physical Activity Report Card grades for children and adolescents: Results and analyses from 57 countries. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *19*(11), 700–728.

Bailey, R., & Morley, D. (2006). Towards a model of talent development in physical education. *Sport, Education and Society, 11*, 211–230.

Batista, M. M., Paludo, A. C., Gula, J. N., Pauli, P. H., & Tartaruga, M. P. (2020). Physiological and cognitive demands of orienteering: a systematic review. *Sport Sciences for Health*, *16*, 591–600.

Bunc, V. et al. (2000). Školní mládež na konci dvacátého století. (Závěrečná zpráva projektu MŠMT/VS 97131) [School youth at the end of the twentieth century]. Prague: FTVS UK

Cahel, M., Košárek, P., & Novotný, R. (2015). *Koncepce práce s talentovanou mládeží* [The concept of work with talented youth]. http://www.orientacnibeh.cz/upload/dokumenty/sekce-ob/koncepce-mladez.pdf

Český svaz orientační sportů. (2018). *Pravidla orientačního běhu* [The rules of orienteering running]. http://www. orientacnibeh.cz/upload/dokumenty/sekce-ob/pravidlaob-18.pdf

Česká školní inspekce (2016). Vzdělávání v tělesné výchově, podpora rozvoje tělesné zdatnosti a pohybových dovedností [Education in physical education, promoting the development of physical fitness and movement skills]. Prague: ČŠI.

Česká školní inspekce (2023). Tělesná zdatnost žáků na základních a středních školách – tematická zpráva [Physical fitness of pupils in primary and secondary schools – thematic report]. Prague: ČŠI.

Fach, H. (1989). Performance diagnosis and training control in endurance sport – what might be useful for orienteers? *Scientific Journal of Orienteering*, *5*, 3–11.

Hnízdil, J., & Kirchner, J. (2005). Orientační sporty [Orienteering]. Prague: Grada.

Gába, A., Baďura, P., Dygrýn, J., Hamřík, Z., Kudláček, M., Rubín, L., Sigmund, E., Sigmundová, D., Vašíčková, J., & Vorlíček, M. (2022). *Národní zpráva o pohybové aktivitě českých dětí a mládeže 2022* [National Report on Physical Activity of Czech Children and Youth 2022]. Olomouc: Active Healthy Kids Czech Republic.

Gajda, V., & Měkota, K. (2000). Stav základní motorické výkonnosti mládeže mladšího školního věku v ostravském regionu. In M. Turek (Ed.), *Zborník z medzinárodnej vedeckej konferencie "Motorika detí predškolského a mladšieho školského veku"* pp. 121–130 [Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference Prešov – "Motorics of preschool and younger school-age children"]. Prešov: SVS.

Jensen, K., Johansen, L., & Kärkkäinen, O. P. (1999). Economy in track runners and orienteers during path and terrain running. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *17*, 945–950.

Kalman, M., Sigmund, E., Sigmundová, D., Hamřík, Z., Beneš, L., Benešová, D., & Csémy, L. (2010). Národní zpráva o zdraví a životním stylu dětí a školáků: na základě mezinárodního výzkumu uskutečněného v roce 2010 v rámci mezinárodního projektu Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: WHO Collaborative Cross-National study (HBSC) [National report on the health and lifestyle of children and schoolchildren: based on international research

conducted in 2010 as part of the international project Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: WHO Collaborative Cross-National study (HBSC)]. Olomouc: Palacký University Olomouc.

Kolb, H., Sobotka, R., & Werner, R. (1987). A model of performance-determining components in orienteering. *Scientific Journal of Orienteering*, *3*, 71–81.

Kovář. R., & Měkota, K. (1995). Unifittest (6-60) test and norms of motor performance and physical fitness in youth and in adult age. Olomouc: Palacký University Olomouc.

Langr, J. (1991). *Struktura výkonu v orientačním běhu* [Structure of performance in orienteering]. (Master's thesis, University of Hradec Králové).

Larsson, P., Burlin, L., Jakobsson, E., & Henriksson-Larsén, K. (2002). Analysis of performance in orienteering with treadmill tests and physiological field tests using a differential global positioning system. *Scientific Journal of Orienteering*, 20, 529–535.

Lehnert, M., Kudláček, M., Háp, P., Bělka, J., Neuls, F., Ješina, O., ... Štastný, P. (2014). Sportovní trénink I [Sports training I]. Olomouc: Palacký University Olomouc.

Měkota, K., & Blahuš, P. (1983). *Motorické testy v tělesné výchově* [Motor tests in physical education]. Prague: Státní pedagogické nakladatelství.

Millet, G. Y., Divert, C., Banizette, M., & Jean-Benoit, M. (2010). Changes in running pattern due to fatigue and cognitive load in orienteering. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 28, 153–160.

Morrow, J. R., Mood, D. P., Zhu, W., & Kang, M. (2023). *Measurement and Evaluation in Human Performance*. Champaign: Human Kinetics.

Moser, T., Gjerset, A., Johansen, E., & Vadder, L. (1995). Aerobic and anaerobic demands in orienteering. *Scientific Journal of Orienteering*, *11*, 3–30.

Müllerová, D., Langmajerová, J., Sedláček, P., Dvořáková, J., Hirschner, T., Weber, Z., ... Derflerová Brázdová, Z. (2015). Dramatic decrease in muscular fitness in Czech schoolchildren over the last 20 years. *Central European Journal of Public Health*, 23, 9–13.

Olds, T. S., Tomkinson, G. R., Leger, L. A., & Cazorla, G. (2006). Worldwide variation in the performance of children and adolescents: an analysis of 109 studies of the 20-m shuttle run test in 37 countries. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 24(10), 1025–1038.

Ortega, F. B., Leskošek, B., Blagus, R., Gil-Cosano, J. J., Mäestu, J., Tomkinson, G. R., ... Jurak, G. (2023). European fitness landscape for children and adolescents: updated reference values, fitness maps and country rankings based on nearly 8 million test results from 34 countries gathered by the FitBack network. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *57*, 299–310.

Perič, T. & Suchý, J. (2010). Identifikace sportovních talentů [Identification of sports talents]. Prague: Karolinum. Ranucci, M., Grassi, G., & Miserocchi, G. (1986). Anaerobic threshold in orienteers as an index of the aerobicanaerobic relative contributions to the total power output—a comparison with other endurance sports. Scientific Journal of Orienteering, 3, 124–133.

Rubín, L., Suchomel, A., & Kupr, J. (2014). Aktuální možnosti hodnocení tělesné zdatnosti u jedinců školního věku [Current possibilities of physical fitness assessment in school-age individuals]. Česká *kinantropologie* [Czech Kinanthropology], *18*(1), 11–22.

Růžička, I. (2009). Identifikace talentů a práce s nimi [Identifying talents and working with them]. *Orientační běh* [Orientation running], *5*, *9*–10.

Růžička, I., Křehký, A., Dostálová, R., Růžičková, K., Nalevanko, V., Walterová, S., & Agricola, A. (2022). Diagnostics of Motor Abilities in Primary School Pupils in the Hradec Králové and Pardubice Regions. *Studia Sportiva*, *16*(2), 144–157.

Saltin, B. (1972). Orienteringsträning [Orienteering training]. Rapport no. 10, Stockholm.

Soulek, V. (1991). *Teorie a praxe tréninku orientačních běžců* (I. díl) [Theory and practice of orienteering training (Volume I)]. Prague: ČSOB.

Soulek, V., & Škop, V. (1975). Výběr talentované mládeže pro orientační běh [Selection of talented youth for orienteering]. Prague: ÚV ČSTV.

Suchomel, A., & Rubín, L. (2017). Úroveň tělesné zdatnosti u dětí z libereckého regionu v mezinárodním kontextu [The level of physical fitness of children from the Liberec region in the international context]. *Studia Kinanthropologica, XVIII*(1), 41–53.

Tomkinson, G. R. (2007). Global changes in anaerobic fitness test performance of children and adolescents (1958–2003). *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, *17*(5), 497–507.

Tomkinson, G. R., Lang, J. J., & Tremblay, M. S. (2019). Temporal trends in the cardiorespiratory fitness of children and adolescents representing 19 high-income and upper middle-income countries between 1981 and 2014. *British journal of sports medicine*, *53*(8), 478–486.

Tomkinson, G. R., Léger, L. A., Olds, T. S., & Cazorla, G. (2003). Secular Trends in the Performance of Children and Adolescents (1980-2000): An Analysis of 55 Studies of the 20m Shuttle Run Test in 11 Countries. *Sports Medicine*, *33*, 285–300.

Türkmen, Ö, & Biçer, B. (2022). Effects of 8-Week Orienteering Training on Physical Fitness Parameters among Adolescents Aged 14-18 Years. *Biomed Research International*.

Contact Information:

Adrián Agricola, Faculty of Education, University of Hradec Králové Rokitanského 62, Hradec Králové 500 03, Czech Republic adrian.agricola@gmail.com

STUDENT SECTION

EDITORS:

Oldřich Racek Tomáš Vencúrik

Establishment of Puck Control Standards for Ice Hockey Players Ages 6–15

Lukáš Chmelíř^{1,2}, Tomáš Perič¹

¹Faculty of Physical Education and Sport, Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic ²Institute of Physical Education and Sport, VSB – Technical University of Ostrava, Ostrava, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Expert judgment in skill assessment via observational methods can introduce bias based on the evaluator. In the field of ice hockey, the development of standards rooted in scientifically derived tests remains a challenge. Hence, this study aims to define precise standards for ice hockey players aged from 6 to 15 years. Given the diverse skill set required in ice hockey, our work focuses on one of the basic skills – puck control. Employing Rasch and Mokken analyses, we designed an assessment tool in the form of a Guttman scale, ranking item difficulty, to evaluate puck control abilities of ice hockey players. This paper delineates the standards for puck control in ice hockey, specifically for players aged from 6 to 15 years in the Czech Republic, rated on a scale from 1 to 17. The standards have been tailored for cohorts of players aged between 6 and 7 years, between 8 and 9 years, between 10 and 11 years, between 12 and 13 years, and between 14 and 15 years. The standards are set to 0, 2, 4, 6, and 9 items, respectively.

Keywords: Rasch model; Guttman scale; Mokken analysis; Items

INTRODUCTION

Producing competitive players necessitates a tailored approach to training. Essential to this is the provision of relevant feedback for effective training strategies. Evaluating individual skills requires the development of tests grounded in scientific principles (Chmelíř & Perič, 2018). These tests serve as benchmarks, enabling the establishment of comparative standards. Such an approach augments training methodologies, emphasizing the need for consistent implementation (Kostka, 1963). Subsequently, it allows for assessing players against scientifically derived standards.

Ice hockey comprises a large number of skills, among which we concentrate on one essential aspect – puck control. Puck control is acknowledged as a foundational skill in ice hockey (*Hockey Canada*, c2022; Pavliš et al., 2003; Pavliš et al., 2009; USA Hockey, c2023), hence stickhandling technique receives much attention in training discussion worldwide (Bukač, 2014).

Our objective is to devise and employ an assessment tool to define puck control standards in ice hockey for players aged from 6 to 15 years in the Czech Republic.

Defining these standards and structuring cohorts necessitates consideration of methodological guidance from ice hockey federations. Additionally, factors involving ontogenesis need to be taken into account. Anatomical, physiological, pedagogical, and psychological developmental variances alongside individual disparities also demand attention.

The maturation of the central nervous system plays a major role in this context (Vágnerová, 2012). Perič (2008) also highlights variations among players concerning their aptitude for learning movements and the quality of the movement execution.

Furthermore, establishing standards requires acknowledgment of motor learning patterns, where the mastery of a given motor skill undergoes continual changes during the learning process. Skill levels of players evolve over time and are influenced by their learning pace (Ghorbani & Bund, 2017).

METHOD

In defining the standards, we employed a newly devised assessment tool to evaluate puck control of ice hockey players, structured as a Guttman scale ($\check{C}esk\acute{y}$ hokej, c2017-2023). The development of the tool adhered to specific protocols, starting with a thorough literature review, confirming the lack of a similar tool in both Czech and foreign literature. Subsequently, experts were selected based on predefined criteria to compile an item bank.

Drawing from the literature review and expert consultations, a comprehensive item bank counting 74 items was created. Next, the item bank was calibrated, with a meticulous selection of experts according to given rules to evaluate the calibration, and 357 players were chosen to validate the items. Each participant underwent testing across all 74 items.

Following testing, data were collected and evaluated, utilizing Rasch and Mokken analysis techniques. Items inconsistent with the Rasch model were removed from the item bank in seven sequential rounds (de Ayala, 2009). After the removal rounds, a selection round was conducted to identify items for inclusion in the assessment tool. Following the selection, the items were once again analyzed, resulting in the elimination of one more item from the tool. Throughout each round, content validity was assessed, and reliability was calculated using Cronbach's alpha. Mokken analysis further supported the reliability values (Stochl et al., 2012). Outlined below is the developed assessment tool, comprising 17 items arranged in a Guttman scale based on item difficulty for practical use (*Český hokej*, c2017-2023) and correct execution¹. To execute the items correctly (pass the item), players are required to skate as swiftly as possible. The cones used for practice must not exceed 5 cm in height.

¹ In naming and describing the items, we aimed for simplicity and clarity, avoiding excessive use of coaching jargon to ensure accessibility for the general public, while considering language differences in English-speaking countries.

Item 1 – Narrow stickhandling, forehand fake (two-handed), stationary. This item involves narrow stickhandling with a forehand fake (reach) while maintaining stickhandling (twice stickhandling, one wide). Players execute a relaxed, continuous movement without stopping, performed three times in a row. The emphasis is on the sliding skills of the lower hand, focusing on fluidity rather than quantity of movements.

Item 2 – Skating forward, tight turn around cone to the left and to the right (twice, with four cones). Players begin with the puck, executing a tight turn around the cone to the left, moving swiftly to the next cone, then executing a tight turn to the right. This sequence is repeated twice, with players skating forward as fast as possible while handling the puck. For positioning of the cones, see Figure 1 – Cone layout.



Figure 1. Cone layout

Item 3 – Forehand fake pass, backhand skating away. While stationary, players execute a fake pass on the forehand side, move the puck to the backhand side, and initiate skating away on the backhand side.

Item 4 – Narrow stickhandling, wide forehand (two-handed), skating forward. This item involves narrow stickhandling with a wide reach on the forehand side (only forehand) followed by back stickhandling (twice stickhandling, one wide). The emphasis is on relaxed, smooth, continuous movement without stopping, repeated three times consecutively; focusing on the sliding skills of the lower hand while skating forward.

Item 5 – Inside-edge forehand puck tuck between legs. While skating forward, players pass the puck from behind, through their legs, using an inside-edge kick of the skate to the stick.

Item 6 – Wide stickhandling, skating backward. While skating backward, players perform wide stickhandling (wider than shoulder width), maintaining smooth movement without stopping, repeated three times in a row as swiftly as possible.

Item 7 – Stickhandling behind the body, forward skating. Players execute stickhandling behind the body, extending to the side (forehand-backhand control), while moving straight forward, skating continuously.

Item 8 – Narrow stickhandling, lower-hand stick release to backhand, skating backward linear crossovers. While skating backward (linear crossovers), players perform narrow stickhandling, releasing the stick to one hand – the upper hand (twice stickhandling, one release). Emphasis is on

smooth, continuous movement, repeated three times in a row; focusing on the skill of releasing the lower hand, controlling the puck with one hand, and returning to both hands, all the while skating backward linear crossovers as swiftly as possible.

Item 9 – Leg slalom, forehand stickhandling slalom between cones alternate-side. Players navigate two rows of cones, one for legs and one for stickhandling, with five cones each, positioned approximately 2 m apart and 0.6 m wide. Players alternate skating slalom in the leg row and stickhandling slalom on the forehand side in the hand row, ensuring regular slaloming between legs and stickhandling while maintaining distinct rows for each. For cone layout, see Figure 2 – Alternate-side slalom.



Figure 2. Alternate-side slalom

Item 10 – Leg slalom, backhand stickhandling slalom between cones alternate-side. Players navigate two rows of cones, one for legs and one for stickhandling, with five cones each, positioned approximately 2 m apart and 0.6 m wide. Players maneuver in a slalom pattern in the leg row while executing stickhandling on the backhand side in the hand row. Players must not skate over to the hand row or perform stickhandling in the leg row. The task requires regular slaloming using feet and stickhandling using hands. For cone layout, see Figure 2 – Alternate-side slalom.

Item 11 – Stickhandling over lying stick (backhand to forehand, 1 out of 3 attempts). With a stick placed on the ice, players remain stationary and execute stickhandling (tossing the puck) over the lying stick from the backhand to forehand, maintaining control of the puck on the blade. Players must successfully complete this task at least once out of three attempts.

Item 12 – Leg slalom, forehand stickhandling slalom between cones same-side. Players navigate two rows of cones, one for legs and one for stickhandling, with five cones each, positioned approximately 2 m apart and 0.6 m wide. Players skate in a slalom pattern in the leg row while executing stickhandling on the forehand side in the hand row. Players must not skate over to the hand row or perform stickhandling in the leg row. This task demands consistent slaloming using feet and stickhandling using hands. For cone layout, see Figure 3 – Same-side slalom.



Figure 3. Same-side slalom

Item 13 – Leg slalom, backhand stickhandling slalom between cones, same-side. Players navigate two rows of cones, one for legs and one for stickhandling, with five cones each, positioned approximately 2 m apart and 0.6 m wide. Players skate in a slalom pattern in the leg row while executing stickhandling on the backhand side in the hand row. Players must not skate over to the hand row or perform stickhandling in the leg row. This task requires consistent slaloming using feet and stickhandling using hands. For cone layout, see Figure 3 – Same-side slalom.

Item 14 – Puck pickup with stick, catching by hand (1 out of 3 attempts). Players must pick up the puck from the ice solely with the stick and catch it. If the player fails to catch the puck due to glove interference (only hits the puck), it is considered a successful attempt. The player needs to achieve this successfully at least once out of three attempts.

Item 15 – Forward skating, fake move and pass, 360° turn, skating away on the other side, retaking the puck (three times). Players skate toward a cone, execute a fake move, pass the puck behind the cone, perform a 360° turn (simulating avoiding a defending player), skate to the other side of the cone, retrieve the puck, and continue to the next cone to repeat the sequence. This process is repeated three times. For cone layout and movement execution, see Figure 4 – Fake move 360°.



Figure 4. Fake move 360°

Item 16 – Varied leg and hand slalom on the forehand side. Players navigate two rows of cones, six for hands, five for legs, approximately 0.6 m wide. Players perform slalom skating in the leg row and stickhandling slalom on the forehand side in the hand row. Skating over to the hand row and stickhandling in the leg row are not allowed. This task necessitates consistent slaloming using legs and stickhandling using hands. For the irregular cone layout, see Figure 5 – Varied slalom.



Figure 5. Varied slalom

Item 17 – Varied leg and hand slalom on the backhand side. Players navigate two rows of cones, six for hands, five for legs, approximately 0.6 m wide. Players execute slalom skating in the leg row and stickhandling slalom on the backhand side in the hand row. Skating over to the hand row and stickhandling in the leg row are not allowed. This task necessitates consistent slaloming using legs and stickhandling using hands. For the irregular cone layout, see Figure 5 – Varied slalom.

In defining standards, it was essential to consider the recommendations provided by ice hockey associations and federations worldwide. These recommendations offer guidance regarding age groups and the commencement of skill acquisition, particularly in the field of puck control. These recommendations are globally remarkably similar, differing only in minor variations in terminology and the start of more intricate skill acquisition. Our standardization process in puck control for ice hockey players aged from 6 to 15 years took these global patterns into account.

Selecting appropriate hockey clubs for data collection was vital for our research. Only clubs encompassing all youth categories up to 16 years of age were included. Subsequently, players were chosen based on both calendar age and sport age criteria. Players had to meet both criteria, including an uninterrupted sport age in comparison to their peers, barring any major disruptions in regular training (except for common illnesses). Selected players adhered to training plans (length and number of training units per week, training content) according to the methodological materials recommended by the Czech Hockey Federation for the respective age cohort.

The age of selected players ranged from 6 to 15 years, following methodological recommendations. In keeping with these recommendations, organized training typically starts toward the end of preschool age or at the beginning of junior school age, aligning with skills acquired at the third stage of motor learning by the end of school age. Defining standards for cohorts within a two-year span appeared the most appropriate choice. Our goal was to include as many players as possible, evenly distributed across all age cohorts. Considering practical experience and application of the defined standards, age cohorts were established at two-year intervals, since players participate in official games as members of one team. Hence, standards were defined for players up to 7 years of age (U7), 9 years of age (U9), 11 years of age (U11), 13 years of age (U13), and 15 years of age (U15).

For statistical analysis, we employed MS Excel and basic descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, median).

RESULTS

Data were collected from 1,102 players aged from 6 to 15 years, evenly distributed across age categories with approximately 200 players per category.

Completed items	Number of U7 players	Number of U9 players	Number of U11 players	Number of U13 players	Number of U15 players
0	92	47	22	8	1
1	33	54	36	21	5
2	40	73	31	20	8
3	7	31	25	18	13
4	1	25	34	20	4
5	7	6	11	11	3
6	0	8	35	31	12
7	0	4	14	10	9

 Table 1. Standards

8	0	1	20	29	26
9	0	3	23	29	38
10	0	0	2	5	13
11	0	1	8	14	31
12	0	0	2	2	11
13	0	0	1	3	1
14	0	0	2	0	5
15	0	0	0	0	1
16	0	0	0	0	1
17	0	0	0	0	0
Total players	180	253	266	221	182
Mean	0.96	2.15	4.56	5.73	8.2
Median	0	2	4	6	9
Standard deviation	1.25	1.9	3.24	3.3	3.25

These data constituted the basis for defining puck control standards among ice hockey players aged from 6 to 15 years in the Czech Republic.

DISCUSSION

Our study aimed to establish standards for puck control in ice hockey in the Czech Republic. The standards were set across age categories up to 7 years (U7), up to 9 years (U9), up to 11 years (U11), up to 13 years (U13) and up to 15 years (U15). Based on reviewed literature (Hockey Canada, c2022; USA Hockey, c2023) and practice requirements, the standards were not delineated for each individual year of age but rather for cohorts spanning two years, aligning with the common practice in youth competitions, where players might compete with those a year older (*Český hokej*, c2017-2023). The chosen two-year range of the cohorts adheres to global norms and methodological recommendations in ice hockey.

Furthermore, the practical differences in puck control mastery between players with a oneyear age difference are relatively minimal, particularly in the early stages of systematic training. Their contribution to practice is deemed negligible. Hence, we believe that defining standards for cohorts with a two-year interval is appropriate for both our study and practical implementation. This approach can be recommended for further research with a similar focus.

We believe that a cohort size of approximately 200 players suffices for defining standards. Given that youth teams generally comprise 10 to 17 players ($\check{C}esk\check{y}$ hokej, c2017-2023), our sample for standard definition encompasses more than ten teams with complete rosters. Teams typically commence with a player count closer to the minimum and expand thereafter. Therefore, we consider our sample to be adequate for establishing general standards.

Although our study aimed to define puck control standards, it is worth noting that publications on ice hockey standards often emphasize the health of players (Andrews et al., 2022; Ziadia et al.,

2023) or their physical abilities (Stastny et al., 2023; Vigh-Larsen et al., 2020) rather than specific skills. A similar trend is present in other sports as well. In the domain of motor learning, the focus is primarily on the methodology of setting standards (Lindsay et al., 2022; van Abswoude et al., 2021). This emphasis arises from the ease of data collection through standardized tests. In our view, it is therefore necessary to develop skill-based tests tailored to individual sports, particularly team sports, and utilize these scientifically based tests to establish standards suitable for evaluating athletes and providing relevant immediate feedback.

CONCLUSION

Based on data collected from 1,102 players aged from 6 to 15 years, we established puck control standards for each cohort. The cohorts comprised players aged from 6 to 7 years, from 8 to 9 years, from 10 to 11 years, from 12 to 13 years, and from 14 to 15 years, respectively. For each cohort, data were collected from approximately 200 players, ensuring comparable representation across all age groups.

The standards are set at 0, 2, 4, 6, and 9 completed items out of 17 in total for each cohort, arranged from the youngest to the oldest players.

The anticipated skill levels align with expectations for beginners as they start to play hockey and acquire foundational skills. A turning point occurs with the cohort ages from 10 to 11 years. According to conventional recommendations, the training of players up to the age of 11 years should emphasizes skating and the puck control. However, the progression remains steady, increasing by approximately two items per cohort, without a significant leap, persisting through the cohort of ages from 12 to 13 years.

Our findings suggest that the skill levels of players in both the cohort of ages from 12 to 13 years and particularly the cohort of ages from 14 to 15 years do not reach the anticipated levels. Despite the expectation that the oldest cohort would have mastered all puck control skills, our research indicates that their performance falls slightly below the mid-point of the scale, rather than approaching the highest skill level.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the Charles University Grant Agency, project GA UK No. 610419 and the Czech Ice Hockey Association.

This research was supported by the Charles University Cooperatio Program, No. 120015, Social Science Panel, Sport Science-Social Program.

Článek vznikl za podpory programu Cooperatio, č. 120015, Společenskovědní panel, program Sport Science-Social. All authors reviewed the results and approved the final version of the manuscript.

The project has been approved by the Ethics Committee of UK FTVS under the number 181/2018.

REFERENCES

Andrews, E., Jildeh, T., Abbas, M., Lindsay-Rivera, K., Berguson, J., & Okoroha, K. (2022). Concussions in the National Hockey League: Analysis of Incidence, Return to Play, and Performance. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/23259671211052069

Bukač, L. (2014). Trénink herní přirozenosti (1 ed.). Grada Publishing.

Český hokej: Vznikl soubor testů pro porovnání technických dovedností mladých hokejistů. (c2017-2023). Český hokej. Retrieved 2023-04-03, from https://www.ceskyhokej.cz/

Český hokej: Žákovské ligy. (c2017-2023). Retrieved 2023-04-03, from https://www.ceskyhokej.cz/hokejovesouteze/zakovske-ligy

de Ayala, R. (2009). The theory and practice of item response theory (1 ed.). The Guilford Press.

Ghorbani, S., & Bund, A. (2017). Throwing Skills: Analysis of Movement Phases in Early Motor Learning. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 124(2), 502-514.

Hockey Canada. (c2022). Retrieved 2023-04-03, from https://www.hockeycanada.ca/en-ca/hockey-programs.aspx

Chmelíř, L., & Perič, T. (2018). Diagnostika herních činností jednotlivce hráčů ledního hokeje na příkladu

uvolňování hráče s kotoučem. In J. Suchý, A. Rychtecký, T. Perič, J. Polívková, L. Komínková, J. Macho & T. Korbelář, *Scientia Movens 2018* (pp. 41-45). UK FTVS.

Kostka, V. (1963). Útok v ledním hokeji (1.). Sportovní a turistické nakladatelství, vydavatelství ÚV ČSTV.

Lindsay, A., Coughenour, C., Case, L., Bevell, J., Fryer, V., & Brian, A. (2022). A Review of Motor Skill Development in State-Level Early Learning Standards for Preschoolers in the United States. *Journal of Motor Learning and Development*, *10*(3), 355-370. https://doi.org/10.1123/jmld.2021-0067

Pavliš, Z., Perič, T., Heller, J., Janák, V., Jansa, P., & Čáslavská, E. (2003). Školení trenérů ledního hokeje: vybrané obecné obory (1. vyd). Český svaz ledního hokeje.

Pavliš, Z., Perič, T., Novák, Z., & Beránek, J. (2009). Příručka pro trenéry ledního hokeje. I. část (1 ed.). Český svaz ledního hokeje.

Perič, T. (2008). Sportovní příprava dětí (2., dopl. vyd). Grada.

Stastny, P., Musalek, M., Roczniok, R., Cleather, D., Novak, D., & Vagner, M. (2023). Testing distance characteristics and reference values for ice-hockey straight sprint speed and acceleration. A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Biology of Sport*, *40*(3), 899-918. https://doi.org/10.5114/biolsport.2023.122479

Stochl, J., Jones, P., & Croudace, T. (2012). Mokken scale analysis of mental health and well-being questionnaire item responses: a non-parametric IRT method in empirical research for applied health researchers. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-12-74

USA Hockey. (c2023). Retrieved 2023-04-03, from https://www.usahockey.com/coaches

Vágnerová, M. (2012). Vývojová psychologie: dětství a dospívání (Vydání druhé, doplněné a přepracované). Karolinum.

van Abswoude, F., Mombarg, R., de Groot, W., Spruijtenburg, G., & Steenbergen, B. (2021). Implicit motor learning in primary school children: A systematic review. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *39*(22), 2577-2595. https://doi. org/10.1080/02640414.2021.1947010

Vigh-Larsen, J., Haverinen, M., Panduro, J., Ermidis, G., Andersen, T., Overgaard, K., Krustrup, P., Parkkari, J., Avela, J., Kyröläinen, H., & Mohr, M. (2020). On-Ice and Off-Ice Fitness Profiles of Elite and U20 Male Ice Hockey Players of Two Different National Standards. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, *34*(12), 3369-3376. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000003836

Ziadia, H., Sassi, I., Trudeau, F., & Fait, P. (2023). Normative values of resting heart rate variability in young male contact sport athletes: Reference values for the assessment and treatment of concussion. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2022.730401

Contact Information:

L.CHMELIR@SEZNAM.CZ tel: +420604244424 (orcid 0000-0002-9008-6463)

The Influence of the HIIT and Aerobic Training Programs on Body Composition

Petra Janíčková, Michaela Zhánělová, Eduard Hrazdíra

Faculty of Sports Studies, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Purpose: According to studies, the increasing risk of obesity in the general population is mainly caused by insufficient physical activity. The main goal of this study was to compare the effect of two types of endurance training. High-intensity interval training (HIIT) and moderate-intensity continuous training and their effect on chosen aspects of body composition. Methods: This study included women (n = 14; 32 years old; height 166.3cm; weight 62.5kg) divided into two groups of seven participants. A deliberate selection of 7 participants selected the tested groups. The women trained three times a week for ten weeks. Pre-test and post-test were conducted in the week before the beginning and the end of these ten weeks using non-invasive techniques (anthropometric measurements, body composition analysis - bioimpedance analysis). Parameters were analyzed using the pair T-test. Factual significance was evaluated using Cohens d. Results: Despite the relatively small number of participants, it can be stated that the group that trained using the high-intensity interval training showed better results. However, the final data could not be used to compare the statistically relevant efficiency of the two methods in body fat loss. The changes in studied parameters were, therefore, marked as statistically insignificant. Conclusion: Despite the relevant results, the HIIT program showed better results. It is crucial to expand the testing group and consider the subjects' eating regimen, motivation, and readiness for testing to continue. High-intensity interval training is shown to be a promising training program for body composition alternation due to its variability and low time consumption.

Keywords: body composition; intensity; interval training; physical exercise; bioimpedance analysis.

INTRODUCTION

Most of the adult population does not achieve recommended levels of physical activity, which negatively contributes to the global epidemic of overweight/obesity and related cardiovascular diseases. Physical activity is essential to weight loss programs and is integral to obesity treatment. Endurance training has an irreplaceable place in sports training, especially in terms of body fat percentage. Physical activity has many health benefits, such as positive effects on weight loss and even breaking down body fat with the added benefit of retaining muscle mass and total body weight. (Bellicha et al., 2021). Moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) is often recommended for its greater ability to break down fat storage and higher energy output compared to anaerobic training, as an example stated by Geliebter et al., already in 1997. Currently, it is recommended to train at least 150 minutes of medium-intensity exercise or 75 minutes of high-intensity exercise three days a week to achieve a positive change in the physical performance and overall health of an individual (Sultana et al., 2019). Doing this type of exercise can offer several health benefits, such as cardiorespiratory health, metabolic health, and musculoskeletal health (Scoubeau, 2022), which is closely tied to a decrease in body fat. Most exercises specifically targeting weight loss in adults and individuals suffering from adiposity are recommended to include continual medium-intensity training (Sultana et al., 2019). Not having enough time to exercise is considered to be a frequent reason for the lack of physical activity in the general population (Keating et al., 2014). High-intensity interval training (HIIT) could offer comparable health benefits more time-efficiently than regular aerobic exercise, more commonly referred to as MICT of published research abroad. Moreover, it is applicable to the general public. HIIT is characterized as an exercise alternating between intervals of high intensity and either low intensity or a complete rest. De Feo (2013) characterizes HIIT as a repetitive high-intensity exercise for 30 seconds to several minutes, separated by 1 to 5 min of recovery.

On the contrary, MICT, generally referred to as aerobic training, lasts for a longer time period. According to WHO (2020), aerobic activity can be defined as endurance activity improving cardiorespiratory ability. Walking, jogging, swimming, or cycling can be used as examples of such activity. Aerobic exercise contributes to clinically significant loss of fat and muscle gain and decreases the risk of cardiovascular diseases (de Oliveira, 2020). The study of Stevenson et al. (2009) defines aerobic training as a type of endurance training that gradually hastens metabolism and stimulates the body to burn fat intensively, similar to HIIT training. On the contrary, HIIT is an efficient tool for body weight decrease. It also improves endurance and, in some cases, even increases the amount of muscle mass. It can be considered one of the most efficient training methods, even though the exercise lasts a relatively short time. However, in contrast to other MICT and strength training activities, HIIT is not based on low intensity. As the name suggests, it is a type of interval in which high-intensity intervals follow low-intensity intervals. Recently, the general population became aware of these high-intensity educational programs. Despite the initial positive feedback, the realization of these programs is quite problematic due to the alreadymentioned requirements of high intensity. The study by Amaro-Gahete (2019) states that HIIT is turning out to be a time-efficient strategy to improve body composition. It systematically describes that medium-intensity training programs show similar results to HIIT programs, both leading to the decrease of body fat (FFM- fat-free mass) in individuals leading a sedentary lifestyle and individuals suffering from overweight/obesity. The difference is that HIIT shows the same results while saving about 40% of time invested in exercise weekly. It can be concluded that HIIT is a more time-efficient alternative to basic aerobic training. The study of Amaro-Gahete (2019) also mentions the positive but inconclusive results of HIIT's effects on body composition parameters in individuals with a wide age range and varied biological factors. Despite that, HIIT is still the most modern, time-effective method of exercise at the moment. There are other alternative programs to this type of exercise being developed constantly.

A wide range of medical examinations revealing shortcomings and possible health problems can be used to prevent obesity. InBody device is one of the technologies specializing in obesity diagnosis. This device can calculate the body composition using a tetrapolar arrangement of electrodes, which send electric signals through the human body. After determining body fat percentage, bioimpedance analysis is often used. The most common indicator of excess body weight is BMI (body mass index). According to Cacek et al. (2014), the amount of excess body fat is one of the most important aspects of obesity. It describes the health risks for the individual and informs about the physical state and performance.

This study focused on two types of endurance training: moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) and High-intensity interval training (HIIT). The continual method is primarily used for the development of aerobic endurance during a continual strain of a cyclic character, otherwise known as a periodic exercise that lasts for a longer period (Máček et al., 2011). As a study by Novotný et al. (2008) states, aerobic training with a continuous load and low intensity is long-term slow movement training over a longer distance (Novotný, 2008). On the other hand, interval methods alternate between intervals of load and rest. During the rest phase, the heart rate and ventilation do not recover completely, which is characteristic of this type of method. This variable method progressively enhances the endurance of an individual (Bernacíková et al., 2017).

The main goal of this study was to compare the impact of the two types of training load, HIIT and MICT, and their effect on body composition in women by using a 10-week intervention program. Based on the previous studies, we assume that MICT will show lower effectiveness on body composition than HIIT.

METHODS

Participants

All participants were healthy female recreational athletes performing aerobic sports activity up to 150 minutes per week (n = 14; women; average: 32 years old; height 166.3cm; weight 62.5kg). Participants were selected through purposive sampling. Women must be pre-menopausal, have no injuries, not take any medication, and be non-smokers. They were randomly divided into two groups of seven subjects. Pre-test and post-test were conducted using non-invasive techniques (anthropometric measurements, body composition analysis - bioimpedance analysis).

Procedures

The MICT and HIIT training program lasted for ten weeks with a frequency of three times a week (30 training units total).

Training protocol

The intervention program (Table 1.) was composed of an exercise unit performed three times a week for 10 weeks. A 5-minute warmup was initiated in every unit. It finished with an individual stretching. The training sessions of the MICT group lasted for 60 minutes and took place on a treadmill. The maximum heart rate (HRmax) was determined to be around 60–75 % of an individual HRmax. Training sessions of HIIT groups were split into three times repetition short intervals (30 s bouts and 30 s rest) Both of the protocols. MTF was set to 85-95% HRmax. The equation for calculating HRmax = $208 - (0.7 \times age)$ (Tanaka et al., 2001). Heart rate was monitored using a Polar Heart Rate monitor (Polar® RS800sd Kempele, Finland) and was recorded at the completion of each high-intensity interval, and reported as percentage of age-predicted HRmax.

Group	Number of participants	Duration	Intervention including warm up and cool down	% HRmax
MICT	7 women	3x per week 10 weeks at all	65min walking/running motorized treadmill	60-75% HRmax
HIIT	7 women	3x per week 10 weeks at all	3x (30s running, whole-body exercise, 30s rest), 1:1 35min per session	85-95% HRmax

Table 1. Training protocol of the MICT and HIIT groups

Anthropometric characteristics and body composition measurements

Complete body composition analysis was undertaken using Inbody720 (Biospace, South Korea) segmental Body Composition Analyzer. Body height (cm) was measured by a stadiometer with 0.1 cm precision. Participants stood upright and barefoot by a wall, wearing thin sports clothes. Heels, behind, and shoulder blades were touching the wall. Bioelectric impedance analysis InBody was used for measuring body fat, muscle mass, waist-to-hip ratio, area of visceral fat, and mass.

Methods of data collection, data processing, and evaluation

Basic theoretical and practical preparations were conducted, undesirable elements were removed, and personal analysis was performed. All the women from both intervention programs went through a complete body analysis (Inbody 720), both at the start and at the end of the whole program. Pretest and post-test were conducted 6 days before and 6 days after the 10- week intervention at the Faculty of Sports Studies. On the day of testing and the day previously, they had not completed any training, and according to the set measurement schedule, they came on an empty stomach. Before starting the measurement by InBody, the participants were familiarized with the measurement procedure, and they were the examiner conditions for the accuracy of the measured values to be ensured. Changes in the body composition were acquired. The main goal was to study changes in body fat and muscle mass. The secondary parameters were body mass and body mass index (BMI). The range of the effect changes between the HIIT and MICT was assessed by pair testing – Cohen

d. The results were transferred into tables and graphs for better illustration. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05 and was tested using the Wilcoxon paired test.

RESULTS

From both of the study groups, 7 women finished the intervention program. The changes in body composition of the HIIT group are shown in Table 2. Values of body fat, muscle mass, body mass, body fat percentage, and BMI were compared.

Woman	Weig	ht (kg)	Body	fat (kg)	Muscle	Mass (kg)	Bod percen	y fat tage (%)	BMI (k	g/m2)
	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post
TW1	75.6	76.9	20.7	22.3	30.64	30.33	27.42	28.98	25.26	25.69
TW2	57.3	57.3	14.1	13	23.65	24,35	24.52	22.71	19.83	19.86
TW3	71.4	71	22.8	22.4	26.68	26.77	31.99	31.53	24.71	24.57
TW4	63.4	67.3	11.7	12.9	28.69	30.09	18.48	19.19	21.31	22.62
TW5	53.2	52.6	14.4	12.2	21.12	22.03	27.06	23.25	22.14	21.89
TW6	60	58.2	17.8	15.3	23.11	23.59	29.69	26.33	24.03	23.31
TW7	79.1	77.1	28.4	25.8	28.09	28.52	35.92	33.43	28.03	27.32

Table 2. Persona	l characteristics of	f group HIIT,	pre- and post-testing.
		- <u> </u>	F F

Legend:TW = Tested woman

The expected progress after the HIIT intervention was primarily in decreased stored body fat and increased muscle mass. The results show that the changes that took place mainly were individual. Five women (TW 2, 3, 5, 6, 7) both decreased their body fat percentage and increased their muscle mass. In these instances, either a drop or a constant value of total body weight was recorded. Despite regular exercise, a rise in both body fat percentage and total body weight was recorded in two cases (TW 1, 4).

As it is shown in Table 3., the results in these cases are incredibly different. Unlike in HIIT, the primary assumption was decreased total fat without increasing additional muscle mass. However, this occurred only in two cases (TW 5, 7). In two instances (TW 3, 6), both a decrease in total fat and an increase in muscle mass were recorded. The rest of the subjects (TW 1, 2, 4) showed an increase in muscle mass but also an increase in body fat.

Woman	Weigl	nt (kg)	Body f	fat (kg)	Muscle	Mass (kg)	Bod percen	y fat tage (%)	BMI (l	xg/m2)
	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post
TW1	71.6	73.3	21.7	23.1	28.04	28.22	30.25	31.45	27.28	27.93
TW2	63	65.3	16.7	17.2	25.64	26.53	26.46	26.33	22.32	23.14
TW3	60.9	61.4	14.1	14	25.99	26.35	23.16	22.82	21.07	21.25
TW4	67.8	69	22.9	24	24.61	24.77	33.85	34.84	24.6	25.04
TW5	75.8	75.2	24	23.8	28.55	28.37	31.72	31.7	25.62	25.42
TW6	51.5	51.4	15.3	13.9	19.44	20.15	29.66	26.98	21.16	21.12
TW 7	72.9	72.2	24.6	24.4	26.67	26.48	33.69	33.76	26.14	25.89

Table 3. Personal characteristics of group MICT, pre-and post-testing.

Legend: TW = Tested woman

During Wilcoxon body fat testing, the significance value was p < 0.5 (Table 4.). Even though in 5 cases, there was a decrease in body fat recorded, we can conclude that the changes in the total body fat were insignificant. Regarding muscle mass (Table 5.), there was an increase recorded in 6 cases. Due to the fact that the studied group was small, the value of the increase in muscle mass was considered a statistically significant p = 0.043.

	Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test (X1_Spreadsheet3) Marked tests are						
Pair of Variables	significant at p< .05						
	Valid N	Т	Ζ	p-value			
Fat before (kg)& Fat after (kg)	7	7	1.183	0.237			

Table 4. Wilcoxon paired test for body fat - HIIT

Table 5. Wilcoxon paired test for muscle mass - HIIT

	Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test (X1_Spreadsheet3) Marked tests are						
Pair of Variables	significant at p< .05						
	Valid N	Т	Z	p-hodnota			
Muscle mass before (kg)& Muscle	7	r	2 0 2 3	0.043			
mass after (kg)	/	2	2.025	0.045			

When performing a statistical evaluation of MICT, the situation was similar to that of HIIT, as there were no significant changes in body fat in the tested subjects (Table 6). In this case, there were no statistically significant changes in the amount of skeletal muscle mass (Table 7).

Table 6. Wilcoxon paired test for body fat - MICT

	Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test (data)						
Pair of Variables	Marked tests are significant at p < .05						
	Valid (N)	Т	Z	p-value			
Body fat pre and post (kg)	7	12	0.338	0.735			

Table 7. Wilcoxon paired test for muscle mass -MICT

	Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Test (data)						
Pair of Variables	Marked tests are significant at p < .05						
	Valid (N)	Т	Z	p-value			
Body mass pre and post (kg)	7	6.5	1.268	0.205			

The effect of both groups, MICT and HIIT (Table 8., Table 9.), on BMI is very small (d_{MICT} 0.091; d_{HIIT} =0.003) as well as body weight (d_{MICT} 0.073, d_{HIIT} =0.006) and body fat d_{MICT} =0.034, d_{HIIT} =0.150). A minimal effect was recorded on the body fat percentage in the MICT group (d_{MICT} =0.031), and a higher value was recorded in the HIIT group (d_{HIIT} =0.258). In both groups, there were small but positive changes (increase) in muscle mass (MM-kg) when comparing participants in the groups (d_{MICT} =0.095, d_{HIIT} =0.157).

	MICT		Effect
	М	SD	Cohen´s d
BMI_pre	24.03	2.53	0.091
BMI_post	24.26	2.53	
PBF_pre	29.83	3.89	0.031
PBF_post	29.70	4.40	
BW_pre	66.21	8.40	0.073
BW_post	66.83	8.32	
BF_pre	19.90	4.40	0.034
BF_post	20.06	4.84	
MM_pre	25.56	3.02	0.095
MM_post	25.84	2.79	

Table 8. Group MICT - Comparison pre- and post-selected variables

Legend: M- Mean, SD- standard deviation, BMI- Body Mass Index, PBF- Percentage of Body Fat, BW- Body Weight, BF- Body Fat, MM- Muscle Mass.

Table 9. Group HIIT- Comparison pre and post-selected variables

	HIIT		Effect
	Μ	SD	Cohen´s d
BMI_pre	23.62	2.49	0.003
BMI_post	23.61	2.49	
PBF_pre	27.87	5.56	0.258
PBF_post	26.49	5.13	
BW_pre	65.71	9.79	0.006
BW_post	65.77	9.87	
BF_pre	18.56	5.83	0.150
BF_post	17.7	5.63	
MM_pre	26	3.45	0.157
MM_post	26.53	3.29	

Legend: M- Mean, SD- standard deviation, BMI- Body Mass Index, PBF- Percentage of Body Fat, BW- Body Weight, BF- Body Fat, MM- Muscle Mass.

The difference between BMI in the groups (Table 10.) according to the type of exercise was minimal before the exercise (d=0.164). After exercise, the difference between the groups according to the type of exercise increased (d=0.258). The difference between MM in the groups according to the type of exercise was minimal before the exercise (d=0.134). There was a slight difference in the comparison before the start of the research in BF (d=0.260). The post-exercise MM difference between groups by type of exercise increased (d=0.225), as did BF (d=0.449). When comparing both groups' pre-and post-testing, the difference in BW values was evaluated as very small (dpre=0.055, dpost=0.116).

	MICT x HIIT d	
BMI_pre	0.164	
BMI_post	0.260	
PBF_pre	0.410	
PBF_post	0.670	
BW_pre	0.055	
BW_post	0.116	
BF_pre	0.260	
BF_post	0.449	
MM_pre	0.134	
MM_post	0.225	

Table 10. Comparison of pre and post-testing groups MICT and HIIT.

Legend: d- Cohen's d, BMI-Body Mass Index, PBF- Percentage of Body Fat, BW- Body Weight, BF- Body Fat, MM- Muscle Mass.

Physical activity had a significantly higher effect when comparing both training groups on the percentage of body fat (PBF) at the post-test, where the value of Cohen's d gives the difference in the type of exercise as a medium effect (d=0.672).

DISCUSSION

The study aimed to compare the effects of high-intensity interval training (HIIT) and moderateintensity continuous training (MICT) on body composition in adult women active in sports. The results show that the changes that have occurred are mostly insignificant. The only exception showing statistically significant change was the amount of muscle mass in women participating in HIIT training. Even though the individual training units were physically quite demanding (especially in HIIT), it is interesting that in some cases, there was an increase in total body fat recorded, even though the opposite was expected. The predicted phenomenon of the HIIT intervention was the reduction of total body fat and adding skeletal muscles. This occurred in 5 of the seven tested subjects. In the case of MICT, there was a drop in total body fat without increasing muscle mass in two cases. In the other two cases, there was an increase in total muscle mass and loss of total body fat recorded.

Excess body weight and obesity have become a serious global threat to all generations. Optimal cardiovascular physical activity – fitness is considered a protective factor, decreasing the risk of chronic diseases, mainly cardiovascular illnesses. According to the American Global survey by the Fitness College of Sports Medicine Trendy 2019, which focused on High-intensity training, HIIT was the most significant fitness trend from 2014 to 2018 (Scoubeau et al., 2022). Studies indicate that a higher intensity of exercise could be an effective alternative to improving cardiorespiratory functions and body composition by decreasing the amount of stored body fat. Therefore, finding an effective means to motivate the general public to exercise is crucial. The general public tends to be less active and, therefore, is susceptible to diseases connected to having higher amounts of body fat (Alves et al., 2021). Rossi et al. (2021) claim their studies describe HIIT as a more effective means to reduce body fat storage compared to endurance training of medium intensity. Despite that, a recent

meta-analysis did not show any better results of HIIT on body fat reduction compared to mediumintensity continual training (Andreato et al., 2019; Keating et al., 2017; Sultana et al., 2019). Because of this, it is appropriate to continue to study and debate this topic. Including more variables that could impact body mass management in future studies, such as energy input and output, would be beneficial. Chao L. et al. (2022) also confirm changes in values of body composition. After the 8-week intervention program, there was an increase in muscle mass and a decrease in body fat percentage in both tested groups. A MICT group also showed positive changes in the amount of total fat and the visceral fat area. Our findings differ from the previous studies. The probable cause could be characteristics of the subjects. In the studies, a significant group of the subjects were untrained adults with excessive body weight or obesity. In our case, most subjects were already trained and used to frequent exercise. More studies are required to describe the mechanism. In his study, De Oliveira et al. (2020) stated that HIIT training protocols have similar effects on the human body as the MICT protocols in adults with sedentary lifestyles. In addition, the effects of HIIT rarely affect body composition or critical proteins related to muscle mass gain. Similar findings were described in the systematic overview and meta-analysis of Wewege et al. (2017), which studied the effects of a moderate-intensity continuous exercise program together with a high-intensity interval training program on fat mass in sedentary individuals, with the conclusion that both exercise programs have similar effects on fat mass. Likewise, a study by Keating S.E. et al. (2014) compared HIIT with MICT. During the first week, the intensity ranged from 30 minutes at 50% VO2 max. to 45 minutes at 65% VO2 max three times per week (total 108-114 minutes per week). After 12 weeks, there was no significant change in total weight (p = 0.30), but fat loss was statistically significant (p < 0.05) for both continuous training (-2.6%) and HIIT (-0.3%). Visceral fat loss was also highly significant (p < 0,01). On the other hand, the study of Heinrich, K.M. et al. (2014) did not register any effect of HIIT and MICT on BMI and body mass even after an 8-week intervention, which was carried out 3 times a week. An 8-week study was conducted in Iran, where the intervention group did MICT three times a week (50 minutes). The intensity was in the range of 60-85 % MTF (maximum heart rate). The final measurements and statistical analysis show that body fat and waist circumference decreased (p < 0,05). The control group, which did not train at all, showed no significant changes Rastegar et al. (2014). The research of Willis et al. (2012) laboratory compared three training groups, where one did aerobic training. There were both fat loss and body mass loss recorded in this group. D'aleva et al. (2023) state that HIIT and a combination of HIIT with MICT training improved anthropometry and cardiovascular parameters and the rate of fat oxidation to a similar extent. However, the combination of both the combined interval training and moderate-intensity continuous exercise was less intense than HIIT. Study has shown that the combination of low-volume HIIT with high-volume moderate-intensity training is an effective way to improve fat oxidation, metabolic rate, and body composition in obese individuals. In most cases, the authors agree on the positive effect of MICT and HIIT on fat loss. However, they do not concern themselves with increasing or maintaining muscle mass. In addition, HIIT can improve body composition and aerobic capacity (Adimi et al., 2022).

CONCLUSION

To conclude, comparing the effects of these types of training is quite relevant due to the achieved results. A limiting factor for the possibility of generalizing the results to a broader population is the small number of participants and their deliberate selection for this part of the research. Despite the small sample of women tested, better results were achieved in the HIIT intervention program, especially concerning body fat percentage (d=0,670). Here, the expected changes occurred in 5 subjects, in the MICT program, only in 4 subjects. An important argument for this statement is also the fact that there was an increase in body fat in three women attending the MICT program.

Intervention programs are known for their demands on the time of subjects, who, despite their busyness, try to regularly participate in the prepared program. However, from the data collected, it cannot be assessed if the positive impact of HIIT is more significant on body composition than MICT. In order to continue the research, it is necessary to obtain a more extensive test group and consider diet, preparation, and motivation, which could have influenced the results to an extent. It should be noted that although some individuals cannot or will not undergo this type of high-intensity exercise, the flexible nature of HIIT protocols (intensity, duration, effort, rest period, volume, modality, etc.) allows moderation of the training to their preferences and abilities. Due to the appropriate knowledge of this type of training, sports professionals who work with insufficiently active or overweight people can currently use HIIT modified with MICT aimed at fat loss, decreasing BMI, or improving energy balance.

According to the systematic reviews and meta-analyses (Andreato et al., 2019; Keating et al.; Rossi et al., 2022; Scoubeau et al., 2022; Sultana et al., 2019; Wewege et al., 2017;), it can be claimed that both MICT and HIIT improve body weight and body composition in adults, not only overweight or obese. Benefits of exercise include reduction of mass, weight, total body fat, and visceral fat tissue. Even though the effect on weight and fat loss is relatively small, reducing visceral fat is probably related to improving cardiometabolic health in these individuals. It is important to add that loss of visceral fat can occur even if the participants experience little or no weight loss. HIIT allows the general population to adapt to their abilities and preferences (Neves et al., 2023). Thus, we can argue that HIIT provides beneficial changes for public health.

REFERENCES:

Adimi, S., Azarbayjani, M. A., Naderi, N., & Alizadehasl, A. (2022). Effects of 12 Weeks of Aerobic Exercise (High-Intensity Interval Training or Moderate Intensity Continuous Training) with and without Blood Flow Restriction on Anthropometric Indices in Women with Cardiotoxicity after Breast Cancer Treatment. *Iranian Journal of Breast Diseases*, *15*(2), 18-35.

Alves, A. R., Marinho, D. A., Pecêgo, M., Ferraz, R., Marques, M. C., & Neiva, H. P. (2021). Strength training combined with high-intensity interval aerobic training in young adults' body composition. *Trends in Sport Sciences*, 28(3), 187-193. doi:10.23829/TSS.2021.28.3-3

Amaro-Gahete, F. J., De-la-O, A., Jurado-Fasoli, L., Ruiz, J. R., Castillo, M. J., & Gutierrez, A. (2019). Effects of different exercise training programs on body composition: A randomized control trial. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 29(7), 968-979.

Andreato, L. V., Esteves, J. V., Coimbra, D. R., Moraes, A. J. P., & De Carvalho, T. (2019). The influence of highintensity interval training on anthropometric variables of adults with overweight or obesity: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 20(1), 142-155.

Bernacíková, M., Cacek, J., & Dovrtělová, L. (2020). Regeneration and nutrition in sports. Masaryk University.

Bull, F. C., Al-Ansari, S. S., Biddle, S., Borodulin, K., Buman, M. P., Cardon, G., ... & Willumsen, J. F. (2020). World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behavior. *British journal of sports medicine*, *54*(24), 1451-1462.

Cacek, J., Grasgruber, P., & Hlavoňová, D. (2014). Selected aspects of the fitness of the adult population of the Czech Republic. Masaryk University.

D'Alleva, M., Vaccari, F., Graniero, F., Giovanelli, N., Floreani, M., Fiori, F., ... & Lazzer, S. (2023). Effects of 12-week combined training versus high-intensity interval training on cardiorespiratory fitness, body composition, and fat metabolism in obese male adults. *Journal of Exercise Science & Fitness*, 21(2), 193-201.

De Feo, P. (2013). *Is high-intensity exercise better than moderate-intensity exercise for weight loss?* Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases (2013) 23, 1037-1042.

Geliebter, A., Maher M. M., Gerace, L., Gutin, B., Heymsfield, S., B., Hashim, S. (1997). *Effects of strength or aerobic training on body composition, resting metabolic rate, and peak oxygen consumption in obese dieting subjects.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 66:557-63.

Heinrich, K.M., Patel, P.M., O'Neal, J.L. & Heinrich, B.S. (2014). *High-intensity compared to moderate-intensity training for exercise initiation, enjoyment, adherence, and intentions: an intervention study.* BMC Public Health, 14: 789.

Keating, S.E., Machan, E.A., O'Connor, H.T., Gerofi, J.A., Sainsbury, A., Caterson, I.D. & Johnson N.A. (2014). *Continuous Exercise but Not High Intensity Interval Training Improves Fat Distribution in Overweight Adults.* Journal of Obesity (2014).

Keating, S. E., Johnson, N. A., Mielke, G. I., & Coombes, J. S. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of interval training versus moderate-intensity continuous training on body adiposity. *Obesity reviews*, *18*(8), 943-964.

Lan, C., Liu, Y., & Wang, Y. (2022). Effects of different exercise programs on cardiorespiratory fitness and body composition in college students. *Journal of Exercise Science and Fitness*, 20(1), 62-69. doi:10.1016/j.jesf.2021.12.004

Laskowski, E.R. (2012). *The Role of Exercise in the Treatment of Obesity*. The American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 4, 840-844.

Máček, M., & Máčková, J. (2011). Comparison of the effectiveness of continuous, interval or cumulative training. For practice Voráčová, H., Šafářová, M.: Kneeling with palm support – a new test of postural stabilization. 31 Selected topics of postgraduate education Máček, M., Máčková, J.: Comparison of the effectiveness of continuous, interval or cumulative training 39 Personal reports, 39.

Neves, L. N. S., Gasparini-Neto, V. H., Leite, R. D., & Carletti, L. (2023). Acute Cardiopulmonary Response of High-Intensity Interval Training with Elastic Resistance vs. High-Intensity Interval Training on a Treadmill in Healthy Adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(12), 6061.

Novotný, J., & Novotná, M. (2008). Physiological principles of training and tests of runners. Athletics, 60(11), 1-8. de Oliveira França, G., Frantz, E. D. C., Bargut, T. C. L., Sepúlveda-Fragoso, V., Silvares, R. R., Daliry, A., ... & Borges, J. P. (2020). Effects of short-term high-intensity interval and continuous exercise training on body composition and cardiac function in obese sarcopenic rats. *Life Sciences*, *256*, 117920.

Rastegar, H., Zahra, H., Mehry, H. (2014). *Effects of aerobic exercise training on body composition and metabolic syndrome factors in obese male college student*. Biology of Exercise, 10.2, 57-68.

Rossi, P. A. Q., Panissa, V. L. G., Silveira, R., Takito, M. Y., Lima, F. S., Rossi, F. E., & Franchini, E. (2022). Post-exercise energy intake: do the intensity and mode of exercise matter? A systematic review and meta-analysis comparing high-intensity interval with moderate-intensity continuous protocols. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 76(7), 929-942.

Sanal, E., Ardic, F., Kirac, S. (2013). *Effects of aerobic or combined aerobic resistance exercise on body composition in overweight and obese adults: gender differences. A randomized intervention study.* European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 49, 1-11.

Scoubeau, C., Bonnechère, B., Cnop, M., Faoro, V., & Klass, M. (2022). Effectiveness of Whole-Body High-Intensity Interval Training on Health-Related Fitness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(15), 9559. Stevenson, R. (2009) Cardio training. Fitness Management [online]. 25(1), 42-49.

Sultana, R. N., Sabag, A., Keating, S. E., & Johnson, N. A. (2019). The effect of low-volume high-intensity interval training on body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, *49*, 1687-1721.

Tanaka, H., Monahan, K. D., & Seals, D. R. (2001). Age-predicted maximal heart rate revisited. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 37(1), 153–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(00)01054-8

Wewege, M., Van Den Berg, R., Ward, R. E., & Keech, A. (2017). The effects of high-intensity interval training vs. moderate-intensity continuous training on body composition in overweight and obese adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, *18*(6), 635-646.

Willis, L., Slentz, C., Bateman, L., Shields, A.T., Piner, L., Bales, C., Kraus, W. (2012). *Effects of aerobic and/or resistance training on body mass and fat mass in overweight or obese adults*. Journal of Applied Physiology. 133, 6, 1831-1838.

The article has not been published elsewhere or simultaneously offered to another periodical or publisher.

Contact Information:

Mgr. Petra Janíčková email: janickovap@email.cz tel.: +420 774 234 988

Predictive Model of the Risk of Fall Based on Physical Fitness Assessment in Older Adults

Andrea Martincová¹, Lenka Svobodová², Martin Sebera², Marta Gimunová²

¹Department of Physical Education and Social Sciences, Faculty of Sports Studies Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic ²Department of Physical Activities and Health Sciences, Faculty of Sports Studies Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Falls occurring during activities of daily living pose a major threat and are the third most common cause of death in seniors. In clinical evaluations, mostly single tests are used to assess the risk of fall. However, a complex set of tests would lead to a more comprehensive assessment of the risk of falls. The purpose of this study was to develop a predictive model of the risk of falls in older adults aimed to prevent injuries. This study involved 159 older adults (\geq 65, 77% women) who underwent laboratory testing consisting of questionnaires, physical tests and basic anthropometric data measurement. The data were processed by a statistical method of regression analysis, the Classification and Regression Tree. Based on the analysis a predictive model of the risk of fall for older adults was created. The most important variables for the predictive model were total % of body fat mass, Timed Up and Go Test and 2 minutes walking test. Based on the predictive model, we can design a targeted intervention program for elderly adults to prevent risk of falling, promoting well-being and increase quality of their life.

Keywords: TUG; physical tests; elderly, falling; prevention

INTRODUCTION

The older population is increasing dramatically and the number of people over 60 years is growing faster than any other age group. Quality of life in later years depends to a large degree on the ability to do the things we want to do without pain or limitations, for as long as possible. As we are living longer, it is becoming increasingly important to pay attention to our physical condition (Sherrington et al., 2017; Teng et al., 2020). Many older adults are functioning dangerously close to their maximum ability level during normal activities of daily living. Standing up from the chair, climbing stairs, are examples that often require near maximum efforts for older people who are not very physically active. On the other hand, much of the usual age-related decline in physical ability is preventable and even reversible through proper attention to our fitness levels and physical activity. Especially important is the early detection of physical daily living activities and decrease the risk of falls (Rikli, 2001).

Falls are the second leading cause of unintentional death worldwide (Gschwind et al. 2013). A fall is defined as "an event which results in a person coming to rest inadvertently on the ground or floor or other lower level, excluding intentional change in position to rest to furniture, wall or other objects" (WHO, 2007). The Word Health Organization (2007) claims age as a key risk factor for falls. Older adults have the highest risk of serious injury or death. This risk level may be in part due to the physical, sensory, and cognitive changes associated with ageing, in combination with environments that are not adapted for an ageing population. Falls (without or with injury) also carry a heavy quality of life impact. A growing number of older adult's fear falling and therefore limit their physical and social activities (NCOA, 2021). It may cause further physical decline, social isolation, or depression, which can lead to decreased quality of life (Salkeld et al., 2000). Many people think falls are a normal part of aging. The truth is, they're not. Most falls can be prevented—and everyone have the power to reduce the risk of falls (NCOA, 2021). Although there are recommendations to assess the risk of falls in the elderly, the tools currently used have not shown sufficiently high predictive validity in differentiation between high and low risk of falls. (Park, 2018).

Falls prevention programs based on physical activities (walking, balance training or strength training) are examples of effective strategies to offset declining strength and improve balance, thus reducing falls and promoting well-being (Senderovich & Tsai, 2020). There is robust evidence that exercise can reduce the rate of falls in older people. A systematic review from 88 trials indicates that exercise in community-dwelling older adults reduced the rate of falls by 21% (Sherrington et al., 2017). In praxis, mostly single tests related to falls risk are used. However, the complex set of tests would bring valuable variables, which lead to comprehensively assess the risk of falls. Therefore, it is crucial to develop a predictive model to identify older adults vulnerable to falls and then to design tailored preventive intervention program for the elderly.

METHOD

Based on validated studies on this topic, we have defined fitness parameters that are closely related to activities of daily living (ADL) and instrumental daily activities (IADL) (Schoene et al., 2013; Rosa et al., 2018). Tests were selected for a comprehensive assessment of physical condition, anthropometry, cognitive functions, and subjective assessment of the fear of falling.

The data used in this study were collected during an observational cross-sectional study. Participants (n=159) were tested and filled questionnaires at Faculty of Sports Studies, Masaryk University in Brno, The Czech Republic. The key was the sequence of tests. Participants started with filling three questionnaires (basic anamnesis, The Montreal Cognitive Assessment and Falls Efficacy Scale- International test) in a quiet environment to promote concentration. Physical tests took place in laboratories of Faculty. Participants started by assessing human body composition (BIA) followed balance (The Functional Reach test), mobility (Timed Up and Go Test), strength assessment (Hand grip and 30-Second Chair Stand Test) and finished with an endurance test (2-minute walking test).

The study was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by Masaryk University (EKV-2021-102).

Participants Characteristics

The study involved 159 older adults (≥ 65 ,) who don't suffer from acute or chronic diseases that would make it impossible to complete testing. Participants were recruited through snowball method specially in educational organizations for the elderly (e.g., the University of the Third Age or the Senior Academy) and in leaflets form in medical centres or homes for the elderly in Brno, Czech Republic, between February 2021 and December 2021. The Inclusion criteria were age ≥ 65 and self-sufficiency. The exclusion criteria were limitations for measurement o a bioimpedance device (e.g., pacemaker, epilepsy, or metal prothesis) and any health restriction which limits doing physical activities and cognitive tests. Prior to recruitment approval was obtained from an institutional research ethics committee. All participants provided written informed consent, approved by Masaryk University Faculty of Sports Studies in Brno.

Data Collection

Questionnaires

This research involved three questionnaires.

Basic anamnesis. This anamnesis contained personal information, demographic data, medication, socioeconomic status, level of physical activity and history of falls – number of falls during last year.

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) is a 10-minute cognitive screening tool which was validated as a highly sensitive tool for early detection of mild cognitive impairment (Nasreddine et al., 2019). MoCA accurately assesses the short-term memory, visuospatial abilities, multiple aspects of executive functions, Attention, concentration, and working memory, language and orientation to time and place (MOCA, 2022).

Falls Efficacy Scale – International (FES-I). The FES-I is a diagnostic tool for assessing the fear of falling in the elderly and consist of 16 questions participants' concerns about falling during normal day-to-day activities. The answers are evaluated in 1–4 points, where 1 means no fear of falling and, conversely, 4 points indicate great fear of falling during the implementation of the activity. Respondents can complete the FES-I themselves or with a researcher who must make sure that the respondents have a sufficient understanding of the meaning of the asked question. This diagnostic tool has been successfully translated into several languages using the methodology of Ten Step Translation Protocol. The valid translation of Falls Efficacy Scale – International for use in the Czech Republic was used for this research. (Reguli & Svobodová, 2011).
Assessment of body composition - BIA

Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) is a practical and non-invasive method to assess human body composition. Initial applications of BIA at 50 kHz used whole-body measurements of resistance, derived by using surface electrodes placed on a hand and a foot (Shafer et al., 2009). For our research we used device Inbody 270 to estimate total body composition - weight, %fat mass, FM, and FFM.

Participants stood barefoot on the device's scale with the soles of their feet positioned on four metallic electrodes, held the handles in both hands making contact with metallic grip electrodes in contact with the palm and thumb, arms were fully extended and abducted approximately 20 degrees laterally., and the device collected weight. Participants waited until their weight stabilized, height, sex and age were entered into the Inbody software and participants stood still for the duration of the assessment (Brewer et al., 2021). Measurement on Inbody 270 (BIA) was conducted before physical assessments to minimize the effect of hydration status on measurements.

Assessment of physical fitness

The Functional Reach Test is used to assess balance and postural control. It is conducted using a wall meter at the height of a participant's shoulder. The participant stands so the top of the shoulder is perpendicular to the wall meter. With the participant's fist in line with the wall meter, the participant leans forward as far as possible without taking a step or losing balance. Measured is the distance of the fist between the starting point (measured when standing straight) and end point (measured when leaning forward) to give the total reach measurement. The result 25 cm and more indicates a low risk of falling (Greenberg, 2020); (Newton, 2001).

Timed Up and Go Test (TUG). Timed Up and Go test assess mobility. Result is the number of seconds required to get up from a chair, walk 2.5 meters, turn, return, and sit on the chair to the start position. The timed Up and Go Test is also a simple screening test that is a sensitive and specific measure of probability for falls among older adults. An older adult who takes ≥ 12 seconds to complete the TUG is at risk for falling (CDC, 2017). This test assesses the agility/dynamic balance important in tasks that needs fast movement such as getting off a bus, going to the bathroom, picking up a ringing phone and getting up to attend to something in the kitchen (Rikli, 2001).

Hand grip strength (HGS) is used for the diagnosis of frailty and sarcopenia (Sousa-Santos& Amaral, 2017). This test measured the maximum isometric strength of the hand and forearm muscles with the Takei 5401 dynamometer. Participants seated on a chair without armrests. Joints of the lower limb were approximately three-flex (90 $^{\circ}$ -90 $^{\circ}$ -90 $^{\circ}$). Shoulders were in the neutral position and the elbow of the examined arm was flexed at an angle of 90 $^{\circ}$. The opposite arm was loosely placed on the thigh (on the side of the examined arm). Hand grip strength is examined three times for each hand with a rest interval of 2 minutes between tests (a total of 6 minutes of rest and approximately 2 minutes for the testing). Non-dominant arm is tested first and then the dominant one. (Sousa-Santos& Amaral, 2017)

30-Second Chair Stand test. The Chair stand test is used for measurement of lower-body strength and endurance. The result of this test is the number of stands from a chair that can be completed in 30 seconds. Arm position is across the chest. It is needed for many tasks such as climbing stairs, standing up from a chair, getting out of a car etc. Increased ability in performing this exercise may reduce the chance of falling (Rikli, 2001). This test is used by Center for disease control and prevention as a tool which indicate a risk for falls (CDC, 2017).

2-minute walking test. The 2-minute walking test is used to assess aerobic capacity and endurance. The result is the number of full steps completed in 2 minutes. The height of raising each knee is a point between the patella and the top hip bone. The final score is the number of times the right knee reaches the right height. Usually, this test is used for assessment of aerobic endurance (Rikli, 2001).

Data Diagnostic

Mining analysis and applied non-parametric classification and regression trees (C&RT) with the "Fall" as the dependent variable was chosen for this study. The C&RT classifies the individual instances based on a simple criterion. All homogeneous instances are in precisely one leaf of the tree, while all the other instances are in a different leaf in such a way that the most homogeneous ones are together. The C&RT algorithm creates several classification trees and continuously calculates the importance of the individual variables so that the n-th observation is classified in the correct category in all trees. The result is an ordered list of variables that most often affect the correct classification, even though they might not always be present in the tree structure.

The advantage of classification trees is that no assumptions that place standard statistical methods on the data need to be met. Such as normality of data, homogeneity of variances, etc. The result is the classification of cases into individual nodes with a description of their typical predictors.

RESULTS

Characteristics of the study population

The sample consisted of 159 participants (37 men and 122 women) aged 65 to 101 years (mean age \pm SD = 73.59 \pm 7.39 years). 52 participants (32,70%) had experienced one or more falls in the preceding 12 months. The characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Baseline characteristic of participants

	Participants
	(n=159)
Demographics	
mean age in years	73.59 (7.39)
women	122
men	37
% body fat mass	37.33 (8.37)
Mean body mass index in kg/m2	25.05 (5.96)
Falls history	
yes	52
no	107

Characteristics of analysed variables from physical fitness assessment and questionnaires

The variables selected for this study are shown in Table 2.

	Mean	Median	Std. dev
% body fat mass	36.95	37.33	8.37
Functional Reach Test (cm)	36.27	38.20	12.68
Timed up and go test (TUG) (s)	7.51	5.50	7.34
Handgrip R (kg)	25.80	24.25	9.45
Handgrip L (kg)	24.34	23.15	8.59
Chair Stand Test (n)	13.69	14.00	4.73
2 minutes walking test (n)	77.89	85.00	32.43
MoCa test (points)	24.23	26.00	6.11
FES-I test (points)	21.78	19.00	7.01
Physical fitness (points)	6.40	7.00	1.91

Table 2. Characteristic of variables from physical fitness assessment and questionnaires



Figure 1. Resulting C&RT tree for variable fall

Results of tests are shown in Figure 1. The resulting C&RT tree describes the final division of individual cases into tree leaves. For the result, we can look at typical properties that predict the final dependent "Fall". How are the nodes where the number of falls is most characterized:

Node ID = 5: predominate in the classification "falling". There are 14 of them and it is typical for them that they walk safely with a wand, but they have a fat percentage> 36.2 % (specifically 45.5 %; which is above average)

Node ID = 6: predominate in the classification "falling". There are 5 of them and it is typical for them that they walk normally without a wand, but they have a handgrip R <47.8 (specifically 10.3, which is below average)

Predictor importants

The classification of falls is best determined by the variable "% fat" and then the test "Stand up and go" and "2 minutes walk". The variables gender, gait test and fitness do not enter the classification of falls / falls at all. Results for determined variables shows Table 3. It is a list of variables that were taken into account during the calculation of the final tree, although some of them were not ultimately included among the variables used to split the tree. Here we find the right determinants for the dependent variable - fall.

Table 3.	Determined	variables

	Variable rank	Importance
% body fat mass	100	1.000000
Timed up and go test (TUG	98	0.979894
2 minutes walking test	93	0.929633
Handgrip L	86	0.864965
Chair Stand Test	84	0.844345
Handgrip R	77	0.765213
Functional Reach Test	69	0.691745
Type of housing	56	0.557762
MoCa test	53	0.528888
FES-I test	39	0.390330

DISCUSSION

This an observational cross-sectional study aimed to develop a predictive model of falls prevention in older adults is based on multifactorial variables. Our findings demonstrated that the model which best predicted falls of participants comprised total body % fat mass, Timed Up and Go Test (TUG) and 2 minutes walking test.

Although falls can occur at any age, the frequency of falls increases with age. (CDC, 2021). The greater risk of falls in older adults is caused when changes occurring with aging (physical, perceptual and cognitive) are combined with unsuitable environment. (Palumbo et al., 2015). Cause of falls is multifactorial so for prediction of falls combination of assessment tools has to be used. A systematic review and meta-analysis by Park (2017) examined which tools for predicting the risk of falls in older adults are the best. The conclusion was that rather than a single measure, two or more assessment tools used together would better evaluate the characteristics of falls.

Study published by Palumbo et al. (2015) pointed out a predictive tool based on a small number of variables could be preferable, as their administration is generally shorter and easier. However, this objective can clash with the need to have good accuracy in prediction. The study suggests that fall prediction is more accurate when based on multiple fall risk factors and indicators. Thus, screening tests from three to six variables are optimal in terms of predictive accuracy.

The importance of using the TUG test as a part tool for a predictive model confirm several studies (Alexandre et al., 2012; Möller & Jakobsson, 2012; Laessoe et al., 2007; Cella et al., 2020). Findings that % fat mass and 2 minutes walking test affect fall risk are innovative. Based on these tests are also defined an important fall risk factors – obesity, low level of endurance and low level of mobility. Variables such as sex, subjective assessment physical fitness, results from FES-I and MoCa questionnaires had low variable rank and importance for predictive model (Tab.2).

An important limitation of the present study was that we did not investigate the use of drugs. There is evidence that pharmaceutical interventions can lower fall risk in older adults with Parkinson disease and people with muscle weakness (Lord &Close, 2018). In addition, the limitation of this study concerns non-inclusion of measurements gait speed. Gait speed or adaptability were important predictor for fall risk in several studies (Palumbo et al., 2015; Lord &Close, 2018; Laessoeet al., 2007). Environmental variables could be seen as another limitation since it has been suggested as an important cause of falls. All measurements took place inside at Faculty of Sports studies but the influence of environmental factors and the difficulty in daily tasks performed have to be considered as well as the individual physiological factors, which is also pointed out by Brauer et al. (2000). The influence of environmental factors is captured by the questionnaire FES-I but in our predictive model reached low importance.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, findings from this study indicate that a total body % fat mass, Timed Up and Go Test (TUG) and 2 minutes walking test are the key variables for a predictive model of risk of fall in older adults. Several studies confirm importance of TUG test as a part of predictive models. Innovative predictive variables for the risk of fall are body fat percentage and 2 minutes walking test. Based on predictive model we defined also crucial factors on risk of falls – obesity, low level of endurance and low level of mobility, which are an important for planning specific prevention or rehabilitation programs for older adults. The validity of this predictive model must be verified in future studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was carried out at Masaryk University as part of project number MUNI/IGA/1235/2021 with the support of the Internal grant agency Masaryk University.

I would like to express my gratitude to the members of my research team - Lenka Svobodová, Martin Sebera, Marta Gimunová and Nikola Stračárová, who provided valuable input, insights, and assistance at every stage of the project. Their contributions were critical to the success of this research, and I am deeply grateful for their hard work. I would also like to thank the Internal grant agency Masaryk University who provided financial support for this research. Without their contributions, this project would not have been possible.

REFERENCES

Alexandre, T. S., Meira, D. M., Rico, N. C., & Mizuta, S. K. (2012). Accuracy of Timed Up and Go Test for screening risk of falls among community-dwelling elderly. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, *16(5)*, 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1413-35552012005000041

Brauer, S. G., Burns, Y. R., & Galley, P. (2000). A prospective study of laboratory and clinical measures of postural stability to predict community-dwelling fallers. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 55(8), M469–M476. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/55.8.M469

Brewer, G. J., Blue, M. N. M., Hirsch, K. R., Saylor, H. E., Gould, L. M., Nelson, A. G., & Smith-Ryan, A. E. (2021). Validation of InBody 770 bioelectrical impedance analysis compared to a four-compartment model criterion in young adults. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, *41(4)*, 317–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpf.12700

Cella, A., De Luca, A., Squeri, V., Parodi, S., Vallone, F., Giorgeschi, A., Senesi, B., Zigoura, E., Quispe Guerrero, K. L., Siri, G., De Michieli, L., Saglia, J., Sanfilippo, C., & Pilotto, A. (2020). Development and validation of a robotic multifactorial fall-risk predictive model: A one-year prospective study in community-dwelling older adults. *PLOS ONE*, *15(6)*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234904

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2017). Steadi-Older Adult Fall Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/ steadi/pdf/STEADI-Assessment-30Sec-508.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2017). Steadi-Older Adult Fall Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/steadi/pdf/TUG_test-print.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021). Older Adult Fall Prevention- Facts About Falls. Facts About Falls (cdc.gov)

Greenberg, S. A. (2020). Falls in Older Adults: Prevention and Assessment of Risk in Primary Care. *Advances in Family Practice Nursing*, *2*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfpn.2019.12.001

Gschwind, Y. J., Kressig, R. W., Lacroix, A., Muehlbauer, T., Pfenninger, B., & Granacher, U. (2013). A best practice fall prevention exercise program to improve balance, strength / power, and psychosocial health in older adults: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Geriatrics*, *13*, 105. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-13-105

Hopewell, S., Copsey, B., Nicolson, P., Adedire, B., Boniface, G., & Lamb, S. (2020). Multifactorial interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 41 trials and almost 20 000 participants. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *54(22)*, 1340–+. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100732

Laessoe, U., Hoeck, H. C., Simonsen, O., Sinkjaer, T., & Voigt, M. (2007). Fall risk in an active elderly population--can it be assessed? *Journal of Negative Results in Biomedicine*, *6*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-5751-6-2

Laessoe, U., Hoeck, H. C., Simonsen, O., Sinkjaer, T., & Voigt, M. (2007). Fall risk in an active elderly population--can it be assessed? *Journal of Negative Results in Biomedicine*, 6, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-5751-6-2

Lord, S. R., & Close, J. C. T. (2018). New horizons in falls prevention. *Age and Ageing*, 47(4), 492–498. https:// doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy059

Moca Cognitive Assessment. (2022). MoCA Test. https://www.mocatest.org/the-moca-test/

Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., Cummings, J. L., & Chertkow, H. (2019). "The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment": Corrigendum. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *67(9)*, 1991. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15925

National Council on Aging. (2021). *Debunking the Myths of Older Adult Falls*. https://www.ncoa.org/article/ debunking-the-myths-of-older-adult-falls

National Council on Aging. (2021). Get the Facts on Falls Prevention. https://www.ncoa.org/article/get-the-facts-on-falls-prevention

Newton, R. (2001). Validity of the multi-directional reach test: A practical measure for limits of stability in older adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 56(4)*, M248–M252.

Olsson Möller, U., & Jakobsson, U. (2012). Predictive validity and cut-off scores in four diagnostic tests for falls – a study in frail older people at home. *European Geriatric Medicine*, *3(Supplement 1)*, S49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eurger.2012.07.055

Palumbo, P., Palmerini, L., Bandinelli, S., & Chiari, L. (2015). Fall Risk Assessment Tools for Elderly Living in the Community: Can We Do Better? *PlOS One, 10(12),* e0146247. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146247

Park, S.-H. (2018). Tools for assessing fall risk in the elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging Clinical & Experimental Research*, 30(1), 1–16.

Reguli, Z., & Svobodová, L. (2011). Česká verze diagnostiky strachu z pádů u seniorů FES-I (Falls Efficacy Scale International); Czech Version Of The Diagnosis Of Fear Of Falls In Seniors - FES-I (Falls Efficacy Scale International). *Studia Sportiva; Vol 5, No 2 (2011)*; 5-12. https://doi.org/10.5817/StS2011-2-1

Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (2001). Senior fitness test manual. Human Kinetics.

Rosa, M. V., Perracini, M. R., & Ricci, N. A. (2019). Usefulness, assessment and normative data of the Functional Reach Test in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, *81*, 149–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2018.11.015

Salkeld, G., Cameron, I. D., Cumming, R. G., Easter, S., Seymour, J., Kurrle, S. E., & Quine, S. (2000). Quality of Life Related to Fear of Falling and Hip Fracture in Older Women: A Time Trade off Study. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 320(7231), 341–345.

Senderovich, H., & Tsai, P. M. (2020). Do Exercises Prevent Falls Among Older Adults: Where Are We Now? A Systematic Review. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 21(9), 1197–1206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2020.05.010

Shafer, K. J., Siders, W. A., Johnson, L. K., & Lukaski, H. C. (2009). Validity of segmental multiple-frequency bioelectrical impedance analysis to estimate body composition of adults across a range of body mass indexes. *Nutrition*, 25(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2008.07.004"

Sherrington, C., Michaleff, Z. A., Fairhall, N., Paul, S. S., Tiedemann, A., Whitney, J., Cumming, R. G., Herbert, R. D., Close, J. C. T., & Lord, S. R. (2017). Exercise to prevent falls in older adults: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, *51*(24), 1750–1758. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-096547

Schoene, D., Wu, S. M.-S., Mikolaizak, A. S., Menant, J. C., Smith, S. T., Delbaere, K., & Lord, S. R. (2013). Discriminative Ability and Predictive Validity of the Timed Up and Go Test in Identifying Older People Who Fall: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal Of the American Geriatrics Society*, *61(2)*, 202–208. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12106

Sousa-Santos, A. R., & Amaral, T. F. (2017). Differences in handgrip strength protocols to identify sarcopenia and frailty - a systematic review. *BMC Geriatrics*, *17(1)*, 238. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-017-0625-y

Teng, B., Gomersall, S. R., Hatton, A., & Brauer, S. G. (2020). Combined group and home exercise programmes in community-dwelling falls-risk older adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Physiotherapy Research International: *The Journal for Researchers and Clinicians in Physical Therapy*, *25(3)*, e1839. https://doi.org/10.1002/pri.1839

World Health Organization. (2007). World Health Organization global report on falls prevention in older age. http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/Falls_prevention7March.pdf

Contact Information:

andreamartincova@mail.muni.cz

Variables Influencing the Emotional Attachment of Adolescents in Prague Schools to Physical Education

Tomáš Polívka¹, Martin Nosek²

¹Department Physical education and Sport, University of Jan Evangelista Purkyně, Ústí nad Labem, Czech Republic ²Department Physical education and Sport, University of Jan Evangelista Purkyně, Ústí nad Labem, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Background: Emotional attachment to any activity is a frequently discussed topic. Backgrounds speak of the importance of building emotional attachment since childhood, we agree with this statement and we see school Physical Education as one of the important sources that can significantly influence this attachment in the field of physical activities. The aim of the study is to define the variables that influence the emotional attachment between pupils and school Physical Education. **Method**: A questionnaire used by Antala for a similar investigation in Slovakia was chosen as the research tool. After assessing the normality of the data, we chose the Kruskal- Wallis test for statistical data processing. **Results**: Our research group contained 480 respondents from 22 primary schools in Prague. 38% of the pupils have a negative relationship with Physical Education. 41% of pupils have a neutral relationship with Physical Education. Emotional attachment also affects the state of health. In many cases sick students have a more positive relationship with physical education. **Conclusions**: Pupils who are not focused on performance perceive Physical Education more positively than pupils focused on achievement. Children's emotional attachment to physical activities is important, we recommend working on tools to better clarify this area.

Keywords: physical activity; Kruskal- Wallis test; education; performance

INTRODUCTION

Currently, health is a topic of discussion, the value of which many people have verified during the COVID-19 pandemic. During the pandemic, physical activities and the movement of people were restricted, which was reflected in all aspects of health for many people. At the present time, the situation around COVID-19 is more relaxed and society is returning to the time before the first wave of this pandemic broke out.

According to WHO (2002), adult lifestyle is influenced by childhood and adolescence. This is also supported by Malina (2004), who emphasizes that childhood and adolescence are key to the creation of a movement regime. In these periods, relationships and attitudes towards physical activities are formed. The task of parents and teachers is to create opportunities for regular activity and thus create a positive relationship to physical activity. Physical education serves as a tool for creating a regular exercise regime. A regular exercise regime in childhood and adolescence is the first prerequisite for its continuation in adulthood. Jeřábek and Tupý (2007) are of the opinion that educating children to actively develop and protect physical health and responsibility for it should be one of the top priorities of current educational trends in elementary education in the Czech Republic.

In advanced foreign educational systems, Physical Education has an important role and the conditions in the curriculum documents enable the fulfillment of the goals of school Physical Education. In the Norwegian education system, schools compensate children for physical activity on days when children do not have Physical Education in the schedule. Swedish curriculum programs are autonomous in the design of Physical Education, schools also choose the number of teaching hours. It is similar in the Spanish curriculum. The conditions for the realization of educational goals in the Czech curriculum system are not at such a level. These data are presented by the following authors in their studies: Habrdlová (2019), Vlček (2012), Lupač (2018) and Zoglowek (2012).

Lupač (2018) finds in Czech documents a certa in discrepancy between the educational goals (strongly health-oriented) and the curriculum (movement-oriented). The goals of school Physical Education in the Czech educational system are comprehensively conceived. According to Fialová (2010), the main goal of Physical Education is to stimulate and develop movement regime, health prevention, movement abilities and skills. Furthermore, it is also necessary to develop the personal characteristics and positive attitudes of pupils towards physical activity. We perceive the last part of this definition as crucial, which states that it is important to develop positive attitudes of pupils towards physical activity, because physical activity is an important determinant contributing to the level of human health.

In the professional physical education community, many topics are discussed that affect this educational field and its impact on students. A very important topic is the assessment of pupils in Physical Education. Cihlář (2017) points out that a positive assessment affects the pupil's attitude towards Physical Education in the dimension related to performance, efficiency, and health, and it is also important to realize that the physical activity of the parents has an effect on the physical activity of the child. In our opinion, it is the motivation of pupils at the beginning of schooling and the subsequent evaluation of their activity that is a very important factor in building positive attitudes among pupils at all levels of education. The aim of the study is to assess the variables that can influence the emotional attachment of adolescents to physical activity.

METHOD

The chosen research tool was the questionnaire used by Antala for a similar investigation in Slovakia in 2012. In our study, we interpret scaled items from the first, second and third dimensions. In total, there were ten items assessing the emotional relationship to Physical Education. All items were rated points (1-5), the more points, the more positive the relationship. The first dimension contains six items and assesses the emotional relationship to Physical Education. In the study, we refer to it as the score of domain 1 – emotional relationship (hereafter referred to as emotional relationship). So, the respondent can get from 6 to 30 points. The remaining items delimited by the scale assessed the relationship to Physical Education. These items are contained in the second and third dimensions. These are two items in the second dimension and two items in the third dimension. The total score of the tool ranges from 10-50 points. The questionnaire also includes identification data. The tool did not pass standardization for the Czech population. From the psychometric data, we calculated the internal consistency using the Cronbach's alpha coefficient (0.7), this is a lower value, but sufficient according to Gurková (2011). Table 1 shows the division of probands into categories according to the number of points obtained.

Total score	Score - emotional relation	
10-17 points	6-10 points	Very negative relationship
18–25 points	11-15 points	Negative relationship
26-34 points	16-20 points	Neutral relationship
35-42 points	21-25 points	Positive relationship
43-50 points	26-30 points	Very positive relationship

Table 1. Evaluation of selected items

(Antala, 2012; Gurková, 2011)

Pupils from primary schools, grammar schools and high schools from Prague were included in the deliberately selected research group. The tool was distributed to pupils in the 9th grade of elementary schools and in the 1st grade of high schools. At grammar schools, the questionnaire was distributed in the first years of secondary education. The age of the group ranges from 14 to 16 years, which corresponds to the developmental period of middle adolescence (Macek, 2003).

The set was deliberately selected by students of FTVS UK (Faculty of Physical Education) as part of their internships in Prague. The total number of anonymous respondents was 589 from 22 schools. From this number, we included 480 questionnaires into the research. The conditions for exclusion from the research were set as follows. A respondent was excluded from the research if the questionnaire lacked identifying information (height, weight, age), if there were three or more unanswered items in the questionnaire, or if the open-ended answer was a nonsense. Failure to fill in an item or crossing it out was considered an unanswered item.

We divided the group according to identification data (health status, BMI, level of physical activity) into sub-sets, which were subsequently subjected to statistical analysis. By dividing, we have defined the variables that we believe will enter the relationship of adolescents to school

Physical Education. You can view the representation of individual types of schools and study programs in Table 2. As can be seen, grammar school students are the most represented ones, specifically the 8-year study program, on the contrary, high schools are the least represented. The composition of the partial sets can be seen in Table 3.

The criteria for division into individual groups were determined as follows. We divided the subsets according to BMI into three categories according to the percentile graphs into the categories "underweight", "optimal weight" and "overweight and obesity". Subsets divided according to the level of physical activity were divided according to the following criteria. If the respondent participates in competitions and is registered under the association, he falls into the category "do sports competitively". If the respondent engages in physical activities but is not registered under an association and does not participate in competitions, he falls into the category "play sports recreationally". If the respondent does not do sports, he falls into the "do not do sports" category. The division according to health status divided the respondents into the "healthy" category, which is made up of respondents who are sick once in the school year, the "occasionally sick" category is made up of respondents who are sick for two to three weeks during the school year. If the respondent is absent more often during the school year, he falls into the category "often sick". The criteria were clearly defined, and the respondents were able to assign themselves to individual categories.

Data collection took place in January and February 2020, just before the start of the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Study program		Boys	Girls	Total
Upper primary	ISCED 2	48	51	99
8-year grammar school	ISCED 2	95	67	162
4-year grammar school	ISCED 2	52	83	135
High school	ISCED 3	27	57	84
Total		222	258	480

Table 2. Participants characteristics

ISCED (International Standard Classification of Education)

Table 3. Dividing the group	into individual sub-sets
-----------------------------	--------------------------

Criterium	Category	n
Sport activity	I do sports competitively	216
	I do sports recreationally	210
	I do not do sports	54
Health	Healthy	182
	Occasionally sick	227
	Often sick	71
BMI	Underweight	154
	Normal weight	173
	Overweight and obesity	153

For the results part, we worked with frequencies, percentages, descriptive statistics, and inferential statistics as part of the statistical analysis. Statistical data processing was performed in the R program. Descriptive statistics determined measures of central tendency and measures of variability. We used the Shapiro-Wilk test to determine normal distribution of the data (p= 0.00046), according to which the data are non-parametric. Statistical significance was determined using the Kruskal-Wallis test. We performed subsequent post hoc analysis using the Dunn-test with Bonferroni correction (Skutil, 2011; Sigmund, 2012).

RESULTS

From table 4, it can be read that the highest frequency of students is represented in the categories "neutral relationship" and "negative relationship". We can state this for the results of the 1st domain as well as for the overall score of our tool. On the contrary, the percentage of students with a positive and very positive relationship is very low.

Frequency					C	umulative freq	uency	
Relationship	Emotional Relationship Score		Total	Score	Emotional So	Relationship core	Tota	al Score
	A.F.	R.F.	A.F.	R.F.	A.F.	R.F.	A.F.	R.F.
Very negative	52	10.9%	39	8.2%	52	10,.9%	39	8.2%
Negative	187	38.9%	197	41%	239	49.8%	236	49.2%
Neutral	199	41.4%	215	44.8%	438	91.2%	451	93.8%
Positive	36	7.5%	25	5.2%	474	98.7%	476	99.2%
Very positive	6	1.3%	4	0.8%	480	100%	480	100%

Table 4. Participants results

Legend (A.F. – absolute frequency; R.F. – relative frequency)

Tables 5 and 6 show the position measures and the variability measures. For the overall results as well as for the emotional relationship score, we point out that the medians of the individual subsets move around the center of the scale. However, an interesting finding is that the highest scores appear in the subset of non-sporting respondents and frequently ill respondents. On the contrary, the lowest values of the medians appear in competitive athletes and in healthy respondents.

Set split criterion		Average	Modus	Median	SD
	Whole set	26	28	26	6
Sport	Competitive sport	24	21	24	5.2
	Recreational sport	27	28	27	5.3
	Non-sportsmen	28	30	28	7
Health	Healthy	25	23	24	6.2

Tab	ole	5.	Resul	lts	per	total	score
-----	-----	----	-------	-----	-----	-------	-------

	Sometimes sick	26	25	26	5.3
	Often sick	27	28	28	5.1
BMI	Underweight	26	23	26	5.1
	Normal weight	26	28	26	5.7
	Overweight and obesity	25	22	25	6.1

Legend (SD= Standard Deviance)

Table 6. Results per emotional relatedness scores

Setting the split criteria	Average	Modus	Median	SD
Whole set	16	15	16	4
Sport				
Competitive sport	14	13	14	3.6
Recreational sport	16	17	17	3.5
Non-sportsmen	18	20	17	5
Health				
Healthy	15	14	14	4.4
Sometimes sick	16	16	16	3.5
Often sick	16	15	17	3.5
BMI				
Underweight	16	15	15	3.5
Normal wight	16	16	16	3.8
Overweight and obesity	15	13	15	4.2

Legend (SD= Standard Deviance)

Tables 7 and 8 show the results of the Kruskal–Wallis test and subsequent post hoc analyses. Statistically significant values are highlighted. There is a statistically significant difference for the overall health score and physical activity level, and the same is true for the emotional relationship score. According to the post hoc analysis in Table No. 8, there is a difference in the category of athletes between the sets of non-athletes and competitive athletes in both the total score and the emotional relationship score. For health, there is often a statistically significant difference between the sick and healthy sets.

Table 7. Kruskal–Wallis test criteria

Comparison	p- value	
Total score x health	0.00627	
Total score x BMI	0.28873	
Total score x sport	0.00001	
Domain Score x health	0.00870	
Domain Score x BMI	0.51840	
Domain Score x sport	0.00008	

Kruskal – Wallis	Sets compared	p- value
Domain Score x sport	Non-athletes x recreational athletes	0.49099
	Non-athletes x competitive athletes	0.00002
	Recreational athletes x competitive athletes	0.00001
Total score x sport	Non-athletes x recreational athletes	0.09546
	Non-athletes x competitive athletes	0.00176
	Recreational athletes x competitive athletes	0.00026
Domain Score x health	Sick x sometimes sick	0.14753
	Sick x healthy	0.00687
	Sometimes sick x healthy	0.32836
Total score x health	Sick x sometimes sick	0.09654
	Sick x healthy	0.00456
	Sometimes sick x healthy	0.37745

Table 8. Post hoc analysis using Dunn-test with Bonferroni correction

DISCUSSION

In the study, we reached the following results. Over 80% of pupils have a neutral or negative attitude towards school Physical Education, 10.9% have a very negative attitude. 9% of pupils have a positive and very positive relationship. Based on the statistical analysis, we can state that significance was demonstrated for the total score in the category classified according to the performance of physical activity. Post hoc analysis shows significance between competitive athletes and non-athletes (0.00002) and between competitive athletes and recreational athletes (0.00001). The same results appear for the emotional relationship score. Competitive athletes vs. non-athletes (0.00176) and competitive athletes vs. recreational athletes (0.0026).

According to Pereira (2020), increasing age affects the interest in Physical Education among girls, he claims that the interest in Physical Education among pupils in Portugal decreases with age. If we compare this study with Cruz's study (2021), we find that Filipino children maintain a positive attitude towards physical activity even after graduating from high school. These studies confirm the thesis that it is necessary to build children's relationship to physical activity from childhood.

In his experiment, Sigmund (2009) demonstrated an increase in motivation with varied and attractive content. This is confirmed by Adamcak (2020) who claims that the relationship to Physical Education can be improved with attractive content and new and unconventional games. The question remains, what is the importance of competitions and activities based on them. In his study, Gosset (2019) finds no difference between programs focused on competitive and non-competitive forms of Physical Education. This is confirmed by Bernstein (2011) who claims that educational programs based on competition and racing are not very popular among students. Coulter (2020) points at the importance of fun and variety over competition.

An important factor in the perception of this issue is the subjective perception of the lessons by the teachers themselves. Maciulevičiene (2016) looks about teachers' views on their Physical Education lessons, the research group consists of teachers and their pupils. In general, teachers tend to rate the lessons more positively than their students, especially in the areas of content variety and modern features. Teachers are more likely to believe that the content of the lessons corresponds to the needs of the students, rather than the latter. In this study, only 20% of students report that the teaching meets their needs. This reduces the need for students to play sports and be physically active at school and after school, which is the main goal of the general PE program. This factor has a significant influence on building a relationship to physical activity.

The value of the BMI index does not have a statistically significant effect on the relationship to Physical Education classes. However, the level of physical activity in the domain assessing the emotional relationship also has a statistically significant effect on the students' attitude towards Physical Education classes and in the overall score.

Pupils who do not engage in physical activities in their free time or engage in them recreationally have more positive attitudes towards Physical Education lessons, on the contrary, pupils who engage in a certain sport competitively have a negative attitude towards Physical Education lessons. We believe that competitive athletes are not linked to school Physical Education, because they are used to the load from sports training, which is somewhat different from Physical Education. In addition, it is likely that children are not willing to engage in any sport other than their own.

Another variable that statistically significantly affects the attitude of students to Physical Education classes is their health status. Post hoc analysis showed that adolescents who fall into the category of often ill have a more positive attitude towards Physical Education than adolescents who fall into the category of healthy. This finding contradicts the research of Zeng (2016), according to which Chinese students consider Physical Education as an important part of a healthy lifestyle. The same can be said for primary school pupils in Ireland. Wang's study (2019) contains similar results, adding to them the finding that boys have a more positive attitude towards PE than girls.

CONCLUSION

The aim of the study was to evaluate the relationship of pupils to school Physical Education and to find the variables that influence this relationship. This statement is confirmed by Antala's research (2012), in which he concludes that primary school pupils have a negative attitude towards Physical Education. Pupils who are not focused on performance perceive Physical Education more positively than pupils focused on performance. The teacher has several tools at his disposal to improve pupils' relationship with physical education. Our recommendation is to prepare a variety of hours with attractive content. It was at the time of the COVID-19 pandemic that many teachers prepared colorful activities with different content for children. The aim of these activities was to provide children with physical activity despite the inconvenient situation in society.

REFERENCES

Adamcak, S., Bartik, P., & Michal, J. (2020). Comparison of Primary School Pupils' and Secondary School Students' Opinions on Physical Education Classes in Slovakia. *European Journal of Contemporary Education*, 9 (2), 258–270. doi:10.13187/ejced.2020.2.258

Antala, B. & al. (2012). *Telesná a športová výchova v názoroch žiakov základných a stredných škôl*. Bratislava: END, spol. s r.o, Topoľčianky.

Bernstein, E., Philips, S., R & Silverman, S. (2011). Attitudes and Perceptions of Middle School Students Toward Competitive Activities in Physical Education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 30(1). https://doi. org/10.1123/jtpe.30.1.69

Cihlář, D. (2017). Hodnocení žáků 2. stupně základních škol v Ústeckém kraji a jejich postoj ke školní tělesné výchově. Praha. Dissertation FTVS UK.

Coulter, M., Mcgraine, B., & Woods, K. (2020). PE should be an integral part of each school day: Parents' and their children's attitudes towards primary physical education. *Education* 3-13, 48(4). https://doi.org/10.1080/030042 79.2019.1614644

Cruz, A. (2021). Post-primary School Students 'Attitudes Toward Physical Education and Physical Activity Preferences: Philippines' K-12 Program. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00598-2

Fialová, L. (2010). Aktuální témata didaktiky: školní tělesná výchova. Praha: Karolinum.

Gosset, M., & Silverman, S. (2019). Upper Elementary School Students' Attitudes Toward Physical Education in Skill-Themes and Multiactivity Approaches. *The Physical Educator*, 76. https://doi.org/10.18666/TPE-2018-V75-I2-7786

Gurková, E. (2011). Hodnocení kvality života: pro klinickou praxi a ošetřovatelský výzkum. Praha: Grada.

Habrdlová, M. (2019). Tělesná výchova ve vybraných kurikulárních dokumentech Norska a České republiky – srovnávací studie. Česká *kinantropologie*, 23 (3-4), 7–17.

Jeřábek, J., & Tupý, J. (2007). Rámcový vzdělávací program pro základní vzdělávání. Praha: VÚP.

Lupač, M. (2018). Analysis of the Swedish PE curricula: A comparison with the Czech curricula documents. *Tělesná kultura*, 41 (1), 25–41. doi:10.5507/tk.2018.003

Macek, P. (2003). Adolescence. Praha: Portál.

Maciulevičiene, E. (2016). 10–11 Classes students and Physical Education teachers subjective opinions about their Physical Education lessons modernity. *Human. Sport. Medicine*, 16 (2), 67–70. doi:10.14529/hsm160207

Malina, R., Bouchard, M., & Bar-Or, O. (2004). *Growth, maturation, and physical activity*. Champaign: Human Kinetics.

Pereira, P., Santos F., & Marinho, D. (2020). Examining Portuguese High School Students' Attitudes Toward Physical Education. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.604556

Sigmundová, D., & Sigmund, E. (2012). The statistical and practical significance and "effect size" coefficients for the evaluation of physical activity. *Tělesná kultura*, 35(1). https://doi.org/10.5507/tk.2012.004

Sigmund, E., Frömel, K., Chmelík, F., Lokvencová, P. & Groffik, D. (2009). Oblíbený obsah vyucovacích jednotek telesné výchovy – pozitivně hodnocený prostředek vyššího tělesného zatížení děvčat. *Tělesná kultura*, 32 (2), 45–63.

Skutil, M. (2011). Základy pedagogicko-psychologického výzkumu pro studenty učitelství. Praha: Portál.

The European Health report: WHO regional publications. (2002). Denmark. Retrieved from https://www.euro. who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/98296/E76907.pdf

Vlček, P., & Mužík, V. (2012). Soulad mezi projektovaným a realizovaným kurikulem jako faktor kvality vzdělávání v tělesné výchově. Česká *kinantropologie*, 16 (1), 31–45.

Wang, Y. (2019). Attitudes Toward Physical Education and Physical Activities: A Comparison Study of Chinese and American High School Students. *In Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Education Reform and Social Sciences* (ERSS 2019). Paris, France: Atlantis Press. https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.191206.023

Zeng, H., Wang, Z., & Wang, X. (2016). A Study of Chinese Collegiate Attitudes toward Physical Education. *International Research in Higher Education*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.5430/irhe.v1n2p1

Zoglowek, H. (2012). Physical education in Norway. Journal of physical education and health, 1(2), 17–25.

Contact Information:

tomas.polivka@ujep.cz +420 728 336 163

Examination of Resilience and Self-esteem Levels of Parents of Children with Disability

Yasin Unvanli¹, Ekrem Levent Ilhan², Hana Válková³

¹Sivas Police Vocational School, Turkish National Police Academy, Sivas, Türkiye ²Faculty of Sport Science, Gazi University, Ankara, Türkiye ³Faculty of Sport Science, Masaryk University, Brno, Czechia

ABSTRACT

In society's foundational structure, families play a crucial role in overall happiness. Parental influence on child health is pivotal. While health challenges bring social, economic, and psychological burdens, resilience emerges as key. Resilience engages with self-esteem, benefiting parental well-being and care for special needs children, offering a positive environment for both. This study aims to explore the relationship between psychological resilience and self-esteem levels of parents of children with special needs, suggesting a positive link between elevated psychological resilience and self-esteem in parents. The study employed a relational scale strategy to investigate psychological resilience and self-esteem among parents of children with special needs. The sample comprised 156 parents of children with mild to moderate intellectual disabilities in Ankara, Turkey. Measures included the "Short Psychological Resilience Scale (SPRS)" and the "Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSS)." Data analysis encompassed descriptive statistics, t-tests, one-way ANOVA, Pearson's correlation, and Multiple Linear Regression analysis (p<.05). In the study's results, the data demonstrated normal distribution. Employed parents demonstrated higher SPRS and RSS scores compared to unemployed parents. While parents with children engaged in sports displayed higher scores, the difference wasn't statistically significant (p>.05). Parents' education level played a significant role; bachelor's degree holders had notably higher scores. Positive correlation was observed between SPRS and RSS scores (r=.411). Regression analysis confirmed a robust predictive relationship (R2=.169) between self-esteem and resilience. Raising special needs children requires elevated self-esteem and resilience due to multifaceted caregiving responsibilities. Traumatic experiences may impact self-esteem and resilience, prompting the need for a positive outlook for parental caregiving.

Keywords: Resilience; self-esteem; special education; disability; parenting

INTRODUCTION

The family, being one of the fundamental building blocks of society, plays a pivotal role in the overall happiness of society. Amidst various factors contributing to people's happiness, physical and mental well-being take precedence. Ensuring the health of individuals extends to their family members, relatives, and even their children, underlining its significance.

Parents play a predominant role in ensuring their child's health within the family (Callahan, et al., 1980; Ilhan, 2009). While the ideal scenario for parents is to witness their child being born and growing up in good health, the opposite situation can bring about numerous social and economic challenges, as highlighted by Callahan et al. (1980) and Isikhan (2005). Moreover, when a child faces health issues, parents grapple with the task of sustaining their child's life, which poses not only social and economic struggles but also physical challenges (Akozlu & Ekim, 2020). Additionally, these circumstances give rise to psychological burdens, emphasizing the significance of psychological resilience. This resilience becomes crucial in alleviating the hardships experienced by both parents and children with special needs (Damiani, 1999; Isikhan, 2005).

Various definitions of the concept of psychological resilience can be found in the literature. According to Holahan and Moos (1985), it involves the process of adapting to life in the face of both physiological and psychological challenges. In simpler terms, it is characterized as a personality trait that enhances individuals' ability to maintain a positive outlook when confronted with stressful life circumstances (Cencirulo, 2001; Luthar, Cichetti & Becker, 2000) and empowers them to effectively cope with stressors (Atkinson, et al., 1999; Bartone, et al., 2008).

Psychological resilience refers to an individual's ability to adapt, cope, and bounce back from adverse situations, challenges, and stressors, demonstrating emotional strength and maintaining well-being despite facing difficulties. It involves the capacity to recover from setbacks and maintain a stable psychological state. Resilience is not about avoiding stress or experiencing no negative emotions, but rather about effectively managing and recovering from them (Rutter, 2012). Self-esteem, on the other hand, refers to an individual's overall evaluation of their own worth, value, and competence. It involves beliefs and attitudes about oneself, encompassing aspects such as self-confidence, self-acceptance, and self-respect (Baumeister, Campbell, Krueger, & Vohs, 2003).

The relationship between psychological resilience and self-esteem is complex and interconnected. While they are distinct concepts, they often influence each other. Research (Baumeister et al., 2003) suggests that individuals with higher self-esteem tend to exhibit greater psychological resilience. When a person possesses a positive view of themselves, they might approach challenges with a sense of confidence and belief in their ability to overcome difficulties (Luthar & Cicchetti, 2000). This self-assuredness can contribute to their ability to adapt and bounce back from setbacks. On the other hand, having strong psychological resilience can also contribute to the development of healthy self-esteem. Individuals who are adept at managing stressors and setbacks are more likely to view themselves as capable and worthy, thus enhancing their self-esteem.

The robust levels of psychological resilience and self-esteem among parents play a pivotal role in protecting not only their personal well-being but also in care for their children with special needs. This stirred concept encompasses multifaceted risk factors that can destabilize mental equilibrium and protective factors that uphold stability (Baldwin, Baldwin, & Cole, 1990). Research by Masten (1994) demonstrates that low self-esteem aligns with risk factors, whereas high selfesteem is intertwined with protective factors, as observed in the studies by Masten and Coatsworth (1998). Consequently, an individual's self-esteem profoundly shapes their psychological resilience, a trait exemplified in the "I" statements they use to define themselves (Oner, 2019). The positivity or negativity of these self-perceptions intricately affects self-esteem, thus underscoring the critical nature of elevated self-esteem and psychological resilience in parents. This significance transcends their own well-being, extending its impact to the compassionate care they provide for their children with special needs, fostering an environment conducive to positive outcomes for both parties.

This study hypothesizes that among parents of children with special needs, higher levels of psychological resilience and self-esteem will be positively associated with favorable independent variables, including employment status, higher perceived income level, higher education level, and active sports participation status of their children. The study expects to find a significant relationship between these independent variables and the dependent variables, indicating that parents' personal characteristics and their children's engagement in sports contribute to enhanced psychological resilience and self-esteem. When parents see their disabled children engage in sports and achieve milestones, they, possible, might experience a sense of accomplishment. Witnessing their children overcome challenges and make progress can boost parents' self-esteem and resilience.

METHOD

Study Model

In this study, which investigates the levels of resilience and self-esteem among parents of children with special needs, the relational scale strategy, a descriptive method aiming to establish relationships between two or more variables, was employed (Karasar, 2020, pp. 48).

To gather data, the researcher reached out to 10 special education and rehabilitation centers located in Ankara, Turkey, during 2021. When parents came to pick up their children with intellectual disabilities, the researcher approached them and invited them to voluntarily participate in the study. The parents took part in the study in person, and the process of filling out the scales took approximately 10 minutes.

Ethical Procedure

Permission was obtained from Gazi University Ethics Committee (05.04.2021/08) to conduct the study. Parents ethical consensus were provided.

Participants

The research sample for this study consists of parents of children with mild to moderate intellectual disabilities in Ankara, Turkey. A total of 156 parents participated in the study, including 132 mothers and 24 fathers. The parents' ages ranged from 22 to 57 years old, while their children with intellectual disabilities were primarily aged between 3 and 32 years. The research was conducted during the global Covid-19 pandemic in 2021, leading to a restriction on the number of participants. Only one parent from each family was allowed to participate in the study.

were categorized based on their educational level, economic status, employment status, and their disabled children's involvement in sports (Table 1).

Instruments

The researchers employed the "Personal Information Form" to collect demographic information from the participants. This included details such as their parental status, employment status, perceived income level, parents' education level, and the involvement of parents' children with special needs in sports.

To assess the participants' levels of psychological resilience, the "Short Psychological Resilience Scale (SPRS)" was employed. The scale was originally developed by Smith et al. (2008) and adapted into Turkish by Dogan (2015). It consists of a single sub-dimension and comprises a total of 6 items, following a 5-point Likert scale. Reverse coding was applied to the 2nd, 4th, and 6th items within the scale to ensure response consistency. The scale's potential scores range from 6 (minimum) to 30 (maximum). The Cronbach's alpha (α) value was .82.

To measure the participants' self-esteem levels, the "Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSS)" was employed, which was introduced by Rosenberg in 1963. Turkish reliability and validity studies were carried out by Cuhadaroglu (1986), as reported in Tukus (2010). The scale consists of 10 items and follows a 4-point Likert scale. Reverse coding was applied to the 6th, 7th, 8th, 9th, and 10th items within the scale to ensure response consistency. The scale's potential scores range from 10 (minimum) to 40 (maximum). The Cronbach's alpha (α) value was .83.

Analysis and Interpretation of the Data

Statistical analysis of the data extracted from the inventories was conducted using Microsoft Excel and the SPSS 22.0 computer program. For the statistical analysis of the collected data, descriptive statistics including measures such as maximum, minimum, median, mean, and standard deviation were employed. Additionally, the Skewness and Kurtosis values were utilized to assess the normal distribution of the data. The Skewness and Kurtosis values for the RSS were observed to fall between -0.37 and -0.18, while for the SPRS, they ranged between -0.22 and 0.08. These values indicate that the data adhere to a normal distribution, as outlined by Tabachnick and Fidell (2013). In order to compare paired groups of variables, the t-test was employed. Furthermore, for comparisons involving three or more groups, one-way ANOVA was used to evaluate whether a statistically significant difference exists among the group means. Post-Hoc Tukey tests were then utilized to discern specific differences among sub-groups. In addition, Pearson's Product-Moment Correlation analysis was employed to ascertain the associations between resilience, self-esteem, and age of disabled children, while Multiple Linear Regression analysis was utilized to assess the predictive capacity of the independent variable (self-esteem) on the dependent variable (Psychological Resilience). The significance value for each conducted test was established at p<.05.

RESULTS

Variable	Variable Groups		%	SPRS x ⁻ ±sd	RSS x ⁻ ±sd
Doronto	Mother	132	84.6	19.33±4.05	30.74±5.30
	Father	24	15.4	21.54±4.23	32.41±4.19
*E	Employee	51	32.7	21.23±4.44	32.45±5.33
-Employment Status	Unemployed	105	67.3	18.91±3.78	30.29±4.97
	Low	37	23.7	18.94±4.11	30.48±5.60
Perceived Income Level	Medium	112	71.8	19.70±4.10	31.05±5.02
	High	7	4.5	23.00±3.82	32.85±5.58
	Secondary school	47	30.1	19.19±4.00	30.65±5.13
**Level of Education	High School	51	32.7	18.78±3.29	30.09±5.09
- Level of Education	Two-year Degree	18	11.5	19.83±4.40	29.72±5.99
	Bachelor's	40	25.6	21.30±4.79	33.12±4.44
Sports Participation	Yes	59	37.8	20.33±3.76	31.30±5.62
Status of Parents'	N	07	(2.2	10.2(+4.22	20.01+4.00
Children with Disabilities	INO	97	62.2	19.26±4.32	30.81±4.90

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of participants

f: frequency, SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, sd: Standard deviation, *Currently employment status of the parents, **Parents' education level.

In table 1, it can be observed that 32.7% of the parents participating in the research are employed, while 67.3% are unemployed. Among the parents, 32.7% have a high school education, 30.1% have completed secondary school, 25.6% have a bachelor's degree, and 11.5% have a two-year degree. In terms of recreational activities, 37.8% of parents with special children participate for at least 5 hours a week, while 62.2% do not.

Table 2. SPRS and RSS scores of participants

	SPRS Scores*	RSS Scores**
Minimum	7	16
Maximum	30	40
Median	20	35
Mean	19.67	36
Standard deviation	4.14	5.17

*Short Psychological Resilience Scale,

**Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale

The scores of parents of children with special needs who participated in the study ranged from 7 to 30 on the SPRS, with an average score of 19.67 ± 4.14 . The scores obtained by parents of children with special needs who participated in the study on the RSS ranged from 16 to 40, and the average score was found to be 36 ± 5.17 .

Scales	Groups	n	Mean	sd	t	p *
CDDC	Employee	51	32.45	5.33	2 401	0.01.4*
SPRS -	Unemployed	105	30.29	4.97	- 2.481	0.014*
DCC	Employee	51	21.23	4.44	2 200	0.001*
RSS -	Unemployed	105	18.91	3.78	- 3.389	0.001*

Table 3. Comparison of SPRS and RSS total scores in relation to parents' employment status

*p<0,05, SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, n: Sample size, sd: Standard deviation, t: t-value, p: Reliability co-efficient.

When the t-test was conducted based on the parents' employment status variable, as presented in Table 3, it was determined that working parents (n=51) scored higher than non-working parents (n=105) in terms of the total scores obtained from SPRS and RSS. This difference is statistically significant.

 Table 4. Comparison of SPRS and RSS total scores in relation to children's sports participation status as perceived by parents

Scales	Children's Participation in Sport	n	Mean	sd	t	р
SPRS	Yes	59	31.30	5.62	0 572	0 5 6 9
	No	97	30.81 4.90		0.575	0.508
RSS	Yes	59	20.33	3.76	1.570	0.110
	No	97	19.26	4.32	1.5/2	0.118

SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, n: Sample size, sd: Standard deviation, t: t-value, p: Reliability co-efficient.

Based on the variable of participation in sports as presented in table 4, a t-test was conducted to analyze the total scores of children with special needs obtained from SPRS and RSS. The results indicated that the total scores of parents (n=59) whose children with special needs engage in sports were higher than those whose children do not participate in sports (n=97), although this difference was not statistically significant.

Table 5. Comparison of SPRS and RSS total scores according to parents' education levels

Scales	Groups	n	Variance Source	Ss	df	Mean Square	F	р
	Secondary school	47	Intergroup	256.951	3	85.650		
Highs	High school	51						
SPRS	Two-year degree	18	Intragroup	3895.049	152	25.625	3.342	0.021*
	Bachelor's	40						
	Secondary school	47	Intergroup	157 523	2	52 508		
RSS	High school	51		137.323	5	32.308		
	Two-vear degree	18					3.184	0.026*
	Bachelor's	40	Intragroup	2506.804	152	16.492		

SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, n: Sample size, Ss: Sum of squares, df: Degrees of freedom, F: F-test value, p: Reliability co-efficient.

The total scores obtained from SPRS and RSS, categorized by the parents' education level as presented in table 5, were analyzed using the One-way ANOVA test. The results revealed a significant difference between the groups. To identify the specific groups where the difference existed, the post-hoc Tukey test was employed, as indicated in table 6.

Scales	Groups	Mean	Mean Difference	Standard Error	p*
CDDC	High School	30.09	2515	0.957	0.02*
Bachelor's	33.12	-2.515	0.857	0.02	
DCC	High School	18.78	2.026	1.0/0	0.027*
К33	Bachelor's	21.30	-3.026	1.009	0.027

 Table 6. Comparison of SPRS and RSS total scores according to parents' education levels

*p<0,05, SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, p: Reliability co-efficient.

Table 6 displays the results of the post-hoc Tukey test, which was utilized to investigate the groups exhibiting differences in the total scores obtained from SPRS and RSS based on the educational status of parents with children with special needs. The analysis revealed that the difference in total scores obtained from SPRS and RSS between the secondary education group (n=51) and the bachelor's degree group (n=40) favored parents with bachelor's degrees (p<0.05).

Scales	Groups	Variance Source	Ss	df	Mean Square	F	р
Low		Intergroup	97.158	2	48.579		
SPRS	Medium High	Intragroup	2567.169	153	16.779	2.895	0.058
Dee	Low	Intergroup	34.221	2	17.111	0.404	0 501
RSS	Medium High	Intragroup	4117.779	152	26.914	- 0.636	0.531

Table 7. Comparison of SPRS and RSS total scores according to parents' income levels

SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, Ss: Sum of squares, df: Degrees of freedom, F: F-test value, p: Reliability co-efficient.

Upon analyzing the total scores obtained from SPRS and RSS based on the income level variable of parents, as presented in table 7, the One-way ANOVA test was conducted. However, no significant difference was observed between the groups.

		SPRS	RSS	Children's age
	r	1	.411	.036
SPRS	р		.000*	.654
	n	156	.156	156
	r	.411	1	.003
RSS	р	.000*		.965
	n	.156	.156	.156
	r	.036	.003	1
Children's age	р	.654	.965	
	n	156	.156	156

Table 8. Pearson correlation analysis

*p>0,001, r: Correlation, n: Sample size, SPRS: Short Psychological Resilience Scale, RSS: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale

Table 8 displays the correlation analysis between the scores obtained from SPRS and RSS of parents with children with special needs who participated in the study. The correlation analysis revealed a moderately positive correlation between the scores obtained from both scales by the participants. However, it has been found that the age of disabled children is not correlated with psychological resilience and self-esteem.

Table 9. Investigation of the Prediction Power of Self-Esteem Levels of Parents with Children with

 Intellectual Disability in Psychological Resilience

Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Beta	t	р	F	Model (p)	R ²
Psychological Resilience	Stable	9.474	5.122	.000	_ 31.247	.000*	.169
	Self-esteem	.329	5.590	.000			

*p<0.001, t: t-value, F: F-test value, p: Reliability coefficient. R²: Coefficient of determination.

Table 9 presents the results of the regression analysis conducted to ascertain the causal relationship between the psychological resilience and self-esteem levels of parents with children with special needs. The analysis revealed a statistically significant relationship (F=31.247; p<0.001). Additionally, it was observed that the predictive power of self-esteem on resilience is robust (R2=0.169). This implies that each unit increase in self-esteem is associated with a 0.329-unit change in resilience.

DISCUSSION

The correlation analysis yielded a positive association between the psychological resilience and self-esteem levels among parents of children with special needs. Therefore, the findings of this study align with existing literature (Hayter & Dorstyn, 2014; Karaman, 2018; Liu, et al., 2014; Marti, 2016).

The study revealed that the psychological resilience and self-esteem levels of working parents with special needs children were notably higher than those of non-working parents, and this difference exhibited statistical significance. The elevated levels of psychological resilience and self-esteem among working parents with special needs children can be attributed to the fact that their children are engaged in activities outside the home environment, even if only briefly, which can provide a respite from the demanding emotional and physical caregiving responsibilities. In this regard, it's worth noting that certain studies in the literature present opposing findings to the current research. In investigations conducted by Bildirici (2014) and Celebi (2021), it was deduced that the employment status of participants did not exert an influence on their levels of psychological resilience. These discrepancies emphasize the complexity of these relationships and signal the necessity for an exhaustive understanding of the multifaceted dynamics at play in the lives of parents navigating the realm of special needs caregiving.

The study's analysis of the income level variable revealed that there were no noteworthy differences in the overall scores of participants categorized by low-, middle-, and high-income levels concerning psychological resilience and self-esteem (p>0.05) within the context of parents with special needs children. Consequently, the research concluded that the income level of these parents did not exert a significant influence on their psychological resilience and self-esteem. This conclusion is substantiated by similar research conducted by Sayilan et al. (2020) and Yazicioglu & Uluagli (2020), which found no correlation between participants' income levels and self-esteem, as well as by Kimter's (2020) study, which also indicated that income level did not impact psychological resilience. However, it is worth noting that contrasting results exist in the literature, as studies like those by Bildirici (2014), Yilmaz, Esenturk, Ulas & Ilhan (2017), Yagmur & Turkmen (2017), Gunes (2020), and Kurt & Arslan (2020) identified significant discrepancies concerning income level's association with self-esteem and psychological resilience.

In relation to the education level variable, an investigation was carried out to determine whether the total scores of participants with primary, secondary, associate, undergraduate, and graduate education differed significantly in terms of SPRS and RSS. The analysis revealed that parents with bachelor's degrees had higher total scores (SPRS=21.30, RSS=33.12) compared to parents with a high school degree (SPRS=18.78, RSS=30.09), and this disparity was statistically significant. This outcome finds support in existing literature (Li, et al., 2014; Marti, 2016). In the study conducted by Kurt & Arslan (2020), it was observed that participants with higher education levels exhibited higher total psychological resilience scores than those with secondary and high school education levels, and this distinction was statistically significant. Yagmur & Turkmen (2017) discovered that individuals who received education beyond high school demonstrated higher levels of psychological resilience compared to those who halted their education after high school, and this variance was statistically significant. In Bildirici's study (2014), a significant difference in psychological resilience was noted concerning education levels. The heightened ability for accurate self-reflection and coping with stressful situations due to higher education levels may be factors contributing to the elevated levels of psychological resilience and self-esteem. Notably, studies by Karal & Bicer (2020), Kimter (2020), and Celebi (2021) established that the education level of participants did not influence their psychological resilience.

The total scores derived from the SPRS and RSS for parents whose children with special needs engage in sports are greater than those for parents whose children with special needs do not participate in sports. Nevertheless, this disparity lacks statistical significance. In the available literature, we could not identify any research that either supports or contradicts this finding. According to Ilhan (2010a), parents of children with special needs reported that their children's engagement in sports activities could potentially offer psychological solace to the parents. Conversely, parents whose children with special needs partake in sports might have elevated their levels of psychological resilience and self-esteem, given that their children's enjoyment and mental relaxation through sports participation could positively impact them. Parents often play a crucial role in supporting their children's sports participation. Seeing their children succeed and enjoy sports fosters a sense of shared success and achievement, leading to positive emotions and increased self-esteem. The involvement of disabled children in sports can empower parents as caregiving responsibilities and promotes relaxation.

they witness their children develop new skills and abilities. This empowerment extends to parents' belief in their own ability to handle challenges, enhancing their psychological resilience. Sports involvement can facilitate positive interactions between parents and their disabled children. These moments of connection and shared experiences contribute to emotional well-being, fostering resilience in parents. The joy and excitement of watching their children participate in sports can

Upon conducting a simple linear regression analysis to ascertain the extent to which parents' self-esteem levels predict resilience in parents of special needs children, it was revealed that indeed, parents' self-esteem levels are predictive of resilience. In other words, as parents of children with special needs experience an increase in their self-esteem levels, their psychological resilience also sees an uptick. This pattern aligns with similar findings from studies by Veselska et al. (2009) with adolescents and Sanci & Ucar (2021) with women in the textile sector. Karairmak & Cetinkaya (2011) investigated the effects of self-esteem and locus of control on psychological resilience in individuals who had experienced the Marmara earthquake in Turkey on August 17, 1999, known for its significant traumatic impact. Their research also mirrored our current study's results, indicating that higher self-esteem scores corresponded to higher psychological resilience levels. In parallel, Arslan (2015) likewise discovered a predictive link between self-esteem and psychological resilience. However, it's worth noting that there are also studies in the literature that have yielded opposing conclusions. For instance, Bompus (2014) examined the racial identity, psychological resilience, and self-esteem of participants, focusing on adopted Afro-American individuals. This research revealed a negative predictive relationship between self-esteem and psychological resilience.

serve as a stress-relieving outlet for parents. Engaging in these activities provides a break from

During the data collection process, a parent of a child with special needs was observed making the following statement: "The parent, upon reading some of the items in the psychological resilience scale, began to answer the questions while vocalizing their thoughts. Upon completing the scales, they remarked, 'Naturally, I must maintain good psychological well-being in order to fulfill my child's needs. If it weren't for me, no one else would attend to my disabled child's requirements.' Based on the outcomes of the present study and this illustrative situation, it becomes evident that raising children with special needs necessitates parents to uphold elevated levels of self-esteem and psychological resilience, alongside sustaining their motivation. This is crucial, given that parents attend to every facet of their children's requirements, ranging from nourishment and healthcare to education and social interaction. By effectively managing these variables, parents can tend to their own needs in parallel with those of their children with special needs."

Considering the outcomes of these studies, it becomes evident that the self-esteem and psychological resilience of individuals who have undergone traumatic experiences could be impacted by such events, potentially diminishing their overall quality of life. The inherent drive within the human organism to maintain a state of psychological and physiological equilibrium compels us to seek solutions for returning to a sense of normalcy, irrespective of the consequences associated with the events encountered. Especially following impactful events that we have been exposed to, it remains imperative to uphold a positive outlook, both for our own well-being and for effectively fulfilling our responsibilities toward those in our vicinity. In this regard, the reality that parents of children with intellectual disabilities assume the majority of caregiving duties necessitates the cultivation of psychological resilience.

CONCLUSION

This study involved parents of children with mild to moderate intellectual disabilities. By encompassing a diverse group of parents who care for individuals with varying degrees of physical, mental, and emotional differences, it becomes possible to ascertain the underlying motivations that drive parents in tending to their children with special needs. Furthermore, this approach allows for an exploration of the connections between their psychological resilience, self-esteem levels, and caregiving responsibilities.

The percentage of parents (n=97) whose children did not participate in sports in the current study is 62.2%. The significance of involving individuals with special needs in sports has been underscored in numerous studies (Darcy, Lock & Taylor, 2017; Kiuppis, 2016; Koparan, 2003; Ilhan, 2010b). Initiatives to promote the engagement of children with special needs in sports should be encouraged within special education and rehabilitation centers, as well as special education schools. The endeavor of children with special needs to enhance their communication with their parents through sports (Yarimkaya, Esenturk & Ilhan, 2020) and their determination to embrace life and adapt to society despite their unique circumstances can contribute to parents' increased selflessness and motivation in providing care for their children. It is crucial to investigate the factors that hinder the participation of children with special needs in sports and, if identified, take steps to eliminate these barriers. Efforts should be made to facilitate and maximize the involvement of children with special needs in sports activities.

The extensive responsibility that parents bear for the care of their children with special needs can lead to their limited participation in social and educational activities. To address this issue, providing substantial support from relevant institutions can enable parents to allocate time for personal growth through social and educational endeavors. Organizing training sessions for parents of individuals with special needs holds significance in helping them cope with these challenges psychologically and become more effective caregivers. Collaborative efforts between responsible organizations, including municipal initiatives, social institutions, universities, and government, can facilitate the implementation of such activities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This article was presented as an oral presentation at the Sports for All Congress held on May 21–23, 2021, Gazi University, in Ankara, Turkiye. This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

REFERENCES

Akozlu, Z., & Ekim, A. (2020). Examination of Postgraduate Nursing Thesis Profiles with Families with Disabled Children: Systematic Review, *Journal of Medical Clinics*, *3*(2), 83-96.

Arslan, G. (2015). Resilience in Adolescents: The Role of Individual Protective Factors. *Turkish Psychological Counseling and Guidance Journal*, 5(44), 73-82.

Atkinson, R.L., Atkinson, R.C., Smith, E.E., Bem, D.J., & Nolen-Heoksema, S. (2008). *Introduction of Psychology* (12th ed). (Y. Alogan, Trans.). Istanbul: Arkadas.

Baldwin, A.L., Baldwin, C., & Cole, R.E. (1990). Stress-resistant families and stress-resistant children. In J. Rolf,

A. S. Masten, D. Cicchetti, K. H. Nuechterlein, & S. Weintraum (Eds.), Risk and protective factors in the development of psychopathology (pp. 257-280). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Bartone, P.T., Roland, R. R., Picano, J. J. & Williams, T. J. (2008). Psychological Hardiness Predicts Success in US Army Special Forces Candidates. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 16(1), 78-81.

Baumeister, R. F., Campbell, J. D., Krueger, J. I., & Vohs, K. D. (2003). Does high self-esteem cause better performance, interpersonal success, happiness, or healthier lifestyles? *Psychological Science in the Public Interest,* 4(1), 1-44.

Bildirici, F. (2014). *Relationship between Family Burden and Resilience of Families of Children with Special Education Needs*. Master's Thesis, Halic University, Psychology Department. Istanbul.

Bompus, J.A. (2014). *Transracial Adoption: Racial Identity, Resilience, and Self-esteem of African American Adoptees*. Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Psychology in the Department of Clinical Psychology at Antioch University New England.

Callahan, J.J., Diamond, L.D., Giele, J.Z., & Morris, R. (1980). Responsibility of Families for Their Severely Disabled Elders. *Health Care Financ Rev., Winter*; 1(3), 29–48.

Cencirulo, R.S. (2001) *The relationship between hardiness and job satisfaction in elementary school teachers* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of La Sierra, CA. Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global database (3012888).

Celebi, G.Y. (2021) Analysis of the Relationship Between Women's Personality Traits and Psychological Resilience Levels. *Mavi Atlas*, 9(1), 132-146.

Damiani, V.B. (1999). Responsibility and Adjustment in Siblings of Children with Disabilities: Update and Review. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Human Services*, 80(1), 34-40.

Darcy, S., Lock, D., & Taylor, T. (2017). Enabling Inclusive Sport Participation: Effects of Disability and Support Needs on Constraints to Sport Participation. *Leisure Sciences, (39)*1, 20-41. DOI: 10.1080/01490400.2016.1151842

Dogan, T. (2015). Adaptation of the Brief Resilience Scale into Turkish: A validity and reliability study. *The Journal of Happiness & Well-Being*, 3(1), 93-102.

Gunes, E.N.S., & Akbaba, A. (2020). Examining the Relationship between Conflict Management Styles and Self-Esteem of Primary and Secondary School Administrators. *MANAS Journal of Social Studies*, 9(3), 1410-1425.

Hayter, M.R., & Dorstyn, D.S. (2014). Resilience, Self-esteem and Self-compassion in Adults with Spina Bifida. *Spinal Cord*, *52*, 167-171.

Holahan, C.J., & Moos, R.H. (1985). Life Stress and Health: Personality, Coping, and Family Support in Stress Resistance, *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. 49(3), 739-747.

Isikhan, V. (2005). Psycho-Social and Socio-Economic Problems of the Mothers with Mentally Retarded Children, *Society and Social Service*, 18(2), 35-52.

Ilhan, E.L. (2009). Evaluating The Conscious Levels of Parents on The Effects of Physical Education and Sport Activities on Their Handicapped Children During Special Education. *Nigde University Physical Education and Sport Sciences Journal*, *3*(1), 38-48

Ilhan, E.L. (2010a). The Effect of the Participation of Educable Mentally Retarded Children in the Special Physical Education Classes upon the Anxiety Levels of the Parents of the Children. *Science, Movement and Health, 10*(2), 304-309.

Ilhan, E.L. (2010b). The Culture of Sedentary Lives and Its Results. Journal of Productivity, 3, 195-210.

Karairmak, O., & Cetinkaya, R.S. (2011). The effects of self-esteem and locus of control on resilience: the mediating role of affects. *Turkish Psychological Counseling and Guidance Journal*, 4(35), 30-43.

Karal, E., & Bicer, B.G. (2020). Examining the Effect of Perceived Social Support on the Psychological Well-Being of Individuals during the Epidemic Period. *Individual and Society Journal of Social Science*, 10(1), 129-156. Karaman, E. (2018). Evaluation of the resilience of the parents who have children with special needs from the perspective of perceived social support and self-esteem. Master's Thesis, Necmettin Erbakan University, Education Science Institute, Special Education Department. Konya.

Karasar, N. (2009). Scientific Research Method Concepts Principles Techniques. Ankara: Nobel.

Kimter, N. (2020). Examining the Psychological Resilience Levels of Individuals in the Days of Covid-19 in Terms of Some Variables. *IBAD Journal of Social Sciences*, 574-605.

Kiuppis, F. (2016). Inclusion in Sport: Disability and Participation. *Sport in Society*, 21(1), 4-21. DOI: 10.1080/17430437.2016.1225882

Koparan, S. (2003). Sports for Children with Special Needs. *Journal of Uludag University Faculty of Education*, 17(1), 153-160.

Kurt, S.H., & Arslan. D. (2020). Investigation of Self-Efficacy, Psychological Resilience and Parental Attitudes of Preschool Children. *KADEM Journal of Women's Studies*, 6(2), 211-240.

Liu, Y., Wang, Z., Zhou, C., & Li, T. (2014). Affect and Self-esteem as Mediators between Trait Resilience and Psychological Adjustment. *Personality and Individual Differences, 66*, 92-97.

Luthar, S. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2000). The construct of resilience: Implications for interventions and social policies. *Development and Psychopathology*, *12*(4), 857-885.

Luthar, S.S., Cichetti, D., & Becker, B. (2000). The Construct of Resilience: A Critical Evaluation and Guidelines for Future Work. *Child Dev*, *71*, 543-562.

Martínez-Martí, M. L., & Ruch, W. (2016). Character Strengths Predict Resilience Over and above Positive Affect, Self-efficacy, Optimism, Social Support, Self-esteem, and Life Satisfaction. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*. *12*(2), 110-119.

Masten, A.S. (1994). Resilience in Individual Development: Successful Adaptation Despite Risk and Adversity. In M.C. Wang, & E.W. Gordon (Eds.). Educational Resilience in Inner-City America: Challenges and Prospects (3-25).

Masten A.S., & Coatsworth J.D. (1998). The Development of Competence in Favorable and Unfavorable Environments: Lessons from Research on Successful Children. *American Psychologist.* 53(2), 205-220.

Oner, C. (2019). Investigation of Self Esteem and Psychological Resilience of Young Adult Exercise Leaders. *Journal of Sports Education*, 3(2), 121-136.

Rutter, M. (2012). Resilience as a Dynamic Concept. Development and Psychopathology, 24(2), 335-344.

Sanci, V., & Ucar, M. (2021). The Effect of Self-Esteem on Psychological Resistance Levels of Women Working in the Textile Sector. *Journal of Humanities and Tourism Research*, *11*(1), 33-52.

Sayilan, A.A., Ak, E.S., Inan, E., & Kavasoglu, A. (2020). Self-Esteem and Body Image after Cesarean Section. *CBU-SBED: Celal Bayar University-Health Sciences Institute Journal*, 7(1), 18-24.

Smith, B.W., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., Christopher, P., & Bernard, J. (2008). The Brief Resilience Scale: Assessing the Ability to Bounce Back. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *15*, 194–200.

Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2013). Using multivariate statistics (sixth ed.) Boston: Pearson.

Tukus, L. (2010). Turkish Reliability and Validity Study of The Self Esteem Rating Scale Short Form. Master thesis. Kocaeli University, Faculty of Medicine. Kocaeli.

Veselska, Z., Geckova, A.M., Orosova, O., Gajdosova, B., Dijk, J.P.V., & Reijneveld, S.A. (2009). Self-esteem and Resilience: The Connection with Risky Behavior among Adolescents. *Addictive Behaviors*, *34*, 287–291.

Yagmur, T., & Turkmen, S.N. (2017). Perceived Stress and Resilience in Family Members Caring for Patients with Mental Illness. *CBU-SBED: Celal Bayar University-Health Sciences Institute Journal*, 4(1), 542-548.

Yarimkaya, E., Esenturk, O.K., & Ilhan, E.L. (2020). The Effects of Family-Mediated Physical Activities on Communication Skills of a Student with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Pilot Study. *International Journal of Disabilities*

Sports & Health Science, 3(1), 52-65.

Yazicioglu, C., & Uluagli, S. (2020). The Effects of Academicians' Demographic Characteristics on Their Selfesteem. *Management and Political Sciences Review*, 2(2), 159-181.

Yilmaz, A., Esenturk, O.K., Ulas, M., & Ilhan, E.L. (2017). Are the Social Anxieties of the Student-Athletes, the Determinants of Their Self-esteem? *Science, Movement and Health*, *17*(2), 552-558.

Contact Information:

yasinunvanli@gmail.com

Editorial Board

Gheorghe Balint - University of Vasile Alecsandri din Bacau, Romania Josef Dovalil - Charles University in Prague, Czechia Vladimír Hellebrandt - Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Miroslav Holienka - Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Anna Hogenová - Charles University in Prague, Czechia Michael G. Hughes - Cardiff Metropolitan University, Great Britain Ivo Jirásek – Palacký University Olomouc, Czechia Tomáš Kampmiller - Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Damir Knjaz - University of Zagreb, Croatia Marián Merica, - Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Sarah Johanna Moss - North-West University in Potchefstroom, Republic of South Africa Jan Novotný – Masaryk University, Czechia Piotr Oleśniewicz - University School of Physical Education in Wroclaw, Poland Tomáš Perič - Charles University in Prague, Czechia Rado Pišot - University of Primorska in Koper, Slovenia Aleš Sekot, - Masaryk University, Czechia Vladimír Smrčka - Masaryk University, Czechia Hana Válková - Masaryk University, Czechia Ľudmila Zapletalová – Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Arnold Baca - University of Vienna, Austria

Executive Board

Editor in Chief: Ivan Struhár Technical Editor: Katarína Šimková Members: Martin Zvonař Marta Gimunová Oldřich Racek Tomáš Vencúrik Emanuel Hurych, Petr Scholz

Address

Masaryk University Faculty of Sports Studies Kamenice 5, 62500 Brno Czech Republic Tel. +420 549 497 226 e-mail: studiasportiva@fsps.muni.cz

For information on the contributions STUDIA SPORTIVA accepts, please visit our website https://journals.muni.cz/studiasportiva. Published by Faculty of Sports Studies of Masaryk University ISSN 2570-8783 (On-line)

MUNI PRESS